
Alison Stuart
Head of Legal and 

Democratic Services

This agenda has been printed using 100% recycled paper

MEETING : EXECUTIVE
VENUE : COUNCIL CHAMBER, WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD
DATE : TUESDAY 28 NOVEMBER 2017
TIME : 7.00 PM

MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE

CONTACT OFFICER: Martin Ibrahim
Tel: 01279-502173

Email: martin.ibrahim@eastherts.gov.uk

Councillor Linda Haysey - Leader
Councillor Eric Buckmaster - Executive Member for Health and 

Wellbeing
Councillor Gary Jones - Deputy Leader and Executive Member 

for Economic Development
Councillor Graham 
McAndrew

- Executive Member for Environment 
and the Public Space

Councillor Suzanne Rutland-
Barsby

- Executive Member for Development 
Management and Council Support

Councillor Geoffrey 
Williamson

- Executive Member for Finance and 
Support Services

Public Document Pack

mailto:martin.ibrahim@eastherts.gov.uk


DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS

1. A Member, present at a meeting of the Authority, or any committee, 
sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the 
Authority, with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) in any matter to 
be considered or being considered at a meeting:

 must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting;

 must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the 
meeting;

 must disclose the interest to the meeting, whether registered or 
not, subject to the provisions of section 32 of the Localism Act 
2011;

 if the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a 
pending notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 
interest within 28 days;

 must leave the room while any discussion or voting takes place.

2. A DPI is an interest of a Member or their partner (which means 
spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they were 
civil partners) within the descriptions as defined in the Localism Act 
2011.

3. The Authority may grant a Member dispensation, but only in limited 
circumstances, to enable him/her to participate and vote on a matter 
in which they have a DPI.

4. It is a criminal offence to:

 fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting if it 
is not on the register;

 fail to notify the Monitoring Officer, within 28 days, of a DPI that 
is not on the register that a Member disclosed to a meeting;

 participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which a 
Member has a DPI;

 knowingly or recklessly provide information that is false or 
misleading in notifying the Monitoring Officer of a DPI or in 
disclosing such interest to a meeting.



(Note: The criminal penalties available to a court are to impose a 
fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale and 
disqualification from being a councillor for up to 5 years.) 

Audio/Visual Recording of meetings

Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its 
Committees using whatever, non-disruptive, methods you think are 
suitable, which may include social media of any kind, such as tweeting, 
blogging or Facebook.  However, oral reporting or commentary is 
prohibited.  If you have any questions about this please contact 
Democratic Services (members of the press should contact the Press 
Office).  Please note that the Chairman of the meeting has the discretion 
to halt any recording for a number of reasons, including disruption 
caused by the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.  
Anyone filming a meeting should focus only on those actively 
participating and be sensitive to the rights of minors, vulnerable adults 
and those members of the public who have not consented to being 
filmed.  

Public Attendance

East Herts Council welcomes public attendance at its meetings and will 
provide a reasonable number of agendas for viewing at the meeting.  
Please note that there is seating for 27 members of the public and space 
for a further 30 standing in the Council Chamber on a “first come first 
served” basis.  When the Council anticipates a large attendance, an 
additional 30 members of the public can be accommodated in Room 27 
(standing room only), again on a “first come, first served” basis, to view 
the meeting via webcast.  

If you think a meeting you plan to attend could be very busy, you can 
check if the extra space will be available by emailing 
democraticservices@eastherts.gov.uk or calling the Council on 01279 
655261 and asking to speak to Democratic Services.  

mailto:democraticservices@eastherts.gov.uk


AGENDA

1. Apologies 

To receive apologies for absence.

2. Leader's Announcements 

3. Minutes 

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 16 
October 2017 (previously circulated in Agenda for Council meeting of 18 
October 2017)

4. Declarations of Interest 

To receive any Member(s) declaration(s) of interest.

5. Request for Area Designation for Neighbourhood Planning: Hunsdon 
Parish Neighbourhood Plan (Pages 7 - 22)

6. Request for Area Designation for Neighbourhood Planning: Hunsdon with 
Eastwick and Gilston Joint Neighbourhood Plan (Pages 23 - 38)

7. Westmill Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan (Pages 39 - 
98)

8. Financial Sustainability Policy and associated Pilot Projects (Pages 99 - 
116)

9. Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2017-18 (Pages 117 - 142)

10. Corporate Healthcheck 2017/18 Quarter 2 (Pages 143 - 200)

11. Strategic Risk Monitoring Quarter 2 (Pages 201 - 210)

12. Old River Lane, Bishop's Stortford Land Use (Pages 211 - 254)



Note – Essential Reference Papers B – F are enclosed for Members only 
as they contain exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part I of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.  In considering these 
matters, if necessary, the meeting may exclude the press and public as 
detailed at item 13.

13. Exclusion of Press and Public 

If necessary, to move that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
during the discussion of item 12 on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the said Act of the following description:

Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information).

14. Urgent Business 

To consider such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration and is not likely to 
involve the disclosure of exempt information.



This page is intentionally left blank



EAST HERTS COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE – 28 NOVEMBER 2017 

REPORT BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

REQUEST FOR AREA DESIGNATION FOR NEIGHBOURHOOD 
PLANNING: HUNSDON PARISH COUNCIL NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

WARD(S) AFFECTED: HUNSDON 

Purpose/Summary of Report

 To enable the consideration of an application for the designation of 
a Neighbourhood Area

RECOMMENDATION FOR EXECUTIVE:  that:

(A) the application for the designation of a Hunsdon Parish 
Council Neighbourhood Plan, submitted by Hunsdon 
Parish Council, be supported.

1.0 Background 

1.1 Hunsdon Parish Council Neighbourhood Plan submitted an 
application for the designation of a Neighbourhood Area to the 
Council on 10th August 2017.  Agreement to the designation of a 
Neighbourhood Area is required by the District Council as Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) before a Neighbourhood Plan can be 
formulated. 

1.2 The application was made in the form of a letter from Hunsdon 
Parish Council with an attached plan setting the area to which the 
application relates.  The letter and plan form Essential Reference 
Paper ‘B’ to this report.

1.3 Also related to this application is the withdrawal of a previous 
Neighbourhood Area Designation that covered the area included 
within this latest designation request.  As the previous designation 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



has now been formally withdrawn it does not affect the 
considerations of the Council.

2.0 Consultation

2.1 The Council has undertaken the appropriate consultation with 
regard to the application submission. 

2.2 Comments have been received in response to the area 
designation application.  There are no formal objections to the area 
designation but instead the comments highlight the key 
neighbourhood planning requirements for the parish and District 
Council, including;

 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
neighbourhood planning requirements; 

 Conformity with Local Plans; and
 The Strategic Environment Assessment process. 

2.3 These comments form Essential Reference Paper ‘C’ to this 
report.

3.0 Considerations

3.1 Two main areas of consideration to be taken into account when 
determining an application for the designation of a Neighbourhood 
Area are set out in Schedule 9 of the Localism Act 2011.  One of 
these is that the authority determining the application must have 
regard to the desirability of maintaining the existing boundaries of 
neighbourhood plan areas already designated.

3.2 No weight needs to be given to this consideration in this case as 
no other Neighbourhood Areas overlap with the proposed 
Hunsdon Parish Council Neighbourhood Plan.

3.3 The other area of consideration is the desirability of designating 
the submitted area as the Neighbourhood Area. 

3.4 In this case, the area proposed only covers part of the Parish of 
Hunsdon which includes the village of Hunsdon but excludes the 
area within the proposed Gilston Area (Policy GA1) development 
outlined within the East Herts Pre-submission District Plan. 
Hunsdon Parish Council wish to move forward with a 

Page 8



Neighbourhood Plan for Hunsdon village and because of that have 
excluded the area within Policy GA1 of the District Plan which is 
reliant upon the plan-making process. 

3.5 Planning Practice Guidance states that where multi-parished areas 
are proposed, consent from the parish councils is required to 
undertake any neighbourhood planning activities.  The area 
designation request (Essential Reference Paper ‘B’) identifies 
there is agreement from both parishes to work together on a 
neighbourhood plan.

3.6 The comments received during the consultation highlighted a 
number of key requirements which the Neighbourhood Plan should 
have regard to.  These comments have been noted and will be 
carried forward in the Neighbourhood Planning process as 
appropriate. 

3.7 Also pertinent to these comments is that the District Council 
encourages Neighbourhood Plans to be developed in a positive 
and proactive manner in order to support the strategic objectives of 
the emerging District Plan.  It is the District Council’s role to advise 
and support Neighbourhood Plans as they progress.

4.0 Conclusion

4.1 Neighbourhood Planning is now an integral part of the planning 
system with legislative backing through the Localism Act.  The LPA 
is charged with determining applications for the designation of 
Neighbourhood Areas.  In this case, the designation of the 
Hunsdon Parish Council Neighbourhood Plan area, for 
neighbourhood planning purposes is supported.  

5.0 Implications/Consultations 

5.1 Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated 
with this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper 
‘A’. 

Background Papers 
East Herts Pre-submission District Plan, 2016 
(https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/districtplan) 

Page 9

https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/districtplan


Contact Member: Linda Haysey – Leader of the Council
linda.haysey@eastherts.gov.uk 

Contact Officer: Kevin Steptoe – Head of Planning and Building 
Control, Ext 1407
kevin.steptoe@eastherts.gov.uk 

Report Author: George Pavey – Senior Planning Officer
george.pavey@eastherts.gov.uk 

Page 10

mailto:linda.haysey@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:Kevin.steptoe@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:george.pavey@eastherts.gov.uk


ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives:

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities 

Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives 

Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy 

Consultation: The application for the designation of a Neighbourhood 
Area was the subject of consultation.

Legal: The formulation of a Neighbourhood Plan is established 
in the Localism Act 2011.

Financial: The formulation of a Neighbourhood Plan, if it progresses 
to the stages of referenda and adoption will lead to costs 
for the Council.  Local Planning Authorities are able to 
claim some financial support from the Department for 
Communities and Local Government. 

Human 
Resource:

There will be a requirement for Planning Officers to 
provide advice and guidance in relation to the formulation 
of any Neighbourhood Plan.

Risk 
Management:

The issues which are favourable or otherwise to the 
formulation of a Neighbourhood Plan are considered in 
the report.

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts:

The link between planning and health has long been 
established. The built and natural environments are 
major determinants of health and wellbeing.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER B

Page 13



Page 14



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning Policy 

Wallfields 

Pegs Lane 

Hertford 

SG13 8EQ 

 

(Representations submitted by email: planning.policy@eastherts.gov.uk )  

19th October 2017 

Re: Hundson Development Plan – Application for Neighbourhood Area Designation 

Dear Sir/Madam,  

Gladman Developments Ltd (Gladman) specialise in the promotion of strategic land for residential 

development with associated community infrastructure. This letter provides Gladman’s 

representations on the application made by Hundson Parish Council for the designation of a 

neighbourhood area, for the purposes of preparing a neighbourhood development plan.  

As this is the first formal stage of preparing a neighbourhood plan, Gladman would like to take this 

opportunity to comment on the Hundson Neighbourhood Area application to highlight a number 

of key requirements to which the development of the emerging neighbourhood area should have 

regard.  

Gladman wish to participate in the neighbourhood plan’s preparation and to be notified of further 

developments and consultations in this regard. We would also like to offer our assistance in the 

preparation of the neighbourhood plan and invite the Parish Council’s to get in touch regarding 

this.  

Legislation 

Before a Neighbourhood Plan can proceed to referendum it must be tested against a set of 

Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions, set out in §8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country 

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER C

Page 15

mailto:planning.policy@eastherts.gov.uk


Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 28a of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

The Basic Conditions which the Neighbourhood Plan must be found in compliancy with are as 

follows:  

(a) Having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary 

of State, it is appropriate to make the order. 

(d) The making of the order contributes to the achievement of sustainable development. 

(e) The making of the order is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the 

development plan for the area of the authority (or any part of that area). 

(f) The making of the order does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations. 

If the Neighbourhood Plan is not developed in accordance with all of the Neighbourhood Plan Basic 

Conditions as set out above then there is a real risk that it will fail when it reaches Independent 

Examination.  

High Court Judgments 

Woodcock Judgement 

The Woodcock High Court judgment demonstrates the implications for progressing a 

neighbourhood plan where there is no local plan in place nor a five-year housing land supply. In 

summary, this High Court judgment demonstrates the following key points: 

- That §14 and §49 of the Framework in regard to five-year housing land supply and the 

weight to be given to extant housing land supply policies applies equally to both emerging 

and ‘made’ neighbourhood plans as well as other development plan documents otherwise 

adopted and/or emerging by the local planning authority.  

- There is nothing in policy or statue that elevates neighbourhood planning to a level above 

the wider development plan that enables special consideration.  

- Neighbourhood Plans must respect national planning policy and the core planning 

principles outlined within the Framework.  

- Prematurity must be assessed against the whole of the requirements of the PPG. In 

neighbourhood planning, there is no requirement for qualifying bodies to produce an 

objective assessment of housing needs. 

Crownhall Judgment 

Page 16



On 21st January 2016, Holgate J handed down judgment in R(Crownhall Estates Ltd) v Chichester 

District Council [2016] EWHC 73 (Admin). This judgment summarises the respective legislation at 

§12-§28 (further detailed below), and the relevant principles at §29. 

This judgment does not however mark the end of policy development, on 11th February 2016, the 

Secretary of State published a series of updates to the Neighbourhood Planning chapter of the 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). In particular, the PPG now stresses the importance of housing 

reserve sites and providing indicative delivery timetables to ensure that emerging evidence of 

housing needs is addressed to help minimise any potential conflicts that can arise to ensure that a 

neighbourhood plan is not ultimately overridden by the contents of an emerging Local Plan.  

It is important to note that the updates to the PPG were drafted following the Crownhall judgment 

and it is essential that the steering group consider all of the advice and guidance contained in the 

PPG.  

National Planning Policy Framework 

The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) sets out the Government’s planning 

policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. In doing so it sets out the 

requirements for the preparation of Neighbourhood Plans and the role they must play in meeting 

the development needs of the local area in which they control.  

Paragraph 16 of the Framework sets out the positive role that Neighbourhood Plans should play in 

meeting the development needs of the local area.  Its states that: 

“The application of the Presumption (In Favour of Sustainable Development, set out in 

paragraph 14 of Framework) will have implications for how communities engage in 

neighbourhood planning.  Critically it will mean that neighbourhoods should: 

• Develop plans that support the strategic development needs set out in Local 

Plans, including policies for housing and economic development; 

• Plan positively to support local development, shaping and directing 

development in their area that is outside of the strategic elements of the Local 

Plan” 

Further guidance on the relationship between Neighbourhood Plans and strategic policies for the 

wider area set out in a Council’s Local Plan is included in paragraph 184 of the Framework: 

Page 17



“The ambition of the neighbourhood should be aligned with the strategic needs and 

priorities of the wider local area.  Neighbourhood Plans must be in general conformity 

with the strategic policies of the Local Plan. To facilitate this, local planning authorities 

should set out clearly their strategic policies for the area and ensure that an up-to-date 

plan is in place as quickly as possible.  Neighbourhood Plans should reflect these policies 

and neighbourhoods should plan positively to support them. Neighbourhood 

Plans…should not promote less development than set out in the Local Plan or 

undermine its strategic policies”. 

It is clear from the above that neighbourhood plans should be prepared in conformity with the 

strategic requirements for the wider area as confirmed in an adopted Development Plan. As 

highlighted above, on 11th February 2016, the Secretary of State published a series of updates to the 

PPG for the preparation of neighbourhood plans. This update makes clear that neighbourhood 

plans should take account of the latest and up-to-date evidence of housing needs. In particular, 

where a qualifying body is attempting to identify and meet housing needs, a local planning 

authority should share relevant evidence on housing need gathered to support its own plan making.  

Neighbourhood Plans should also provide indicative delivery timetables and consider the allocation 

of reserve sites to ensure that emerging evidence of housing need is addressed in order to help 

minimise any potential conflicts where a post Framework Local Plan is yet to be adopted.  

A further update to the PPG was published on 19th May 2016. Paragraph 50 of the PPG1 makes clear 

that all settlements have a role to play in delivering sustainable development and should avoid 

blanket policies restricting housing development. Accordingly, the neighbourhood plan should not 

include policies that would act to arbitrarily preclude the delivery of sustainable development 

coming forward within the neighbourhood area.  

Relationship with Local Plans 

To meet the requirements of the Framework and the Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions, 

Neighbourhood Plans should be prepared to conform to up-to-date strategic policy requirements 

set out in Local Plans. Where an up-to-date Local Plan has been adopted and is in place for the wider 

authority area, it is the strategic policy requirements set out in this document that a Neighbourhood 

Plan should seek to support and meet.  When a Local Plan is emerging or is yet to be found sound at 

Examination, there will be lack of certainty over what scale of development a community must 

accommodate or the direction the policies in the Neighbourhood Plan should take. 

                                                               
1 PPG Reference ID 50-001-20160519 

Page 18



Adopted Local Plan 

The East Hertfordshire District Local Plan (EHDLP) was adopted in April 2007. A number of policies 

contained in the EHDLP were saved following the Secetary of States ‘Saving Direction’ in April 2010. 

The EHDLP was prepared in accordance with a different era in national policy and therefore pre-

dates the approach to plan making set out in the Framework, which includes assessments of the 

relevant housing market and land availability. The EHDLP sets out the Council’s land use policies 

covering the period to 2011. The EHDLP is therefore time expired and out-of-date against the 

requirements of the Framework. 

Emerging Local Plan 

To meet the requirements of the Framework, the Council has commenced work on a new East Herts 

District Plan. The District Plan sets out the planning framework for the District for the period of 2011-

2033. East Herts Council have submitted the District Plan to the Secretary of State and Examination 

is expected to commence shortly. It is essential that the policies set out in any emerging plan align 

with those set out in the emerging District Plan. 

Neighbourhood Plan Policies and Proposals 

In accordance with the Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions, Neighbourhood Plan policies should 

align with the requirements of the Framework and the wider strategic policies for the area set out in 

the Council’s Local Plan. Neighbourhood Plans should provide a policy framework that complements 

and supports the requirements set out in these higher-order documents, setting out further, locally-

specific requirements that will be applied to development proposals coming forward.  

The Framework is clear that Neighbourhood Plans cannot introduce polices and proposals that 

would prevent development from going ahead. They are required to plan positively for new 

development, enabling sufficient growth to take place to meet the strategic development needs for 

the area. Policies that are clearly worded or intended to place an unjustified constraint on further 

sustainable development taking place would not be consistent with the requirements of the 

Framework or meet the Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions. 

Communities should not seek to include policies in Neighbourhood Plans that have no planning 

basis or are inconsistent with national and local policy obligations. Proposals should be 

appropriately justified, by the findings of a supporting evidence base and must be sufficiently clear 

to be capable of being interpreted by applicants and decision makers. Policies and proposals should 

be designed to add value to policies set out in Local Plan and national guidance, as opposed to 

replicating their requirements.  

Page 19



The community should liaise with the Council’s planning team to seek advice on the appropriateness 

of the Neighbourhood Plan’s proposals. 

Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment 

The preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan may fall under the scope of the Environmental Assessment 

of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (SEA Regulations) that require a Strategic Environmental 

Assessment (SEA) to be undertaken where a Plan’s proposals would be likely to have significant 

environmental effects. The requirement to undertake an SEA will be dependent on a Neighbourhood 

Plan’s proposals, but is likely to be necessary where a Plan is proposing specific allocations or site 

designations. 

In accordance with Schedule 1 of the SEA Regulations, a Screening Assessment of a Neighbourhood 

Plan’s proposals should be completed to assess whether an SEA must be prepared. Where an SEA is 

required this should be commenced at the earliest opportunity, alongside the preparation of the 

emerging Neighbourhood Plan, to ensure the Neighbourhood Plan’s proposals have been properly 

considered through the SEA process, and appropriately justified against other reasonable 

alternatives.  Where an adequate SEA has not been undertaken a Neighbourhood Plan is unlikely to 

meet the Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions. 

Although Neighbourhood Plans do not require a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of their proposals, 

preparing an SA can help to show how a Neighbourhood Plan will contribute to the achievement of 

sustainable development, a Neighbourhood Plan Basic Condition.  Where an SEA is required, 

extending this assessment to the preparation of an SA in unlikely to require significant additional 

input. 

The Council’s planning team will be able to advise on the likely need for an SEA of the 

Neighbourhood Plan’s proposals.  To be compatible with EU obligations, further appraisals, such as 

a Habitats Regulations Assessment, may also be required depending on local circumstances. 

Should you require any further information about the contents of this response or would like to 

arrange a meeting with a representative from Gladman then please do not hesitate to contact me. 

 

Yours Faithfully, 

Page 20



Megan Pashley 

Gladman Developments Ltd.  

m.pashley@gladman.co.uk  

Page 21

mailto:m.pashley@gladman.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



EAST HERTS COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE – 28 NOVEMBER 2017 

REPORT BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

REQUEST FOR AREA DESIGNATION FOR NEIGHBOURHOOD 
PLANNING: HUNSDON WITH EASTWICK AND GILSTON JOINT 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN     

WARD(S) AFFECTED: HUNSDON

Purpose/Summary of Report

 To enable the consideration of an application for the designation of 
a Neighbourhood Area

RECOMMENDATION FOR EXECUTIVE: that:

(A) the application for the designation of a Hunsdon with 
Eastwick and Gilston Joint Neighbourhood Plan, submitted 
by Hunsdon and Eastwick and Gilston Parish Councils, be 
supported.

1.0 Background 

1.1 Hunsdon and Eastwick and Gilston Parish Councils submitted an 
application for the designation of a Neighbourhood Area to the 
Council on 10th August 2017.  Agreement to the designation of a 
Neighbourhood Area is required by the District Council as Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) before a Neighbourhood Plan can be 
formulated. 

1.2 The application was made in the form of a letter from Hunsdon and 
Eastwick and Gilston Parish Councils with an attached plan setting 
the area to which the application relates.  The letter and plan form 
Essential Reference Paper ‘B’ to this report.

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



1.3 Also related to this application is the withdrawal of a previous 
Neighbourhood Area Designation that covered the area included 
within this latest designation request.  As the previous designation 
has now been formally withdrawn it does not affect the 
considerations of the Council.

2.0 Consultation

2.1 The Council has undertaken the appropriate consultation with 
regard to the application submission. 

2.2 Comments have been received in response to the area 
designation application. There are no formal objections to the area 
designation but instead the comments highlight the key 
neighbourhood planning requirements for the parish and District 
Council, including;

 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
neighbourhood planning requirements; 

 Conformity with Local Plans; and
 The Strategic Environment Assessment process. 

2.3 These comments form Essential Reference Paper ‘C’ to this 
report.

3.0 Considerations

3.1 Two main areas of consideration to be taken into account when 
determining an application for the designation of a Neighbourhood 
Area are set out in Schedule 9 of the Localism Act 2011.  One of 
these is that the authority determining the application must have 
regard to the desirability of maintaining the existing boundaries of 
neighbourhood plan areas already designated.

3.2 No weight needs to be given to this consideration in this case as 
no other Neighbourhood Areas overlap with the proposed 
Hunsdon with Eastwick and Gilston Joint Neighbourhood Plan.

3.3 The other area of consideration is the desirability of designating 
the submitted area as the Neighbourhood Area. 

3.4 In this case, the area proposed covers the entirety of Gilston 
Parish, Eastwick Parish and that part of Hunsdon Parish which lies 

Page 24



within the proposed Gilston Area (Policy GA1) development 
outlined within the East Herts Pre-submission District Plan. 

3.5 Planning Practice Guidance states that where multi-parished areas 
are proposed, consent from the parish councils is required to 
undertake any neighbourhood planning activities.  The area 
designation request (Essential Reference Paper ‘B’) identifies 
there is agreement from both parishes to work together on a 
neighbourhood plan.

3.6 The comments received during the consultation highlighted a 
number of key requirements which the Neighbourhood Plan should 
have regard to.  These comments have been noted and will be 
carried forward in the Neighbourhood Planning process as 
appropriate. 

3.7 Also pertinent to these comments is that the District Council 
encourages Neighbourhood Plans to be developed in a positive 
and proactive manner in order to support the strategic objectives of 
the emerging District Plan.  It is the District Council’s role to advise 
and support Neighbourhood Plans as they progress.

4.0 Conclusion

4.1 Neighbourhood Planning is now an integral part of the planning 
system with legislative backing through the Localism Act. The LPA 
is charged with determining applications for the designation of 
Neighbourhood Areas. In this case, the designation of the 
Hunsdon with Eastwick and Gilston Joint Neighbourhood Plan 
area, for neighbourhood planning purposes is supported.  

5.0 Implications/Consultations 

5.1 Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated 
with this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper 
‘A’. 

Background Papers 
East Herts Pre-submission District Plan, 2016 
(https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/districtplan) 

Page 25

https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/districtplan


Contact Member: Linda Haysey – Leader of the Council
linda.haysey@eastherts.gov.uk 

Contact Officer: Kevin Steptoe – Head of Planning and Building 
Control
kevin.steptoe@eastherts.gov.uk 

Report Author: George Pavey – Senior Planning Officer
george.pavey@eastherts.gov.uk 

Page 26

mailto:linda.haysey@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:Kevin.steptoe@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:george.pavey@eastherts.gov.uk


ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives:

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities 

Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives 

Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy 

Consultation: The application for the designation of a Neighbourhood 
Area was the subject of consultation.

Legal: The formulation of a Neighbourhood Plan is established 
in the Localism Act 2011.

Financial: The formulation of a Neighbourhood Plan, if it progresses 
to the stages of referenda and adoption will lead to costs 
for the Council.  Local Planning Authorities are able to 
claim some financial support from the Department for 
Communities and Local Government. 

Human 
Resource:

There will be a requirement for Planning Officers to 
provide advice and guidance in relation to the formulation 
of any Neighbourhood Plan.

Risk 
Management:

The issues which are favourable or otherwise to the 
formulation of a Neighbourhood Plan are considered in 
the report.

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts:

The link between planning and health has long been 
established. The built and natural environments are 
major determinants of health and wellbeing.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER B

Page 29



Page 30



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning Policy 

Wallfields 

Pegs Lane 

Hertford 

SG13 8EQ 

 

(Representations submitted by email: planning.policy@eastherts.gov.uk )  

19th October 2017 

Re: Eastwick, Gilston and Part of Hundson Development Plan – Application for 

Neighbourhood Area Designation 

Dear Sir/Madam,  

Gladman Developments Ltd (Gladman) specialise in the promotion of strategic land for residential 

development with associated community infrastructure. This letter provides Gladman’s 

representations on the application made by Hundson with Eastwick and Gilston Parish Council for 

the designation of a neighbourhood area, for the purposes of preparing a neighbourhood 

development plan.  

As this is the first formal stage of preparing a neighbourhood plan, Gladman would like to take this 

opportunity to comment on the Eastwick, Gilston and Part of Hundson Neighbourhood Area 

application to highlight a number of key requirements to which the development of the emerging 

neighbourhood area should have regard.  

Gladman wish to participate in the neighbourhood plan’s preparation and to be notified of further 

developments and consultations in this regard. We would also like to offer our assistance in the 

preparation of the neighbourhood plan and invite the Parish Council’s to get in touch regarding 

this.  

Legislation 

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER C

Page 31

mailto:planning.policy@eastherts.gov.uk


Before a Neighbourhood Plan can proceed to referendum it must be tested against a set of 

Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions, set out in §8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 28a of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

The Basic Conditions which the Neighbourhood Plan must be found in compliancy with are as 

follows:  

(a) Having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary 

of State, it is appropriate to make the order. 

(d) The making of the order contributes to the achievement of sustainable development. 

(e) The making of the order is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the 

development plan for the area of the authority (or any part of that area). 

(f) The making of the order does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations. 

If the Neighbourhood Plan is not developed in accordance with all of the Neighbourhood Plan Basic 

Conditions as set out above then there is a real risk that it will fail when it reaches Independent 

Examination.  

High Court Judgments 

Woodcock Judgement 

The Woodcock High Court judgment demonstrates the implications for progressing a 

neighbourhood plan where there is no local plan in place nor a five-year housing land supply. In 

summary, this High Court judgment demonstrates the following key points: 

- That §14 and §49 of the Framework in regard to five-year housing land supply and the 

weight to be given to extant housing land supply policies applies equally to both emerging 

and ‘made’ neighbourhood plans as well as other development plan documents otherwise 

adopted and/or emerging by the local planning authority.  

- There is nothing in policy or statue that elevates neighbourhood planning to a level above 

the wider development plan that enables special consideration.  

- Neighbourhood Plans must respect national planning policy and the core planning 

principles outlined within the Framework.  

- Prematurity must be assessed against the whole of the requirements of the PPG. In 

neighbourhood planning, there is no requirement for qualifying bodies to produce an 

objective assessment of housing needs. 

Page 32



Crownhall Judgment 

On 21st January 2016, Holgate J handed down judgment in R(Crownhall Estates Ltd) v Chichester 

District Council [2016] EWHC 73 (Admin). This judgment summarises the respective legislation at 

§12-§28 (further detailed below), and the relevant principles at §29. 

This judgment does not however mark the end of policy development, on 11th February 2016, the 

Secretary of State published a series of updates to the Neighbourhood Planning chapter of the 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). In particular, the PPG now stresses the importance of housing 

reserve sites and providing indicative delivery timetables to ensure that emerging evidence of 

housing needs is addressed to help minimise any potential conflicts that can arise to ensure that a 

neighbourhood plan is not ultimately overridden by the contents of an emerging Local Plan.  

It is important to note that the updates to the PPG were drafted following the Crownhall judgment 

and it is essential that the steering group consider all of the advice and guidance contained in the 

PPG.  

National Planning Policy Framework 

The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) sets out the Government’s planning 

policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. In doing so it sets out the 

requirements for the preparation of Neighbourhood Plans and the role they must play in meeting 

the development needs of the local area in which they control.  

Paragraph 16 of the Framework sets out the positive role that Neighbourhood Plans should play in 

meeting the development needs of the local area.  Its states that: 

“The application of the Presumption (In Favour of Sustainable Development, set out in 

paragraph 14 of Framework) will have implications for how communities engage in 

neighbourhood planning.  Critically it will mean that neighbourhoods should: 

• Develop plans that support the strategic development needs set out in Local 

Plans, including policies for housing and economic development; 

• Plan positively to support local development, shaping and directing 

development in their area that is outside of the strategic elements of the Local 

Plan” 

Further guidance on the relationship between Neighbourhood Plans and strategic policies for the 

wider area set out in a Council’s Local Plan is included in paragraph 184 of the Framework: 

Page 33



“The ambition of the neighbourhood should be aligned with the strategic needs and 

priorities of the wider local area.  Neighbourhood Plans must be in general conformity 

with the strategic policies of the Local Plan. To facilitate this, local planning authorities 

should set out clearly their strategic policies for the area and ensure that an up-to-date 

plan is in place as quickly as possible.  Neighbourhood Plans should reflect these policies 

and neighbourhoods should plan positively to support them. Neighbourhood 

Plans…should not promote less development than set out in the Local Plan or 

undermine its strategic policies”. 

It is clear from the above that neighbourhood plans should be prepared in conformity with the 

strategic requirements for the wider area as confirmed in an adopted Development Plan. As 

highlighted above, on 11th February 2016, the Secretary of State published a series of updates to the 

PPG for the preparation of neighbourhood plans. This update makes clear that neighbourhood 

plans should take account of the latest and up-to-date evidence of housing needs. In particular, 

where a qualifying body is attempting to identify and meet housing needs, a local planning 

authority should share relevant evidence on housing need gathered to support its own plan making.  

Neighbourhood Plans should also provide indicative delivery timetables and consider the allocation 

of reserve sites to ensure that emerging evidence of housing need is addressed in order to help 

minimise any potential conflicts where a post Framework Local Plan is yet to be adopted.  

A further update to the PPG was published on 19th May 2016. Paragraph 50 of the PPG1 makes clear 

that all settlements have a role to play in delivering sustainable development and should avoid 

blanket policies restricting housing development. Accordingly, the neighbourhood plan should not 

include policies that would act to arbitrarily preclude the delivery of sustainable development 

coming forward within the neighbourhood area.  

Relationship with Local Plans 

To meet the requirements of the Framework and the Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions, 

Neighbourhood Plans should be prepared to conform to up-to-date strategic policy requirements 

set out in Local Plans. Where an up-to-date Local Plan has been adopted and is in place for the wider 

authority area, it is the strategic policy requirements set out in this document that a Neighbourhood 

Plan should seek to support and meet.  When a Local Plan is emerging or is yet to be found sound at 

Examination, there will be lack of certainty over what scale of development a community must 

accommodate or the direction the policies in the Neighbourhood Plan should take. 

                                                               
1 PPG Reference ID 50-001-20160519 

Page 34



Adopted Local Plan 

The East Hertfordshire District Local Plan (EHDLP) was adopted in April 2007. A number of policies 

contained in the EHDLP were saved following the Secetary of States ‘Saving Direction’ in April 2010. 

The EHDLP was prepared in accordance with a different era in national policy and therefore pre-

dates the approach to plan making set out in the Framework, which includes assessments of the 

relevant housing market and land availability. The EHDLP sets out the Council’s land use policies 

covering the period to 2011. The EHDLP is therefore time expired and out-of-date against the 

requirements of the Framework. 

Emerging Local Plan 

To meet the requirements of the Framework, the Council has commenced work on a new East Herts 

District Plan. The District Plan sets out the planning framework for the District for the period of 2011-

2033. East Herts Council have submitted the District Plan to the Secretary of State and Examination 

is expected to commence shortly. It is essential that the policies set out in any emerging plan align 

with those set out in the emerging District Plan. 

Neighbourhood Plan Policies and Proposals 

In accordance with the Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions, Neighbourhood Plan policies should 

align with the requirements of the Framework and the wider strategic policies for the area set out in 

the Council’s Local Plan. Neighbourhood Plans should provide a policy framework that complements 

and supports the requirements set out in these higher-order documents, setting out further, locally-

specific requirements that will be applied to development proposals coming forward.  

The Framework is clear that Neighbourhood Plans cannot introduce polices and proposals that 

would prevent development from going ahead. They are required to plan positively for new 

development, enabling sufficient growth to take place to meet the strategic development needs for 

the area. Policies that are clearly worded or intended to place an unjustified constraint on further 

sustainable development taking place would not be consistent with the requirements of the 

Framework or meet the Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions. 

Communities should not seek to include policies in Neighbourhood Plans that have no planning 

basis or are inconsistent with national and local policy obligations. Proposals should be 

appropriately justified, by the findings of a supporting evidence base and must be sufficiently clear 

to be capable of being interpreted by applicants and decision makers. Policies and proposals should 

be designed to add value to policies set out in Local Plan and national guidance, as opposed to 

replicating their requirements.  

Page 35



The community should liaise with the Council’s planning team to seek advice on the appropriateness 

of the Neighbourhood Plan’s proposals. 

Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment 

The preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan may fall under the scope of the Environmental Assessment 

of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (SEA Regulations) that require a Strategic Environmental 

Assessment (SEA) to be undertaken where a Plan’s proposals would be likely to have significant 

environmental effects. The requirement to undertake an SEA will be dependent on a Neighbourhood 

Plan’s proposals, but is likely to be necessary where a Plan is proposing specific allocations or site 

designations. 

In accordance with Schedule 1 of the SEA Regulations, a Screening Assessment of a Neighbourhood 

Plan’s proposals should be completed to assess whether an SEA must be prepared. Where an SEA is 

required this should be commenced at the earliest opportunity, alongside the preparation of the 

emerging Neighbourhood Plan, to ensure the Neighbourhood Plan’s proposals have been properly 

considered through the SEA process, and appropriately justified against other reasonable 

alternatives.  Where an adequate SEA has not been undertaken a Neighbourhood Plan is unlikely to 

meet the Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions. 

Although Neighbourhood Plans do not require a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of their proposals, 

preparing an SA can help to show how a Neighbourhood Plan will contribute to the achievement of 

sustainable development, a Neighbourhood Plan Basic Condition.  Where an SEA is required, 

extending this assessment to the preparation of an SA in unlikely to require significant additional 

input. 

The Council’s planning team will be able to advise on the likely need for an SEA of the 

Neighbourhood Plan’s proposals.  To be compatible with EU obligations, further appraisals, such as 

a Habitats Regulations Assessment, may also be required depending on local circumstances. 

Should you require any further information about the contents of this response or would like to 

arrange a meeting with a representative from Gladman then please do not hesitate to contact me. 

 

Yours Faithfully, 

Page 36



Megan Pashley 

Gladman Developments Ltd.  

m.pashley@gladman.co.uk  

Page 37

mailto:m.pashley@gladman.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



EAST HERTS COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE - 28 NOVEMBER 2017 

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT AND COUNCIL SUPPORT      

WESTMILL CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL AND 
MANAGEMENT PLAN        

WARD(S) AFFECTED: Mundens and Cottered

Purpose/Summary of Report   

 To enable Members to consider the Westmill 
Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan 
following public consultation.

  

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR COUNCIL: That 

(A) the responses to the public consultation be noted and 
the Officer responses and proposed changes to the 
Westmill Conservation Area Appraisal and 
Management Plan be supported;

(B) authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and 
Building Control, in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Development Management and Council 
Support, to make any further minor and consequential 
changes to the  document which may be necessary; 
and

(C) the Westmill Conservation Area Appraisal and 
Management Plan be supported for adoption.

1.0 Background  

1.1 East Herts has a rich environmental heritage which includes 
42 Conservation Areas. The East Herts Local Plan commits 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



the Council to review its Conservation Areas, a requirement 
which is also set out in national legislation.

  
1.2 The review of Westmill Conservation Area is one of a series 

of reviews being undertaken and this is a recently completed 
one for consideration. 

1.3   Each document identifies the special character of the 
respective Conservation Area together with the elements that 
should be retained or enhanced and those which detract 
from the identified character. Existing boundaries are 
reviewed and, where appropriate, practical enhancement 
proposals are suggested. 

1.4 Once Members have considered each document and it has 
been adopted by the Council, it becomes a ‘material 
consideration in the process of determining planning 
applications.

2.0 The Westmill Conservation Area Appraisal and Management 
Plan 

2.1 The Westmill Conservation Area was first designated in 1978 
and revised/redesignated in 1981. This Appraisal document 
was completed in 2017 and went through a period of public 
consultation from 11th July 2017 to 12th September 2017 
(extended to18th September at the request of the PC to 
allow consideration at their scheduled meeting). There was a 
public meeting held on 11th July 2017 at the Westmill Village 
Hall at which about 30 persons attended. A small number of 
representations have been received. Firstly the Parish 
Council is in agreement with the document and its proposals. 
Secondly two other representations have been received; one 
requesting a further listed building be included in the 
document and another requesting a minor conservation area 
boundary change that is better related to the physical 
features on the ground.  Some earlier concerns of the PC 
and others did not materialise which emphasises, on this 
occasion, the benefit of early consultation, negotiation and 
discussion. The headline issues are set out in the following 
paragraphs: 

2.2 The document as further revised following consultation 

Page 40



considers the conservation area boundaries and proposes a 
number of alterations. These are: (a) Exclude agricultural 
storage area to east of River Rib being the site of the former 
railway station. (b) Exclude Nos. 1-4 Wilstone. (c) Following 
consultation a minor modification to boundary to rear of The 
Berries to better reflect physical features on the ground.

2.3 The document identifies the key environmental features and 
the manner in which they can be controlled. In relation to 
Westmill the most relevant ones are: Listed Buildings 
including structures in their curtilages; non listed buildings of 
quality worthy of protection; other unlisted distinctive features 
worthy of protection and important open land and spaces. 

2.4 Listed buildings and structures in their curtilages: These are 
protected by legislation and have been identified. Two listed 
structures (tombs in the churchyard) are on the Council’s 
Heritage at Risk Register and some discussion regarding 
these has taken place. 

2.5 Non listed buildings of quality worthy of protection:  A 
number have been so identified. Some non-listed residential 
buildings have good quality architectural features of high 
quality whose formal protection could be achieved through 
the introduction of an Article 4 Direction should Members 
decide to proceed with this option.   

2.6 Other unlisted distinctive features worthy of protection.  A 
number have been identified and include walls and other 
features which are important to the character of the village.

2.7 Important open land and spaces.  The following particularly 
important open spaces have been identified:  pasture south 
of road and east of Westmill Bury, Football Ground and river, 
pasture north of High Street and east of St Mary's church, St 
Mary's churchyard, central greens, linear grass sward south 
side of High Street, pasture rear of Westmill Bury, triangle to 
front of Westmill Bury, linear strip east of Westmill Bury Farm 
opposite Football ground, pasture and pond to west of 
approach access to Westmill Bury, Children's play area and 
pasture to south and east of Minstrel Cottage. 

2.8 Trees play a particularly important role in many locations. 

Page 41



2.9 Enhancement proposals to deal with detracting elements.  
Several have been identified and the Parish Council has 
been active in pursuing some of them. 

3.0 Implications/Consultations

3.1 Information on any corporate issues associated with this 
report can be found within Essential Reference Paper ‘A’ 

3.2 A summary of comments received through the consultation 
process and officer responses are set out in the table is 
included as Essential Reference Paper B

3.3 Essential Reference Paper C is a copy of the Westmill 
Conservation Appraisal and Management Plan as it 
appeared at the consultation draft stage with any subsequent 
track changes to text and alterations to accompanying plans 
that incorporate any necessary changes.  Further minor 
changes will be incorporated reflecting the status of the final 
document once Members have considered it for adoption.  

 

Background Papers
Written representations received through the consultation process.  
http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=
21548&optionId=0&J=6

Contact Member: Councillor S Rutland-Barsby, Executive 
Member for Development Management and 
Council Support

 suzanne.rutland-barsby@eastherts.gov.uk

Contact Officer: Kevin Steptoe – Head of Planning and 
Building Control 
kevin.steptoe@eastherts.gov.uk

Report Author John Bosworth Conservation Assistance
john.bosworth@eastherts.gov.uk

Page 42

http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=21548&optionId=0&J=6
http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=21548&optionId=0&J=6
mailto:suzanne.rutland-barsby@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.steptoe@eastherts.gov.uk
../Ware/john.bosworth@eastherts.gov.uk


ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives :

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities 

Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives 

Consultation: Undertaken with residents and local stakeholders and 
summarised in Essential Reference Paper B

Legal: Preparation of the Appraisal fulfils statutory 
requirements. 
 

Financial: Costs associated with the preparation of the Appraisal 
are met from within existing staffing and operational 
budgets. 

The Appraisal suggests works and actions which could 
be undertaken to enhance the character and appearance 
of the conservation area and remove detracting elements 
which would generally be the responsibility of individual 
owners. Other actions such as the possible introduction 
of an Article 4 Direction might result in additional cost but 
notwithstanding approving a pilot study elsewhere the 
Council is not yet committed to undertaking such further 
action in Westmill. Such costs can be further assessed 
should such a decision be reached. Any grant assistance 
for historic buildings may be sought from existing 
resources. 

Human 
Resource:

 No additional staffing implications.

Risk 
Management:

 No significant risk issues.

Health and 
Wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts:

The Appraisal seeks to protect and secure the character 
of the area.

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Essential Reference Paper B

Issue Representations made Officer comment

General comment. The Parish Council note that they 
have reviewed and considered 
these proposals and are in 
agreement with the review as 
outlined in the draft document. 

Noted and appreciated. It is 
worth noting there were 
earlier issues with which the 
PC and others queried that 
discussion and negotiations 
resolved.  

Removing Wilstone 
from the 
conservation area.

The Chairman of the PC in 
correspondence that preceded 
their final representation referred 
to concern expressed by 
residents of Wilstone. 

In the event the PC did not 
pursue neither did any 
residents of Wilstone despite 
the fact that several of them 
attended the public meeting. 

Suggested 
alteration to the 
conservation area 
boundary. 

This representation by the owner 
(and Chairman of the PC) related 
to his property at The Berries. 

Agreed. The suggestion is 
very minor and shown on 
accompanying plans. The 
new boundary follows a 
boundary hedge and is now  
better related to features on 
the ground.  

Inaccurate 
description of a 
listed building. 

The representation advises the 
Village Pump and Canopy is 
supported by five posts not six. 

Agreed. Suitable amendment 
to text made. In due course 
advise Historic England. 

Request to include 
another listed 
building in the text.

The representation expressed 
surprise that reference to Church 
House had not been included.

Agreed. The text makes it 
clear that only a selection of 
listed buildings is mentioned. 
However the inclusion of a 
brief description and 
illustration of Church House is 
considered appropriate.  

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

WESTMILL CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL AND 

MANAGEMENT PLAN 

DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 2017 

Consultation period 11 July – 12 September 2017 

 

 

A combination of high quality buildings and small scale pasture land and many trees 

contribute to the distinctive and attractive qualities of Westmill's Conservation Area.  

 

East Herts. District Council. Pegs Lane, Hertford, SG13 8EQ Formatted: Centered

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER C

Page 47



CONTENTS 

       Paragraphs   Pages 

1. Introduction.       1.1- 1.11  1 - 3 

     

2. Legal and Policy framework.    2.1- 2.17  3 - 6 

   

3. Origins and historic development.   3.1- 3.12  6 - 9 

  

4. Environmental Designations and criteria   

     used to identify other important  

    environmental features.     4.1- 4.14  9 - 12 

     

5. Character Analysis.     5.1- 5.68 70 12 - 378

      

  

6. Overall summary.     6.1-6.10  378 - 389

    

7. Management Proposals.     7.1-7.15  38 -– 

4140-43      

 EHDC Contact details.    7. 3   39 40

    

 Schedule of Enhancement proposals.  7.15   40-41  42-

43      

Plan 1 - Existing conservation area on historic map dating from 1874-

1894. 

Plan 2 – Character Analysis Plan (includes minor boundary revision 

following consultation). 

Plan 3 – Management Plan (includes minor boundary revision following 

consultation).

Page 48



 1 

WESTMILL CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL AND MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 

DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION  

2017 

This document has been produced by officers of East Hertfordshire District 

Council to assess the current condition of the Westmill Conservation Area, to 

identify where improvements can be made and to advise of any boundary 

changes that are appropriate. The document is in draft form and will be subject 

to public consultation and agreement by District Council Members.  

The content of Appraisals written from 2016 which include this paragraph may 

differ from predecessor documents. Selected revisions have been 

incorporated to reflect changes to legislation, the emerging District Plan, 

nomenclature, consolidation and other improvements resulting from 

experience gained to date. This process is ongoing.  

The document will be subject to public consultation a process that will be 

advertised separately. Any comments received (omitting personal details) will 

be available for public inspection.  

1. INTRODUCTION.  

1.1. The historic environment cannot be replaced and is a resource that is both 

fragile and finite.  Particularly in an age when society and its needs change 

with rapidity, the various historic and architectural elements of conservation 

areas can be perceived to interact in a complex manner and create a ‘unique 

sense of place’ that is appreciated by those lucky enough to reside in such 

special places and the many interested persons who appreciate and visit them.  

1.2. East Hertfordshire District has a particularly rich and vibrant built heritage, 

featuring 42 Conservation Areas and approximately 4,000 fine listed buildings 

displaying a variety of styles representative of the best of architectural and 

historic designs from many centuries. Generally and very importantly the clear 

distinction between built form and open countryside has been maintained.  

1.3. The District is situated in an economically buoyant region where an 

attractive environment, employment opportunities and excellent transport 

links, road rail and air, make it a popular destination to live and work.  In 

addition to London a short commuting distance away, the District is influenced 

by other factors beyond its administrative area, such as Stansted Airport and 

the towns of Harlow and Stevenage. With such dynamics it is inevitable that 

the historic environment will be subject to pressures which emphasize the 

need to protect it.    

Page 49



 2 

1.4. The East Hertfordshire Local Plan Second Review, adopted in April 2007, 

recognises these facts and commits the Council to review its conservation 

areas and their boundaries. The production of this document is part of this 

process.  

1.5. Conservation areas are environments which are considered worthy of 

protection as a result of a combination of factors such as the quality of design 

and setting of the buildings or their historic significance. In addition to the 

individual qualities of the buildings themselves, there are other factors such 

as the relationships of the buildings with each other, the quality of the spaces 

between them and the vistas and views that unite or disrupt them. The 

relationship with adjoining areas and landscape, the quality of trees, boundary 

treatments, advertisements, road signage, street furniture and hard surfaces, 

are also important features which can add to or detract from the conservation 

area.  

1.6. This Appraisal recognises the importance of these factors and will 

consider them carefully. Once approved this document will be regarded as a 

‘material consideration’ when determining planning applications. Where 

appropriate the documents put forward simple practical management 

proposals to improve the character of the conservation area and which are 

capable of being implemented as and when resources permit. 

1.7. The recommendations concerning non-listed buildings and structures are 

normally formed by the field workers observations made from the public realm 

and seldom involve internal inspection or discussions with owners. Thus such 

recommendations contained in this Appraisal might be subject to 

reconsideration through the planning application process, where that is 

necessary, and which would involve the submission of additional information. 

Similar considerations apply to estimating dates of buildings and also to their 

legal status in relation to householder permitted development rights (i.e. either 

being considered as single dwellings or alternatively as flats). 

1.8. This Conservation Area Appraisal will:  

 Identify the special character of the conservation area. 

 Identify elements that should be retained or enhanced; 

 Identify detracting elements; 

 Review the existing boundaries; 

 Put forward practical enhancement proposals; 
 

1.9. The document will be prepared in partnership with the Parish Council, The 

Greg Trust (who administration includes the village hall, the allotments and 

nearby copse, the football field and children's play area) and the local 

community through the consultation process.  

Page 50



 3 

1.10. Acknowledgement and thanks are recorded to Hertfordshire County 

Council who’s Natural Historic and Built Environment Team has been 

particularly helpful.  

1.11. This document is written in three parts: Part A - Legal and Policy 

Framework. Part B - Appraisal; Part C - Management Proposals.  

 

PART A - LEGAL AND POLICY FRAMEWORK  

2. LEGAL AND POLICY FRAMEWORK. 

2.1. The legal background for designating a conservation area is set out in 

Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990. This states that the Council shall from time to time designate 

conservation areas, which are defined as being ‘areas of special architectural or 

historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to conserve or 

enhance’. The same section of the Act also requires that Councils undertake 

periodic reviews. 

2.2. Section 71 of the Act requires Councils to ‘formulate and publish proposals 

for the preservation and enhancement’ of conservation areas and hold a public 

meeting to consider them.  

2.3. Within conservation areas there are additional planning controls and if 

these are to be supported it is important that the designated areas accord with 

the statutory definition and are not devalued by including land or buildings 

that lack special interest.  

2.4. Planning permission is required for the demolition of a building in a 

conservation area but is subject to certain exceptions. For example, it does 

not apply to Listed Buildings which are protected by their own legislation but 

is relevant to other non listed buildings in the conservation area above a 

threshold size set out in legislation*. Looking for and assessing such 

buildings is therefore a priority of this Appraisal. 

* The demolition of a building not exceeding 50 cubic metres is not development and can be demolished without 

planning permission. Demolition of other buildings below 115 cubic metres are regarded as 'Permitted 

Development' granted by the General Permitted Development Order, subject to conditions that may require the 

Council's 'prior approval' regarding  methods of proposed demolition and restoration.  

 2.5. Certain ecclesiastical buildings (which are for the time being used for 

ecclesiastical purposes) are not subject to local authority administration 

provided an equivalent approved system of control is operated by the church 

authority. This is known as the ‘ecclesiastical exemption’. Importantly in such 

circumstances, church authorities still need to obtain any other necessary 

planning permissions under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  

Page 51



 4 

2.6. The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

(England), Order 2015 (amended) defines the range of minor developments for 

which planning permission is not required and this range is more restricted in 

cConservation aAreas. For example, the Order currently requires that the 

addition of dormer windows to roof slopes, various types of cladding, satellite 

dishes fronting a highway and a reduced size of extensions, all require 

planning permission in a conservation area.  

2.7. However, even within conservation areas there are other minor 

developments associated with many non-listed buildings that do not require 

planning permission. So as to provide further protection the law allows 

Councils to introduce additional controls if appropriate. Examples of such 

controls can commonly include some developments fronting a highway or 

open space, such as an external porch or the demolition of some gates, fences 

or walls or their alteration. The removal of existing important architectural 

features that are important to the character or appearance of a conservation 

area such as chimneys, traditional detailing or materials, distinctive porches, 

windows and doors or walls or railings can be subject to a more detailed 

assessment and if appropriate made subject to protection by a legal process 

known as an ‘Article 4 Direction’ which withdraws ‘Permitted Development 

Rights’. The use of such Directions needs to be made in justified 

circumstances where a clear assessment of each conservation area has been 

made. In conducting this Appraisal, consideration will be given as to whether 

or not such additional controls are appropriate.  

2.8. Works to Trees. Another additional planning control relates to trees 

located within conservation areas. Setting aside various exceptions principally 

relating to size, any proposal to fell or carry out works to trees has to be 

‘notified’ to the Council. The Council may then decide whether to make the 

tree/s subject to a Tree Preservation Order. This Appraisal diagrammatically 

identifies only the most significant trees or groups of trees that make an 

important contribution to the character of the conservation area, particularly 

when viewed from the public realm.  Other trees not specifically identified may 

still be suitable for statutory protection.    

2.9. Some hedges may be protected by the Hedgerow Regulations 1997. This 

legislation is extremely complicated and only applies in certain situations that 

are determined by the location and extent of the hedge, its age and or its 

historical importance, the wildlife it supports and its number of woody 

species. The Regulations do not apply to domestic garden hedges. 

2.10. National Planning Policy Framework. The principle emphasis of the 

framework is to promote sustainable development. Economic, social and 

environmental roles should not be considered in isolation because they are 

mutually dependent and positive improvements in the quality of the built, 

Page 52



 5 

natural and historic environment should be sought, including replacing poor 

design with better design. Whilst architectural styles should not be imposed it 

is considered proper to reinforce local distinctiveness.  

2.11. Of particular relevance to this document, the National Planning Policy 

Framework advises as follows:  

 There should be a positive strategy in the Local Plan for the 
conservation of the historic environment and up-to-date evidence used 
to assess the significance of heritage assets and the contribution they 
make.  

 Conservation areas. Such areas must justify such a status virtue of 
being of ‘special architectural or historic interest’. 

 Heritage assets. A Heritage asset is defined as ‘a building, monument, 
site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of 
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its 
heritage interest. Heritage asset (sic) includes designated heritage 
assets and assets identified by the local planning authority (including 
local listings)’. 

 Considerable weight should be given to conserving such heritage 
assets and the more important they are the greater the weight. For 
example the effect of an application affecting a non- designated heritage 
asset should be taken into account and a balanced judgment reached. 
Substantial harm to or loss of a grade II Listed Building should be 
exceptional whilst harm to heritage assets of higher status, e.g. a grade I 
or II* Listed Building should be wholly exceptional. 

 Local Planning Authorities should look for opportunities for new 
development within conservation areas to enhance or better reveal their 
significance and proposals that preserve such elements should be 
approved.     

 The use of Article 4 Directions to remove national permitted 
development rights should be limited to situations ‘where this is 
necessary to protect local amenity or the well being of the area…’   

 Green Areas. Such areas of particular importance can properly be 
identified for special protection as Local Green Spaces in selected 
situations. 

 

2.12. East Hertfordshire’s environmental initiatives and Local Plan Policies.  

East Hertfordshire is committed to protecting conservation areas and 

implementing policies which preserve and enhance them; to support their 

preservation through the publication of design and technical advice and to be 

pro-active by offering grants and administering an Historic Buildings Grant 

Service. With regard to the latter grants are awarded on a first come first 

served basis in relation to works which result in the maintenance of listed 

buildings and other unlisted buildings of architectural or historic interest. The 

maximum grant will not normally exceed £2,000.   

Page 53



 6 

2.13. In respect of the above the Council has produced a number of leaflets 

and guidance notes that are available on line and on request. These guidance 

notes on the preservation and repair of historic materials and buildings' 

provide useful information relevant to the preservation and enhancement of 

conservation areas. They will be updated as resources permit. 

 2.14. The Council also has a ‘Heritage at Risk Register’, originally produced in 

2006, updated in 2012/13 and again updated in 2016/17. This document is 

available on the Council's website. In relation to the conservation area there 

are currently two buildings in the conservation area that are so identified as 

being ‘At Risk’. Both are located in St Mary's churchyard and are chest tombs 

and are described later in this document. Grant assistance not exceeding 

£10,000 may be available for necessary works that lead to such buildings’ long 

term security. Elsewhere in the parish there are five other buildings at Wakeley 

Farm and at Knights Hill Farm.   

 2.15. The East Herts. Local Plan was adopted by the Council in 2007.  The 

‘saved’ policies set out in the plan remain in force and are relevant in relation 

to conservation area and Hhistoric Bbuilding considerations. The Local Plan 

and its policies can be viewed on the Councils website or a copy can be 

obtained from the Council (contact details are set out in section 7).  

 2.16. In accordance with the requirements of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004, the Council is in the process of preparing a planning 

policy document which will replace the 2007 Local Plan. This will be known as 

the East Herts District Plan (DP). Once adopted the DP will contain the relevant 

Council planning policies. As currently drafted this emerging District Plan 

advises that development in conservation areas should, inter alia, conform 

with the content of the Appraisals.  

2.17. Westmill conservation area was first designated in 1968 and 

revised/redesignated in 1981. 

 

3. ORIGINS AND HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT   

3.1. There are 13 records within or close to the existing conservation area held 
by the County Historic Environment Records. Many of these relate to Listed 
Buildings, some descriptions being included later in this document. Some 
other interesting entries relate to a Roman coin (see below); the site of the 
railway station (see below) which closed in 1965 (and to passengers in 1964)  
and the possible site of a windmill, although its location of the latter  is unclear 
and it does not appear on historical mapping.     
 

3.2. Prehistoric. No information.  

Page 54



 7 

3.3. Roman settlement. Unknown although some may be possible with Roman 

coin found immediately to south of conservation area and the nearby presence 

of Ermine Street (Roman road between London and York) to the east of 

Westmill.   

3.4. Anglo Saxon. Unknown .  

3.5. The Domesday Book was a census commissioned by William I in 1086. In 

relation to Westmill it notes that Ansketil holds…It is assessed at 7 hides and 1 

virgate.There is land for 14 ploughs. In demense are 4 (ploughs) and 18 villans and 

5 Frenchmen and 2 bordars…There are 15 cottars and 2 slaves and 3 mills 

rendering 21s 8d…meadow…pasture…woodland for 100 pigs. In all it is worth 

£17…Aki a Thegn of Earl Harold held this manor and could sell. 

3.6. Interpretation: A ‘Hide’ was a standard unit of land measurement 

interpreted to be about 120 acres; a 'virgate' is reckoned to be about 30 acres.  

A ‘villan’ was a peasant legally tied to land he worked on and of higher 

economic status than a 'bordar ' or 'cottar'. The latter occupied a cottage in 

return for services provided. 'Demesne’ essentially means land belonging to 

the lord of the manor. A Thegn is a position equating to that of a retainer.   

3.7. Medieval settlement. An abbreviated description from the County Historic 

Environment Records for Westmill reads as follows. 'Tiny planned market 

town at medieval manorial centre half a mile off Ermine Street. Domesday 

Book has entries for both 'Westmele' and 'Wesmele'. This refers to two 

different manorial estates. Whether there was any nucleated settlement 

in the 11th century is unknown…. The village, although small, has a 

medieval planned layout, which would have been organised by the lords 

of the manor to attract trade… In 1226 Geoffrey le Zoing received a grant 

of a market to be held at Westmill on Friday and a fair on the vigil and 

day of St Lawrence. The Zoing family held the manor from the 12th 

century; the layout may predate the market grant, although presumably 

not by much. It was a simple layout, without the long narrow burgage 

plots typical of larger places. This early 13th century market layout is only 

2.5km south of Buntingford, one of several competing markets along this 

stretch of Ermine Street in the 13th and early 14th centuries. 

Buntingford's market was the only survivor of the Black Death, and it was 

not until the rise of the coaching and inn trades in the 18th century that 

Westmill once again attracted highway traffic… ' 

 

 

 

Page 55



 8 

3.8. The 19th century.  A picture of the settlement as it can be recognised in 

part today is set out in Kelly’s Directory of 1874 which refers as follows: 

Westmill is a small village, parish, and station on the Buntingford branch of the Great 

Eastern Railway…The church of St. Mary is a plain building of flint, with square 

tower and spire, the interior has been restored…There is a National school with 

teacher's residence adjoining…The soil is heavy, subsoil clay upon chalk. The chief 

crops are wheat, barley beans &c…and the population in 1871 was 337.  

3.9. Commercial activities in addition to farmers listed are butcher, beer 

retailer, grocer, wheelwright and blacksmith, Sword in Hand PH.    

 

Picture 1. Westmill - photo probably from the late 19th century. Not a great deal has changed. 

Reproduced courtesy of Hertfordshire Archives and Local Studies (HALS).  

 

PIcture 2. Line of original lime trees probably taken late 19th century. Reproduced courtesy of 

Hertfordshire Archives and Local Studies (HALS).  

3.10. Mapping from 1874 -1894 (Plan 1) identifies the location of some of the 

activities listed above. It shows the railway line, station and associated goods 

yard east of the river, The Sword in Hand PH and a formal line of trees on the 

south side of the road opposite and west of the PH (on the alignment of the 

Page 56



 9 

present replacement row, see picture below). Also a school for Boys and Girls 

to south west of the central green, now converted to housing and extended.  

By 1920 a Smithy is shown on the opposite side of the road to the church and 

linear allotments in the vicinity of Wilstone. Further small scale individual 

developments have occurred at later dates. The Rookery housing site from 

latter quarter of the 20th century probably represents the largest single change 

but this development is co-ordinated and compact and does not detrimentally 

impact on a settlement that has elsewhere remained largely unchanged.   

3.11. The publication, Place Names of Hertfordshire, Cambridge University 

Press 1970 advises several names, a selection of which is included thus:  

Westmele 1086, Westmelna 1163, Westmyll 1590, Wess Mill 1699. The origin of 

the name is self explanatory making reference to a mill/s that may have stood 

on the east bank of the stream.  

3.12. Plan 1 shows the existing Conservation Area plotted on historic map 

dating from 1874-1894. 

 

4. ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGNATIONS AND CRITERIA USED TO IDENTIFY 

OTHER IMPORTANT ENVIRONMENTAL FEATURES  

4.1. Scheduled Ancient Monuments. A National designation. There are none.  

4.2. Areas of Archaeological Significance. Designated locally by EHDC on 

advice from HCC. The areas identified by this Appraisal are areas as shown on 

the Council’s most up to date mapping system and may sometimes differ from 

that shown on the adopted Local Plan. The identification and refinement of 

such areas is an ongoing process.  Much of the conservation area is so 

designated. 

4.3. Listed buildings. A National designation. Individually listed buildings have 

been identified, plotted and a selection is briefly described, such abbreviated 

descriptions being based on the national list, occasionally with additional 

comments in italics by the fieldworker. Full descriptions can be obtained on 

line at Historic England's website List.HistoricEngland.org.uk Listed buildings 

are protected from unauthorised demolition, alteration or extension. 

Structures, including railings and walls, within the curtilage of listed buildings, 

if they are pre-1948, are subject to the same controls as listed buildings.  

4.4. The issue of deciding whether or not a building is 'curtilage listed' can 

sometimes be problematic and there is no exact legal definition of a building’s 

curtilage. The main tests relate to the physical layout of the land surrounding 

the main building/s at the date of listing, the physical layout and functional 

relationship of structures to each other; ownership, past and present and use 

or function, past and present. Structures need to be ancillary or subordinate to 

Page 57

https://www.historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list


 10 

the main Listed Building and form part of the land and not be historically 

independent. Protection is granted to such objects or structures within the 

curtilage of a Listed Building if they were built prior to July 1, 1948. In 

determining the extent of a Listed Building and its curtilage, a key assessment 

will be to examine the situation at the time of listing.  

4.5. Non listed buildings of quality and worthy of protection. Several other non-

listed buildings and structures that make an important architectural or historic 

contribution to the conservation area are identified by this Appraisal. The 

basic questions asked in assessing such buildings/structures are:  

(a)  Is the non listed building/structure of sufficient architectural or 

historic interest whose general external form and appearance 

remains largely unaltered? 

(b)  Does the building contain a sufficient level of external original 

features and materials?  

(c)  Has the building retained its original scale without large 

inappropriate modern extensions that destroy the visual 

appearance particularly in respect of the front elevation?  

(d) Is the building visually important in the street scene?  
 

(e) Determining which properties to include or which to exclude is 
occasionally a matter of difficult judgement. 

 

  4.6. Important trees and Hedgerows are identified by this Appraisal. Their 

positions are shown very diagrammatically indeed and access to some rear 

areas has not been obtained. The basic criteria for identifying important trees 

and hedgerows are:- 

(a)  They are in good condition.  

(b)  They are visible at least in part from public view points. 

(c)  They make a significant contribution to the street scene or other 

publicly accessible areas. 

4.7. Open spaces or gaps of quality that contribute to the visual 

importance of the conservation area where development would be 

inappropriate are identified by this Appraisal. The basic question asked in 

identifying such areas is does the open space or gap form an important 

landscape feature contributing to the general spatial quality and visual 

importance of the conservation area? Private open spaces forming an 

important setting for an historic asset and unkempt spaces that have the 

Page 58



 11 

potential to be enhanced are candidates for selection subject to complying 

with the principle question. 

4.8. Small scale open spaces, often pasture land, are visually most important 

to the high environmental quality of Westmill's conservation area and are 

similar in configuration to many of those showing up on late 19th century 

historic mapping.   

4.9. Other distinctive features that make an important visual or historic 

contribution are identified by this Appraisal. In relation to walls and railings 

those at and above prescribed heights in a conservation area 1m abutting a 

highway (including a public footpath or bridleway, waterway or open space) or 

2m elsewhere, are protected and require permission for their demolition.  

 4.10. Reference has previously been made to the potential of introducing 

Article 4 Directions in justified circumstances. The Appraisals undertaken to 

date have identified elsewhere in the District that many historic architectural 

features of quality remain unaltered on some non listed buildings but, on the 

other hand, the exercise of Permitted Development rights has eroded other 

parts of some cConservation aAreas. Should Members decide to proceed with 

such an initiative, such important historic detailing including features as 

identified below could justifiably be retained and inappropriate alterations to 

them controlled. (Update: Members agreed the general principle of introducing 

and testing the impact of an Article 4 Direction elsewhere in the District in 

2016) 

 Chimneys, in good condition, contemporary with the age of the 

property, prominent in the street scene and generally complete 

with chimney pots.  

 Selected windows, on front or side elevations, fronting and visible 
from the street/s, generally contemporary with the age of the 
property or of a sympathetic historic design and where the 
majority of windows of respective elevations retain their original 
characteristics and have not been replaced by disruptive modern 
glazing units. 

 Other features might include good quality architectural materials 
and detailing constructed of wood, metal or other materials.  

 Walls or railings which make a positive architectural or historic 
contribution to the visual appearance of the conservation area.  

 It may also be appropriate to introduce Article 4 Directions to 
retain quality buildings below the prescribed Permitted 
Development threshold.  

 

4.11. Features that are out of character with the conservation area and detract 

or are in poor repair are identified.  

Page 59



 12 

 4.12. Important views are identified.  

4.13. Conservation area boundaries. In suggesting any revisions to the 

conservation area boundaries, principal consideration is given as to whether 

or not the land or buildings in question form part of an area of special 

architectural or historic interest whose character or appearance should be 

conserved. The conservation area can include open land that has historical 

associations with the built form. This may particularly be the case if such open 

land is environmentally important and visually forms part of the conservation 

area’s setting and is distinct from open farmland. The latter consideration is 

most relevant in the case of Westmill.  

4.14. Wildlife sites. Those shown are identified on the emerging District Plan 

(which may differ from those on the Adopted Plan due to updates). There is 

one at Westmill referred to below. 

 

CHARACTER ANALYSIS 

5.1. General Landscape setting.  The Council's Landscape Character 

Assessment produced in 2007 (which is Supplementary Planning Guidance) 

identifies the distinct landscapes of the District in terms of their wider settings. 

The conservation area is located within Area 142 being the High Rib Valley. 

The village of Westmill is described as being historically coherent containing a 

number of fine traditional buildings and groupings. Westmill is located within the 

main valley west of the flood meadows. The village features an attractive tree lined 

village core, elegant Georgian houses and a diminutive green complete with well-

pump. The valley landscape is described as being fairly unusual in the County. In 

the document's guidance for managing change it says in relation to Westmill:  

ensure new planting is encouraged to maintain age diversity… and ensure 

landscape improvements respect the historic context of existing features.. This is 

most important in the case of Westmill where trees and the natural 

environment are such positive features contributing to the quality of the 

settlement and particularly the conservation area.    

5.2. General overview.  Positive attributes. Westmill has a high quality and 

diverse built environment of considerable historic and visual importance. 

Many buildings are listed including three listed grade II* - a high number for a 

small settlement. Additionally this appraisal has identified other buildings of 

historic and architectural merit worthy of retention. Westmill's character is 

particularly defined by small scale open spaces that envelop the historic core 

and which are separate from the open countryside beyond. Trees predominate 

with some particularly fine rows and an avenue. 

Page 60



 13 

5.3. Negative attributes. Some peripheral development on the west side of 

Aspenden road detracts as does an agricultural storage area to the east of the 

village on the site of the former railway line and station.  

5.4. Individually Listed Buildings.  There are 28 Listed Building groups within 

the existing conservation area. Of this total, 10 (36%) dates from the 17th 

century and also 10 (36%) from the 18th century; 4 date from the 19th century, 

1 (the telephone kiosk) from the 20th century and 4 from the 16th century or 

earlier.  

5.5. There are three buildings listed grade II*. These are Barn range at Westmill 

Bury Farm, Westmill Bury and St. Mary's Church. The remainder are Grade II. 

5.6. Individually Listed Buildings. A selection of Listed Buildings with 

abbreviated descriptions based on the National list is provided below. Any 

additions by the fieldworker are in italics.  

5.7. Barn Range at Westmill Bury Farm - Grade II*. 16th or early 17th century. 
Roofs altered in early 20th century. Timber frame on low red brick sill, dark 
weatherboarded. A T-shaped range of aisled barns. Tall aisle- posts with ogee 
moulding at base of jowl. Curved braces to arcade-plates and tie beams, and 
between jowled bay posts in aisle-walls and the aisle tie-beams. Original steep 
roof survives in 2 bays. An unusually extensive aisled barn range.  
 
5.8. Parish Church of St Mary the Virgin - Grade II*.  Parish church. Eleventh 
century nave, 12th century aisle, 13th century chancel, 15th century tower and 
nave roof. South porch rebuilt and church restored 1876. Flint rubble with 
coursed flint facing and limestone dressings. Steep red tile roofs. Small leaded 
Hertfordshire spike and vane on pyramidal slated base behind crenulated 
parapet of tower. Essentially a 2-cell pre-conquest church with unusually wide 
(and therefore important) nave. Gargoyles in middle of each face below 
parapet and deep moulded string around base. 15th century scissor-braced 
collar-purlin nave roof. 13th century memorial slab to Nicol de Leuknore, 
octagonal late 15th clunch font, 15th century benches with buttressed ends. 
The roof has recently been restored with the assistance of grant aid at a cost of 
£160,000 the fieldworker was advised. The lych gate was also being repaired at time 
of survey.  
 

Page 61



 14 

 
 

Picture 3. St Mary's church, a grade II* building with its recently restored roof.   
 

5.9. Tomb in St Mary's churchyard - Grade II. Tomb chest. 18th century. 
Inscription worn (possibly to William Prisimer). Limestone with grey stone top 
slab. A rectangular tomb chest. Raised curb and moulded splayed base. 
Recessed gadrooned baluster corners. Rectangular stone panels on each face 
with raised and fielded panel. Moulded edge to overhanging top slab with 
primary inscription. This structure is included on the Council's Heritage at Risk 
Register and is thus potentially eligible for grant assistance. 
 
5.10. Enever Monument in St Mary's churchyard - Grade II.  Tomb chest. Early 
19th century. To Judith Enever died 1811, William Enever died 1838, and his 
2nd wife. Limestone. Rectangular tomb chest on raised curb. Moulded base. 
Rectangular panel on each face with inscribed oval and fan pattern in each 
spandrel. Inset fluted Greek Doric column at each corner. Rectangular 
projecting top slab with reeded edges. This structure is included on the Council's 
Heritage at Risk Register and is thus potentially eligible for grant assistance. 
 

Page 62



 15 

 
 

Picture 4. Listed chest tomb within St Mary's churchyard, one of two in need of repair and restoration and 
both, without prejudice, potentially eligible for EHDC financial assistance.  

 

5.11. Westmill Bury - Grade II*. Early 18th century. Red brick with old red tile 

roof. Double-pile plan main block of 2 storeys, cellar and attics, 5 windows 

wide, facing north and south. Symmetrical north and south fronts each with 

central doorway and slightly recessed box sash windows. North front has a 

pilastered Tuscan doorcase with full entablature and triangular pediment. 

South front to garden has a fanlight and a Doric doorcase with fluted pilasters.  

 

Picture 5. Westmill Bury a fine Grade II* listed house dating from the early 18th century. 
 

 
5.12. Pilgrims Row - grade II. Block of houses. Early 18th century for Samuel 
Pilgrim, altered early 19th century. Timber frame roughcast with steep old red 
tile roofs. Slate lean-to at rear. Central chimneys upper parts in stock brick. A 
2-storeys continuous row. A picturesque group with Pilgrims House, next the 
village inn. 
 

Page 63



 16 

 
 

Picture 6. Pilgrims Row - a picturesque group of listed cottages in the centre of the village; 
quintessentially English is character.  

 

 

5.13. Pilgrims Close Nos. 1-4 - Grade II. 4 almshouses. 18/19th century restored 
1929 for Greg family in memory of T. T. Greg of Coles. Timber frame roughcast 
with steep old red tile roofs. 2 pairs of one and a half storeys houses adjoining 
Pilgrims House. Moulded plank doors in broad frames with small hoods on 
brackets. Small-paned 2-light casements. Low iron railing in front. Oval stone 
plaque in middle inscribed 'Dedicated in memory of T T G to Westmill by M G'. 
'1929' on separate tablet.  
 
5.14. The Dial House - Grade II. 17th century, altered in 18th century and circa 
1900. Timber frame roughcast with steep old red tile roof. A 3-unit central-
chimney plan house. 2 storeys and 4 windows long. Flush box sash windows. 
In apex of bargeboarded gable a large stone carved sundial with pedimented 
hood dated 1793. 
 
5.15. Sissons - Grade II. Early 18th century, possibly with older parts. Red 
brick with blue headers and steep-pitched old red tile roofs. A long 2- storeys 
house facing east with 2 projecting gabled rear wings. Possibly built as 2 
houses. One central chimney and 2 end chimneys. Projecting gable stack on 
south with tumbled brick offsets. Similar tumbled brick kneelers to gable 
parapets. Timber framed tile privy linked to house by brick-on-end wall, on 
east boundary. 
 
5.16. K6 Telephone Kiosk - Grade II. Type K6. Designed 1935 by Sir Giles 
Gilbert Scott. Made by various contractors. Cast iron. Square kiosk with 
domed roof. Unperforated crowns to top panels and margin glazing to 
windows and door. 

Page 64



 17 

 
 
5.17. Village Pump and Canopy - Grade II. Pump and canopy. About 1900, 
restored 1975. Cylindrical and domed oak to pump mechanism with fluted and 
spurred cast bronze spout enclosure and acorn finial. Oak hexagonal canopy 
on 65 posts with shingled roof in 2 stages with carved finial. Arts and Crafts 
Style carved decoration to tapering cylindrical casing with double chamfered 
base, vertical fluted and moulded sections, moulded capital and domed top 
carved with overlapping pointed leaves. Inscribed around capital 'TRAVERSE 
THE DESERT AND THEN YOU CAN TELL WHAT TREASURE EXISTS IN THE 
COOL DEEP WELL'. Oak posts with curved braces to wall plate and brackets 
supporting boarded soffit. Centre piece of picturesque village green. 
 

 

Picture 7. Picturesque Arts and Crafts style pump and canopy believed to date from about 1900. 

5.18. Woolpack Croft - Grade II. 17th century or earlier. Timber frame plastered 
with steep thatched roof. Eyebrow dormers with 2-light casement windows at 
eaves. There are several thatched properties in Westmill that add significantly to the 
character and diversity of the conservation area. 
 

Page 65



 18 

 
 

Picture 8 Woolpack Croft - a delightful thatched property listed grade II with typical eyebrow dormers.  

 

5.19. Church House – Grade II. 16th century south  wing, early 17th century front 
block with with rest later.  Timber frame roughcast with steep old red tile roofs. 
Bellcast and plastered soffit to front eaves. Doric doorcase with fluted 
pilasters and triangular pediment with triglyph frieze. 
 
 

 

Picture 9. Church House dating from the 16
th

 century, listed grade II. Photo reproduced courtesy of 

owner,  David Mills. 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial,  12
pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial,  12
pt, Bold, Superscript

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial,  12
pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial,  12
pt, Bold, Superscript

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial,  12
pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial,  12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial,  12
pt, Bold

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Page 66



 19 

 

5.1920. Scheduled Ancient Monuments. There are none in the conservation 

area. For interest there is one such site elsewhere being the site of St Giles 

church and medieval village to the north east of Wakeley Farm in the west of 

the parish.  

5.201. Areas of Archaeological Significance. Much of the conservation area is 

so designated.  

5.212. Important buildings within the curtilages of Listed Building. The issue of 

deciding whether or not a building is 'curtilage listed' can sometimes be 

problematic and there is no exact legal definition of a building’s curtilage.  

5.223. The main tests relate to the physical layout of the land surrounding the 

main building/s at the date of listing, the physical layout and functional 

relationship of structures to each other; ownership, past and present and use 

or function, past and present. Structures need to be ancillary or subordinate to 

the main Listed Building and form part of the land and not be historically 

independent. Protection is granted to such objects or structures within the 

curtilage of a Listed Building if they were built prior to July 1, 1948. In 

determining the extent of a Listed Building and its curtilage, a key assessment 

will be to examine the situation at the time of listing. 

5.234. Ancillary buildings of brick and flint construction within curtilage of 

Westmill Bury and listed building to north of latter. Of brick/flint construction 

with tiled roofs.  

5.245. Other non listed buildings that make an important architectural or 

historic contribution.  This Appraisal identifies other buildings of high quality 

that are not listed but that should be retained. These date from the late 19th/ 

early 20th century and are an important element in the high environmental 

quality of the conservation area and make a very positive contribution to its 

built form and historical evolution. Any important architectural features they 

possess and worthy of retention are identified.  

5.256. Gaylors Cottage. Located on prominent corner site and dating from 

late19th/early 20th century. Brick to ground floor with render and decorative 

painted timber detailing to first floor. Tiled roof and chimney. Timber 

bargeboarding and eaves detailing. An Article 4 Direction to provide protection 

for selected features may be appropriate subject to further consideration and 

notification.  

Page 67



 20 

 

Picture 910. Gaylors Cottage - a late 19th/early 20th century house considered to be worthy of retention 

and additional protection. Prominent tiled roof adds quality to the conservation area in this location.  

5.267. Nos. 1-6 The Terrace. Three pairs of single storey dwellings dating from 

1920. Of blockwork and brick construction with pyramidal tiled roofs and 

chimneys. Original canopies. No. 6 retains original Crittall metal windows but 

others are replacements . Despite this the grouping retains much of its original 

unusual character. An Article 4 Direction to provide protection for selected 

features may be appropriate subject to further consideration and notification.  

 

  

Picture 101. Unusual early 20th century council properties with original plaque and canopy detailing.  

Mostly original detail worthy of retention and protection. 

 5.278. Watford House. Dates from the early 20th century. Large detached residence of 

brick to ground floor and render to first floor with wooden decorative detailing. Bay 

windows to both floors and centrally located entrance to front elevation. Tiled roof 

Page 68



 21 

and chimneys. An Article 4 Direction to provide protection for selected features 

may be appropriate subject to further consideration and notification.  

 

 

Picture112. Watford House.  Large detached property dating from the early 20th century, typical of its 

type and period.  

5.289. School Court (part). Formerly a school for Boys and Girls dating from 

late 19th century. Now much altered and extended with losses of former scale 

and original design. Nevertheless front worthy of some note because of its 

historical association.  Does not include modern extension to rear.   

5.2930. School Cottages. Dating from the late 19th/early 20th century. 

Prominent in the street scene. Of rough render with tiled roof and two large 

chimneys. Boxed windows to ground floor; upper floor protrudes. Some 

simple decorative wooden detailing; sympathetic window detailing common to 

frontages of both properties. An Article 4 Direction to provide protection for 

selected features may be appropriate subject to further consideration and 

notification.  

 

Picture 123. School Cottages - a fine pair prominent in the street scene with features of architectural 

interest most worthy of retention and additional protection.  

Page 69



 22 

5.301. Residential accommodation at Westmill Bury Farm. Late 19th century of 

brick and render with steeply sloping tiled roof with chimneys. Modern window 

detailing detracts. Nevertheless worthy of retention and additional protection. 

An Article 4 Direction to provide protection for selected features may be 

appropriate subject to further consideration and notification.  

 

Picture 134. Residential accomodation at Westmill Bury Farm of brick construction with steeply sloping 

roof of historical and architectural merit worthy of retention.  

 

5.312. Flint Cottages, opposite Sword in Hand PH. A finely detailed pair 

probably of early 20th century date of flint construction with horizontal brick 

banding and window surround detailing. Tiled roof and central chimney. 

Early/sympathetic windows and high quality original canopy detailing to each 

end. An Article 4 Direction to provide protection for selected features may be 

appropriate subject to further consideration and notification.  

 

Page 70



 23 

 

 

Page 71



 24 

 

Pictures 145-167. Flint Cottages. Particularly fine flint and brick cottages probably dating from the early 

20th century, unspoilt with many good quality features. 

 

5.323. Nos. 1-2 Hope Cottages. Terrace of two prominent in the local street 

scene and dating from the early 20th century. Rough render with steeply 

sloping tiled roof and 3 No. prominent chimneys. Common early/sympathetic 

window detailing; central plaque inscribed TTG 1911. An Article 4 Direction to 

provide protection for selected features may be appropriate subject to further 

consideration and notification.  

 

 

Picture 178. Hope Cottages - a prominent group with attractive detailing dating from the early 20th 

century most worthy of retention and additional protection. 

Page 72



 25 

5.334. Other distinctive features that make an important architectural or 

historic contribution. Walls and railings so identified are protected to varying 

degrees virtue of exceeding specified height relevant to the conservation area 

legislation or by being within the curtilage of a Listed Building unless 

otherwise noted. (Note: LB description for Pilgrims Close refers to low railing 

to front as part of description.) 

5.345. Wall to front and to east side of St Mary's churchyard. Of brick 

construction with distinctive capping detailing. Prominent and important in the 

street scene. Relatively minor repair works needed to selected sections.   

 

 

Picture 189. Wall to front of St Mary's churchyard prominent and important in the street scene. 

5.356. Lych gate to front of St Mary's church.  Of timber construction with 

decorative tiled roof.  Recently repaired.  

Page 73



 26 

 

Picture 1920. Recently repaired lych gate to St Mary's church.  

5.367. Range of tombstones in St Mary's churchyard. Of various types and 

ages. Some in need of repair. Two wooden structures noticed.  

 

 

Page 74



 27 

 

 

Pictures 201-223. Various details of tombstones in the churchyard. The lower one is in need of repair. 

The middle illustration shows fine early 20th century design. Is there local knowledge of the first 

illustration of the wooden cross etc?  

5.378. George V wall letter box. This style of wall box with the GR motif was 

introduced in the reign of George V and continued to be used in the reign of 

George VI until one designed specifically for the latter monarch was produced 

in the late 1930's. 

5.389. Red brick wall to curtilage of listed building Dial House. Red brick wall 

approximately 2 m in height with four supporting piers surmounted by ball 

Page 75



 28 

finial detailing. Some spalled brickwork in need of repair. The potential of grant 

assistance from EHDC exists. 

 

Picture 234. Frontage wall to Dial House. A prominent feature in a key location and in need of repair.   

5.3940. Brick and flint wall to front of Westmill Bury. Height varies. Owner 

advises recently repaired.  

 

Picture  245. Brick and flint wall recently repaired, important to the setting of Westmill Bury.  

 

5.401. Metal gate brick wall with pillars and ball finials east of Westmill Bury. 

5.412. Important Open Spaces. The spaces identified below are most important 

and should be preserved. Together with a significant number of trees they are 

an integral part of the conservation area and its overall high quality. Their 

small scale and general characteristic of being enclosed is different to the 

open countryside they abut.  For the most part they are visible and can be 

Page 76



 29 

appreciated from the public domain. They add to the spatial quality of the 

conservation area and often provide setting to and views of important listed 

buildings. Their present general configuration is similar to that shown on late 

19th century historic mapping.     

5.423. Small scale pasture with sheep grazing, south of road and to east of 

Westmill Bury. A small scale and enclosed pasture which together with 

adjacent lime tree avenue represents a high quality open space forming an 

important part of, and setting to, the conservation area.   

 

Picture 256.  Fine avenue of lime trees providing an access point to Westmill Bury. The avenue also 

separates two small scale open spaces important to the setting of the conservation area.  

5.434. Football Ground. Consists of area of open land to the west of the River 

Rib. It is enclosed to varying degrees on all sides and contains a football pitch, 

a pavilion and some limited seating. Together with the river, trees and its 

enclosed nature it forms part of the important open character of the 

conservation area.  

Page 77



 30 

 

Picture 267. The football field. Its relationship with the River Rib and its fine mature boundary trees 

represents a small scale open space of quality important to the visual qualities of the conservation area.  

5.445. Small scale pasture land north of the High Street and east of St Mary's 

church.  This pasture land is most important in the context of the setting of the 

conservation area. The row of mature lime trees on its northern boundary are 

visually prominent and form part of the setting of the church and distant views 

of its spire. The land is distinct from the open countryside to its north.  

 

Picture 278. High quality pasture land a key small scale landscape feature to this part of the conservation 

area which provides a long distance view of the grade Ii* listed church.   

 

Page 78



 31 

5.456. St. Mary's churchyard. Well kept with a variety of tombstones, two 

individually listed, at risk and previously referred to. Contains range of 

traditional churchyard trees including an Irish yew avenue approach. 

Contained by wall to front. 

 

Picture 289. Well kept St Mary's churchyard with interesting range of tombs of various dates. 

5.467. Central Greens. Consists of two well maintained grassed areas with 

mature lime tree and maturing oak.  There is also an historic pump and 

directional sign previously described, also seating and a litter bin. Elsewhere 

posts have been placed to defend against erosion by vehicles. Parked cars 

detract but would seem to be no solution to overcome this. The larger of the 

greens is perhaps beginning to become a little crowded with miscellaneous 

street furniture. Strategic planting of 2 No. Lime trees on the smaller green, 

one at each end, may be worthy of consideration. In combination with its high 

quality buildings that enclose it and the views of the village provided from it, 

these greens are most important to the environmental quality of the village. 

Taking into account the quality and improvement that could be implemented, 

the Parish Council might consider obtaining professional landscape advice. 

5.478. Linear grass sward south side of High Street. Well maintained and 

containing prominent row of Lime trees (photo below). 

5.489. Pasture land to the rear of Westmill Bury.  Represents a fine small scale 

pastoral landscape setting for the grade II* listed building and is interpreted as 

being separate from the open countryside beyond.  

5.4950. Small triangle of open space to front of Westmill Bury - important to 

the setting of this grade II* listed building.  

Page 79



 32 

5.501. Linear strip that is unused and overgrown east of Westmill Bury Farm 

and on opposite side of road to the Football Ground. Its small scale and 

roadside hedgerow and trees within the site are important components in this 

location and on this approach to the village.  

 

Picture 2930. Linear strip of unused land, heavily treed and visually important as a village approach.   

5.512. Small pasture and pond to west of approach access to Westmill Bury. 

This open space contributes to the spatial quality and diversity of the 

conservation area in this key location in proximity to a number of high quality 

listed buildings.  

 

Picture 301. Pond and open space adds to the spatial quality and diversity of the conservation area in 

this location. 

Page 80



 33 

5.523. Children's play area and small scale enclosed pasture south of Minstrel 

Cottage. Areas of small scale open space and pasture land that contribute to 

the quality of the conservation area and worthy of protection. 

5.534. Locally Important Historic Parks and Gardens. There are none within the 

conservation area but one of local importance exists at Coles Park south of 

the village elsewhere in the parish.  

5.545. Wildlife sites. There is one such site at Westmill Bury Farm (ref.24/067) 

Wildlife Sites Inventory for East Herts. 2013 which is described simply as 

Buildings and environs important for Protected Species.  

5.556. Particularly important trees and hedgerows. Those trees that are most 

important are shown very diagrammatically on the accompanying mapping.  

5.567. Throughout the conservation area trees play a very important role in 

adding quality to the environment generally and enhancing the historic built 

form. In this respect rows and an avenue of lime trees are particularly 

important. The presence of trees was an important component showing up on 

late 19th century mapping including the row in the High Street in the 

illustration below.  

 

Picture 312. The Lime tree row on village green south side of High Street is visually most important and 

would appear to replace similar planting identified on the late 19th century mapping. 

5.578. Particularly strong tree boundary on southern edge of the conservation 

area opposite Watford House is a clear demarcation between small scale 

pasture land and the open countryside beyond. The existing conservation area 

has been drawn to the south of this physical boundary and follows no feature 

on the ground, presumably originally drawn in this manner to ensure 

protection of the fine trees in this location. 

Page 81



 34 

 

Picture 323. The strong field boundary that delineates open countryside from enclosed pasture and 

horse paddock land to the north. 

5.589. The role trees play in defining the character of the conservation area 

and in framing and providing views of important historic buildings is 

demonstrated in the picture below. 

 

 

Picture 334. Trees alongside historic boundaries are extremely important in defining the high quality of 

the conservation area.  

 

Page 82



 35 

5.5960. Important views. A selection as shown on accompanying mapping.  

5.601. Elements out of character with the Conservation Area.  The area forming 

the eastern extremity of the conservation area is a large open storage area 

containing agricultural machinery and equipment, some obsolete. The site is 

untidy and can be viewed from the road and public realm that forms its 

southern boundary. It is the former site of the railway station. It is accepted the 

area is part of a working farm but the fieldworker considers that minor 

improvements such as doubling up additional frontage planting and removal 

of obsolete machinery and a general tidy up would be beneficial.  Elsewhere 

the River Rib forms an appropriate eastern boundary and on balance it is 

considered this area can be removed from the conservation area.    

 

Picture 345. View of open agricultural storage area from public domain. It is recognised this area is very 

much part of an active working farm but any improvements to reduce its visual impact would be 

beneficial and appreciated. 

5.612. Directional post signage on the green in the centre of the village. 

The signage is mounted on a rusting pole w hich at the least needs 

repainting. Detracts to a degree from the high quality of this important 

central space. The Parish Council has now initiated improvements. 

Page 83



 36 

 

Picture 356. Directional sign post needing repainting. 

5.623. Parish notice board. This clearly performs an important community 

function but nevertheless is untidy and visually detracts. Is there a more 

acceptable solution? Follow ing consultation the PC have undertaken 

some improvements. 

 

Picture 367. Is there a more acceptable solution (and or location) to disseminate community 

information?  

5.634. Dutch barn of metal construction in close proximity to two grade II* 

listed buildings at Westmill Bury Farm. This large structure detracts from the 

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Page 84



 37 

setting of two fine listed properties but despite this its function is important to 

the working farm and its appearance traditionally associated with active 

agricultural use. In the shorter time frame its removal or replacement is 

unlikely. Visually impacts on settings of listed buildings but not in relation to 

the street scene and general community.  

5.645. Utility poles in several locations detract but only to a modest degree. 

Where they exist their vertical emphasis is often disguised by trees. There is 

no impact in the sensitive central part of the conservation area. 

5.656. Opportunities to secure improvements. Repair 2 No. chest tombs to 

front of St Mary's churchyard that, without prejudice, are candidates for grant 

assistance from EHDC. Improve the appearance and reduce impact of 

agricultural storage area when viewed from the public realm; being open land 

to the east of River Rib (site of former railway station). Initiate minor selected 

repairs to wall fronting and to east side of St. Mary's churchyard. Consider 

potential for improving directional signage on central green. Consider if there 

is a better solution to the existing notice board on wall near central green. 

(Some improvements to the latter two items have now been undertaken). 

Undertake repairs to curtilage listed wall Dial House. 

5.667. Suggested boundary changes.  For reasons previously set out exclude 

agricultural storage area to east of River Rib being the site of the former 

railway station. See picture above. 

5.678. Also exclude Wilstone, east side of Aspenden road. Mid later 20th 

century terrace housing of no architectural or historic interest with variety of 

uncoordinated frontage boundary treatments.  However retain mature tree to 

frontage as this fine specimen (along with trees opposite) is important to this 

entrance point to the village.  

 

Picture 378. Nos. 1-4 Wilstone are proposed to be excluded from the conservation area.  

Page 85



 38 

5.69.  Minor modification to boundary to rear of The Berries to better reflect 

physical features on the ground. 

 

5.6870. Explanation concerning retaining The Rookery and environs within the 

conservation area. Whilst The Rookery is a later 20th century development it is 

of a pleasant and cohesive design that has remained largely unaltered. The 

trees to the immediate north are important and worthy of retention as is a 

small pasture land adjacent and to the west. On balance and for these reasons 

it is considered appropriate for The Rookery and environs to remain within the 

conservation area.  

 

Picture 389. The Rookery- a council development dating from the later part of the 20th century is of a 

pleasant and cohesive design which, on balance should remain within the conservation area.   

 

6. OVERALL SUMMARY. 

6.1. Westmill's conservation area is of high quality and considered worthy of 

its status as a Conservation Area subject to making a number of modifications 

to its boundary. It is assuredly considered to be ‘special architectural or 

historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to 

conserve or enhance’.  

6.2. The special relationship the Conservation area enjoys with surrounding 

small scale open spaces and pasture land is visually most important 

contributing to its general spatial quality and visual importance. These spaces 

must not be eroded or compromised by development pressures.  

Page 86



 39 

6.3. In relation to the requirement relating to conserving its character there are 

large numbers of listed buildings of the highest quality principally 

concentrated in the historic core where great care needs to be exercised in 

relation to new development proposals.  

6.4. This Appraisal has also identified eight late 19th/early 20th century non 

listed buildings/groups that add considerably to Westmill's heritage and which 

are most worthy protection from demolition. Their retention through the 

planning process is essential.  

6.5. Many of the above non listed buildings still have early and original 

architectural detailing and features worthy of protection and preservation. 

However the exercise of Householder Permitted Development Rights can 

erode such qualities by, for example, the insertion of inappropriate modern 

windows, doors, the erection of porches and changes of roofing materials.  

Additional controls can be introduced to counter this potential. 

6.6. Such controls are known as Article 4 Directions, commonly used 

elsewhere, which could be applied selectively and sparingly and could, inter 

alia, protect windows, chimneys and other selected architectural detailing and 

materials following notification of owners and further consideration.  

6.7. There are also other features of importance that should be retained. These 

include walls that add to the quality and diversity of the conservation area.  

6.8. Throughout the conservation area trees play a most important role in 

visually enhancing the village street scenes in different ways.  

6.9. In relation to the requirement to enhance some improvements have been 

identified which are set out in summary tabular form in the Management 

section below. The suggested improvements, both large and small, will 

principally be implemented by the goodwill and with the co-operation of 

individual owners. However the Council may be able to offer advice and 

guidance and, subject to staff resources, will be prepared to do so, as and 

when appropriate. Some improvements may be potentially eligible for grant 

assistance. 

6.10. Several alterations to the conservation area boundary have been 

proposed and these are identified below.  

 

 

 

 

Page 87



 40 

PART C - MANAGEMENT PROPOSALS. 

7. MANAGEMENT PROPOSALS.    

7.1. Revised Conservation Area Boundary. The revised boundary is shown on 

accompanying Management Plan to which the reader is referred and includes 

the following amendment/s.  

(a) Exclude agricultural storage area to east of River Rib being the site of the 

former railway station. 

(b) Exclude Nos. 1-4 Wilstone. 

(c) Minor modification to boundary to rear of The Berries to better reflect 

physical features on the ground. 

 

7.2. General Planning Control and Good Practice within the Conservation Area. 

All ‘saved’ planning policies are contained in the East Herts. Local Plan 

Second Review adopted in April 2007. It is currently against this document and 

the National Planning Policy Framework (NPP) that the District Council will 

process applications. The NPP is supplemented by Planning Practice 

Guidance. One such guidance note of particular relevance is 'Conserving and 

Enhancing the Historic Environment'. In due course the 2007 Local Plan will be 

replaced by the District Plan whose policies will then be relevant.  

7.3. Applicants considering submitting any application should carefully 

consider the relevant policies and if necessary contact Officers to seek pre-

application advice.  

Telephone 01279 655261 (For development proposals ask for Development 

Management. For general conservation advice ask for a Conservation Officer).  

E-mail:   planning@eastherts,gov.uk 

Website: www.eastherts.gov.uk 

Or write to Development Management, East Herts. District Council, Wallfields, 

Pegs Lane, Hertford SG13 8EQ  

7.4. Applicants may also wish to refer to one of the several Guidance Notes 

previously referred to which will be updated as resources permit.  

7.5. Planning Control - Potential need to undertake an Archaeological 

Evaluation. Within the sites designated as being an Area of Archaeological 

Significance (as shown on either the adopted Local Plan or emerging District 

Plan), the contents of policies BH1, BH2 and BH3 are particularly relevant.  

Page 88

mailto::planning@eastherts,gov.uk20
http://www.eastherts.gov.uk/


 41 

7.6. Listed Building Control and Good Practice. Those buildings that are 

individually listed are identified. Other pre-1948 buildings, structures or walls 

within the curtilage of a Listed Building are similarly protected in law.  

7.7. Listed Buildings are a significant asset in contributing to the quality of the 

cConservation aArea. It is essential that their architectural detailing is not 

eroded nor their other qualities and settings compromised.  

7.8. Planning Control – Other Unlisted Buildings that make an Important 

Architectural or Historic Contribution. Within the existing Cconservation 

aAreas this Appraisal has identified eight unlisted buildings/ groups of 

buildings that are considered to have sufficient qualities to be described thus. 

Any proposal involving the demolition of these buildings is unlikely to be 

approved.  

7.9. These buildings are: Gaylor's Cottage, Nos.1-6 The Terrace, Watford 

House, School Court, School Cottages, residential accommodation at 

Westmillbury Farm, Flint Cottages, Nos. 1-2 Hope Cottages. 

7.10. There are other distinctive features that are integral to some of the 

important unlisted buildings identified above that make an important 

architectural or historic contribution, including selected chimneys, windows 

and other architectural detailing where appropriate protection could be 

provided by removing Permitted Development Rights via an Article 4 Direction. 

The associated legislation is complex. Should the Council consider such a 

course of action appropriate there would be a process of notification 

separately at a later date. This would be associated with further detailed 

consideration and possible refinement. 

7.11. Planning control - Wildlife Sites. Proposals will be considered against 

Policies ENV 14 and ENV 16.  

7.12. Planning Control – Important open land, open spaces and gaps. This 

Appraisal has identified the following particularly important open spaces: 

pasture south of road and east of Westmill Bury, Football Ground and river, 

pasture north of High Street and east of St Mary's church, St Mary's 

churchyard, central greens, linear grass sward south side of High Street, 

pasture rear of Westmill Bury, triangle to front of Westmill Bury, linear strip 

east of Westmill Bury Farm opposite Football ground, pasture and pond to 

west of approach access to Westmill Bury, Children's play area and pasture to 

south and east of Minstrel Cottage. These open spaces will be protected.  

 7.13. Planning Control – Particularly important trees and hedgerows. Only the 

most significant trees are shown very diagrammatically. It has not been 

possible to plot trees on inaccessible land. Subject to certain exceptions all 

trees in a conservation area are afforded protection and a person wanting to 

Page 89



 42 

carry out works has to notify the Council.  Trees that have not been identified 

may still be considered suitable for protection by Tree Preservation Orders. 

Owners are advised to make regular inspections to check the health of trees in 

the interests of amenity and Health and Safety.   

7.14. Planning Control - Important views. A selection of general views is 

diagrammatically shown. Policy BH6 is particularly relevant.  

7.15. Enhancement Proposals. The Appraisal has identified a number of 

elements that detract which are summarised in the Table below together with a 

proposed course of action; other actions are also identified. Within the staff 

and financial resources available, Council Officers will be pro-active and 

provide assistance. It must be recognized that such improvements will 

generally be achieved only by the owner’s co-operation. Readers are reminded 

of potential sources of financial assistance in respect of repairs to historic 

buildings. 

Detracting 

element. 

Location.  Proposed Action.  

2 No. listed chest 

tombstones in 

need of repair. 

To front of St. 

Mary's churchyard. 

Without prejudice consider 

making application to 

EHDC to execute 

appropriate repairs. 

Agricultural 

storage area.  

To east of River 

Rib. 

Discuss potential of 

securing improvements 

and reducing visual impact 

from the public realm with 

owner.  

Wall in need of 

minor repairs. 

To frontage and 

east side of St. 

Mary's churchyard. 

Consider undertaking 

necessary repair works.  

Directional 

signage. 

Central green. Consider potential for 

improvements - minimum 

work treat and paint 

supporting metal post. 

(Improvements now made). 

Parish notice 

board. 

On wall west of 

central green.   

Discuss with PC and 

consider potential for 

improvements 

(improvements now made). 

Wall in need of Dial house Discuss potential for 

Page 90



 43 

repair. boundary, 

Aspenden Road. 

undertaking appropriate 

repair works with owner. 

Other Actions.  

The Parish Council may wish to consider obtaining professional 

landscape advice in relation to securing improvements to the 

central green areas, including limited additional planting to the 

smaller of the two. 

Pilgrims Close - LB description refers to railing to front. This needs  

plotting on EHDC mapping.   

Inform Historic England of minor textural changes to LB description 

of Village Pump and Canopy (5 posts not 6). 

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 93



P
age 94



Page 95



P
age 96



Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



EAST HERTS COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE - 28 NOVEMBER 2017

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR FINANCE 
AND SUPPORT SERVICES       

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY UPDATE  

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL

Purpose/Summary of Report

 To present an update on the Financial Sustainability agenda.

RECOMMENDATIONS TO EXECUTIVE: 

(A) To recommend to full Council that the Financial Sustainability 
Policy (attached at Essential Reference Paper B) be adopted; 

(B) That a full financial sustainability strategy be developed;

(C) To receive the feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee;

(D) To delegate the implementation of the projects below to the Head 
of Strategic Finance and Property upon consideration of  sound 
business cases:

 Exploration of cost recovery approach to fees and charges
 Physical Advertising on council assets
 Advertising on the council website

(E) That a working group of officers and members be established to 
develop and deliver a Community Benefit Lottery.
 

1.0 Background 

1.1. Like many local authorities East Herts Council finds itself 
expected to deliver more and higher quality services while 
funding from central government reduces.

Page 99

Agenda Item 8



1.2. There is still a lack of clarity about the future of local 
government funding despite some elements of the funding 
mix (such as revenue support grant) already having been 
withdrawn. 

1.3. Given these challenges a workshop was held in May to 
enable members to explore alternative funding sources and 
initiatives which would enable the council to avoid service 
cuts or the need to breach the council tax increase guidelines 
set nationally of 2% (or £5 for smaller authorities).

1.4. Following this workshop, a member/officer group was 
established to explore this topic further. The policy attached 
(Essential Reference Paper B) is the result of the work 
conducted by this group. The work also identified a number 
of pilot projects for officers to implement in 2017/18, which 
will start to build financial resilience.

1.5. The attached documents were presented to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 17 October 2017.  A wide-
ranging discussion was held, the key points of which are 
summarised below: 

 There was some concern about the role of the council 
in activity which is already dominated by the private 
sector.  This concern has been reflected in the revised 
policy (attached at Essential Reference Paper ‘B’)

 There was discussion around the Community Benefit 
Lottery, with concern around whether it is appropriate 
for the council to encourage gambling.  

1.6 In the context of the comments above, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee supported the adoption of the policy, the 
development of a strategy and, subject to robust business 
cases, the development of the four initial projects as set out 
below:

o Community Benefit Lottery
o Exploration of cost recovery approach to fees and 

charges
o Physical Advertising on council assets
o Advertising on the Council’s website

Page 100



2. Financial Sustainability 

2.1. In order to drive financial sustainability forward in a coherent 
manner with services engaged in the projects it is 
recommended to create a financial sustainability strategy 
following a consultation with services about how they can 
contribute to the goal.

2.2. If council approves the adoption of a financial sustainability 
policy work on the strategy will be developed to include other 
specific initiatives, projects and policies following an internal 
consultation with services.

3.0 Implications/Consultations

3.1 Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated 
with this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper 
‘A’.  

Background Papers 
None

Contact Member: Councillor Geoff Williamson
Executive Member for Finance & Support Services
Geoff.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk

Contact Officer: Isabel Brittain, Head of Strategic Finance and 
Property
Tel: 01279 502050
Isabel.brittain@eastherts.gov.uk 

Report Author: Nathan Bookbinder, Policy Officer
Tel: 01279 502144
nathan.bookbinder@eastherts.gov.uk 

Page 101

mailto:Geoff.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:Isabel.brittain@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:nathan.bookbinder@eastherts.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives:

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities 

Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives 

Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy 

Consultation: Financial and non-financial discussions have taken place 
within a member/officers working group. The members 
were consulted on the Topic during an away day wherein 
they were broadly supportive (Essential Reference 
Paper ‘C’).

Legal: There are no legal implications. However subsequent 
reports emerging from this may have implications.
 

Financial: Financial implications are included in the body of the 
report. However subsequent reports emerging from this 
may have implications.

Human 
Resource:

There are no Human Resources implications. However 
subsequent reports emerging from this may have 
implications.

Risk 
Management:

There are no risk management issues raised as part of 
the report. However subsequent reports emerging from 
this may have implications. 

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts:

There are no Health and Wellbeing issues raised as part 
of this report. However subsequent reports emerging 
from this may have implications.

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Essential Reference Paper B

Financial Sustainability Policy

Background and Context

Like many local authorities East Herts council finds itself expected to deliver 
more and higher quality services while funding from central government 
reduces.

Financial sustainability
The sustainability agenda in terms of finance refers to councils which, often 
using the powers of General Competence  from the Localism Act 2011, have 
explored and set-up different funding streams to ensure a sustainable mid to 
long term financial position.  

Local authorities are finding new ways to raise money (and reduce spend) by 
making investments and initiating projects that create profit to organisational 
continuity. 

East Herts council will:

 Move into other areas of business to raise revenue from new sources
 Find newer and more efficient ways of working
 Explore new ways of working with business and charity sector as an 

enabler, not just provider
 Invest for return in new ventures such as commercial property 

investments
 Do this with sensitivity to market conditions and operators not giving 

ourselves undue advantage within the market.

Vision statement 
For East Hertfordshire District Council to be an innovative authority that 
safeguards its future through maximising financial independence from 
government funding sources. It will do this by raising its own revenue through 
non-traditional ways and smarter spending.

Page 105



Essential Reference Paper B

Financial sustainability is about ensuring the council can continue to discharge 
its duties to the public whilst keeping a balanced and sustainable budget, 
proving itself a responsible custodian of the public purse.

Page 106



Project Management Toolkit
Business Case Template
Version 1.0

Essential Reference Paper ‘C’

Project Name Community Benefit Lottery

Project Manager Nathan Bookbinder

Version Version 1

Date 06/11/2017

Report To Executive 

REASON FOR PROJECT
The council faces increasing budgetary pressures while trying to maintain 
its role as a supporter of communities. 

As such the council is exploring new ways of supporting the community 
including a community benefit lottery.

As a supplement to our grants funding it provides a number of 
advantages.

The “DISCRETIONARY COMMUNITY GRANTS POLICY” report 
(18/07/17) states “It is anticipated that the process of allocating grants will 
become more proactive - as the council will take steps to raise awareness 
and identify need and potential additional/alternative grant funding 
sources.” 

This provides an alternative grant funding source.

BUSINESS BENEFITS TO BE GAINED FROM PROJECT
This would have a greater impact than the National Lottery as the National 
Lottery distributes 28p in the pound to good causes whereas the local 
authority lotteries distribute between 50- 60p. The consumer spend to 
grant ratio for the National Lottery is 99:1 so for every pound paid by the 
Big Lottery Fund to causes that benefit East Herts residents, residents are 
spending just under £100. 

The spend to grant ratio for local authority lotteries (which we would 
emulate) is 1.7:1, so £1.70 is spent for every £1 going to the benefit of 
local people. We would aim to replicate that ratio.  

The development of a local lottery would not affect the ability of local 
causes/groups to bid for national lottery funding.

Page 107



Project Management Toolkit
Business Case Template
Version 1.0

It would relieve additional budget pressures by having a supplementary 
source of grant funding for community groups/causes.

It empowers residents to more directly support local causes.

It ameliorates the necessary limits of our grant funding policy in that:

Community groups can be funded monthly rather than biannually. This 
means groups that miss the September or December window for funding 
have recourse to turn to. It also means that groups who find themselves in 
pressing financial need at a point when the biannual bidding window is too 
far away still have an option for support.  

It allows groups to gain funds over and above the cap of £3,000 (capital) 
or £8,000 (revenue) without having to make a specific appeal or adding 
pressure to council budgets. 

Specific Good Causes

This operates much the same as above with a key difference being that 
players can specify where they wish the majority of their ticket proceeds to 
go. 

Causes/community groups would set up pages on the lottery website that 
players would use. 

A portion of proceeds, for example 8p of the 58p, would go into a central 
pot that would be distributed by the council. These ensure that less well 
known causes aren’t left worse off.

Benefits

As with the generic benefits, in addition:

It even more empowers both individuals (players) and community groups 
by placing the onus on them. 

It reduces the time and resource required to administer funds to the 
majority of community groups. 

It would provide greater incentive for community groups to engage with the 
lottery and actively promote it to their networks, increasing the chance of 
success. 

 The risk to less well known charities losing funding opportunities is 
mitigated by the central pot.

Page 108



Project Management Toolkit
Business Case Template
Version 1.0

HOW ARE THE BENEFITS GOING TO BE REALISED

Through money distributed by the lottery according to player choice of 
good cause and/or council discretion.

COST AND TIMESCALE OF PROJECT

The project has no set-up cost and this is self-funding, as the project is 
about enabling communities to support the groups and projects that they 
value.

A working group would aim to set up the lottery by 1st June 2018. 

INVESTMENT APPRAISAL (Return on Investment/Value for Money)

There is no new money being requested to put in.

Page 109



Project Management Toolkit
Business Case Template
Version 1.0

Project Name Review of fees and charges

Project Manager Isabel Brittain 

Version Version 1

Date 06/11/2017

Report To Executive 

BACKGROUND AND REASON FOR PROJECT

The council faces increasing budgetary pressures while trying to maintain 
its role as a supporter of communities. 
As such the council is exploring new ways of raising revenue.
Increasingly councils are moving away from using historic prices to inform 
fees and charges, to understanding the true cost of providing or 
commissioning services and pricing accordingly, whilst recognising the 
service user’s need for the services being charged for, and their ability to 
pay. 

BUSINESS BENEFITS TO BE GAINED FROM PROJECT

Many councils that do decide to move towards a true full cost recovery 
charging policy do see relatively large increases in fees, for instance 
Harrow’s charging policy led to an average increase in fees for 
discretionary services rising by ~4%. There is potentially a large return for 
the council.

HOW ARE THE BENEFITS GOING TO BE REALISED

Income from fees and charges.

Increased fees and charges should be paired with a realistic commitment 
from that service to operate more efficiently and so there would be service 
benefits as well.

COST AND TIMESCALE OF PROJECT

The project has no set-up or on-going cost apart form officer time setting-
up. 

INVESTMENT APPRAISAL (Return on Investment/Value for Money)

Financial details would follow on from a review of fees and charges. 

Page 110



Project Management Toolkit
Business Case Template
Version 1.0

Risk to/from Plan Initial
Likelihood/ Impact

Mitigating Factors/Actions Residual
Likelihood/ Impact

Increased fees and 
charges are likely to be 
unpopular

High/medium Other councils have 
implemented this without too 
much controversy. Many 
accept that paying the real 
price for a given service is 
fairer than being subsidised.

Low/low

Page 111



Project Management Toolkit
Business Case Template
Version 1.0

Project Name Council Advertising Network

Project Manager Nathan Bookbinder

Version Version 1

Date 06/11/2017

Report To Executive 

BACKGROUND AND REASON FOR PROJECT

The council faces increasing budgetary pressures while trying to maintain 
its role as a supporter of communities. 

As such the council is exploring new ways of raising revenue.

The Council Advertising Network (CAN) enables local authorities to carry 
advertising campaigns from national and local brands that offer a 
community benefit across their websites. By combining scale with other 
authorities, Councils can get access to the UK’s largest advertisers, 
resulting in higher rates of return.
CAN only works with advertisers suitable for Council websites. As extra 
protection, each Council has the option to pre-approve advertisers and 
retrospectively remove any advert, for any reason.

BUSINESS BENEFITS TO BE GAINED FROM PROJECT

Income from advertising. Apart from officer time to set-up, the council 
bears no costs. 

Up to 20% of the advertising space can be retained for council messages - 
many use this within their economic development/business support 
strategies to allocate to local businesses (CAN only works with national 
advertisers).

HOW ARE THE BENEFITS GOING TO BE REALISED

Payments received from the council advertising network.

COST AND TIMESCALE OF PROJECT

The project has no initial or on-going cost. The only cost for this project is 

Page 112



Project Management Toolkit
Business Case Template
Version 1.0

in officer time setting-up.

INVESTMENT APPRAISAL (Return on Investment/Value for Money)

There is no new money being requested to put in.

Detailed likely income can be derived from CAN upon request if 
exploration of this idea in principle is approved.

Risk to/from Plan Initial
Likelihood/ Impact

Mitigating Factors/Actions Residual
Likelihood/ Impact

Adverts slow down the 
site

None/High CAN have a number of 
measures in place to ensure 
performance isn’t impacted. If 
an advert fails to load within 
0.02 seconds, a default ‘house-
ad’ will be served from an 
alternative ad server.

None/None

Security Risks None/High CAN does not gain access to 
the site. The advert is hosted 
via their site.

None/none

Adverts not compliant 
with website codes of 
conduct

Medium/high Most adverts are compliant but 
there is no legal requirement to 
be ‘compliant’. Hosting 
councils always retain the 
power of veto if they feel an 
advert isn’t compliant.

Low/none

Reputational damage to 
council from hosting 
inappropriate adverts

Medium/medium CAN was founded by 
Birmingham City Council and 
only works with public bodies, 
as such its whitelist of 
approved advertisers is built 
with political and public 
sensitives in mind. 
The council retain additional 
veto power.

Low/low

None/None

What if local residents 
dislike the changes to the 
website

Low/medium Councils who have held 
advertising for many years 
report zero complaints from 
local residents. In a recent 
consultation, one CAN member 
received 100% positive 
responses from local residents 
on the decision to pursue 
website advertising.

Low/None

Page 113



Project Management Toolkit
Business Case Template
Version 1.0

Project Name Council Advertising (Physical)

Project Manager Nathan Bookbinder

Version Version 1

Date 06/11/2017

Report To Executive 

BACKGROUND AND REASON FOR PROJECT

The council faces increasing budgetary pressures while trying to maintain 
its role as a supporter of communities. 
As such the council is exploring new ways of raising revenue.
Advertising brokers work with councils to find advertisers to be hosted for 
a fee on council assets.
These assets can include roundabouts, the sides of council buildings, 
vehicles etc. 

BUSINESS BENEFITS TO BE GAINED FROM PROJECT

Income from advertising. 

HOW ARE THE BENEFITS GOING TO BE REALISED

Payments received from the advertising broker.

COST AND TIMESCALE OF PROJECT

The project has no on-going costs. The only cost is in officer time setting-
up.

In some cases there may be set-up costs associated with erecting 
hoardings.  Set-up time is likely to be approximately six months.

The council will undertake a review of its potential advertising 
opportunities and present these to a potential broker. 

INVESTMENT APPRAISAL (Return on Investment/Value for Money)

An assessment of the council’s physical advertising infrastructure and 
hoarding needs to be undertaken once the broker has been contacted. 

Page 114



Project Management Toolkit
Business Case Template
Version 1.0

They will give an indicative assessment on return on investment.

Having contacted other councils and learned from their experiences, 
actual income should be assumed at ~60% of the broker’s projections 
(which do not take into account roundabouts that already have hoardings 
etc.)

Risk to/from Plan Initial
Likelihood/ Impact

Mitigating Factors/Actions Residual
Likelihood/ Impact

Reputational damage to 
council from hosting 
inappropriate adverts

Medium/medium There are brokers who only 
work with public bodies; as 
such their whitelist of approved 
advertisers is built with political 
and public sensitives in mind. 
The council retain additional 
veto power.

Low/low

None/None

The council spends on 
hoardings but doesn’t get 
a return

Low/Medium Thorough financial appraisal of 
the final business case will 
ensure we only go ahead if the 
financial case stacks up. 

Low/Low

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



EAST HERTS COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE – 28 NOVEMBER 2017

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT 
SERVICES

TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID YEAR REVIEW 2017-18

WARDS AFFECTED: NONE

Purpose/Summary of Report

 The report reviews the Council’s treasury management activities for 
the first 6 months of 2017/18 financial year, including the prudential 
indicators.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR EXECUTIVE:  that

(A) the comments of Performance, Audit and Governance 
Scrutiny Committee be received; and

(B) the Treasury management activity and prudential indicators 
for the first 6 months of the 2017/18 financial year be 
approved.

1 Background

1.1 Treasury management is defined as: ‘The management of the 
Council’s investments and cash flows, its banking arrangements, 
money market and capital transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with these activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
returns consistent with the Council’s risk management policy for 
treasury management.’

1.2 This activity is supported by the council’s appointed independent 
advisors – Link Asset Services (formally known as Capita Asset 
Services).

1.3 The Council is required by regulations under the Local 
Government Act 2003 to produce a treasury management mid-

Page 117

Agenda Item 9



year review of activities and prudential and treasury indicators for 
2017/18.

1.4 This report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
Prudential Code).

1.5 The Council is required by the CIPFA Prudential Code to approve 
a treasury management mid-year review describing the activity 
compared to the strategy.

2 Report

2.1 Please refer to the Treasury Management Mid-Year Review, 
Essential Reference Paper ‘B’: Treasury Management Mid-
Year Review 2017-18.

2.2 Updated interest rate forecast, provided by Link Asset Services 
following the recent increase in bank rate Essential Reference 
Paper ‘C’: Updated Interest Rate Forecast 07th November 
2017.

2.3 This report will be considered by the Performance, Audit and 
Governance Scrutiny Committee on 21 November 2017 and any 
comments made will be reported verbally to the Executive.

3 Implications/Consultations

3.1 Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated 
with this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper 
‘A’.

Background Papers
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (2011)
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (2013)

Contact Member: Councillor Geoffrey Williamson, Executive Member 
for Finance and Support Services.
geoffrey.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk

Contact Officers: Isabel Brittain, Head of Strategic Finance and 
Property, Tel: 01279 502050.
isabel.brittain@eastherts.gov.uk

Page 118

mailto:geoffrey.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:isabel.brittain@eastherts.gov.uk


Report Author: Nicola Munro, Finance Business Partner, Tel: 01279 
502044.  
nicola.munro@eastherts.gov.uk

Page 119

mailto:nicola.munro@eastherts.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives:

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities 

Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives 

Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy 

Consultation: Not Applicable 

Legal: The CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy) Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management recommends that members be updated on 
treasury management activities regularly (Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement, annual and midyear 
reports). This report therefore ensures this Council is 
implementing best practice in accordance with the Code.

The report fulfils the following legislative requirements:

 Reporting of prudential Indicators in line with the 
requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice.

 Reporting to those charged with governance a mid-
year treasury management report. 

 
Financial: Within the body of the report.

Human 
Resource:

Not Applicable 

Risk 
Management:

Within the body of the report.

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts:

Not Applicable 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Essential Reference Paper B

East Herts District Council

Treasury Management Mid-Year Review

2017/18

Page 123



Contents

1 Background……………………………..………………………………………………….. 2

2 Introduction and Recommendations…………………………………………………….2

3 Economics and interest rates…….………………………………………………………4

4 T. M. Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy update…………………6

5 The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)………………………………..6

6 Investment Portfolio ………..………………………..…………………………………….8

7 Borrowing………………………………………………………………………………… 9

8 Debt Rescheduling………..……………………………………………………………….. 10

9 Other…………………………………….…………………………………………………….10

APPENDIX 1: Borrowing………………….…………………………………………………………11

APPENDIX 2: Investments……………………………………………………………………..……12

APPENDIX 3: Detailed commentary on interest rate forecasts…………………………..……14

APPENDIX 4: Approved countries for investments……….………………………..……….…. 18

Page 124



1 Background
The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during the year will meet its 
cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management operations ensure this cash flow is adequately 
planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially 
before considering optimising investment return.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s capital plans.  
These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash 
flow planning to ensure the Council can meet its capital spending operations.  This management of longer 
term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, and on 
occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

Accordingly, Treasury Management is defined as:

“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit 
of optimum performance consistent with those risks.”

2 Introduction
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (revised 2011) is adopted by this Council. 

The primary requirements of the Code are as follows: 

1. Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which sets out the policies 
and objectives of the Council’s treasury management activities.

2. Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the manner in which 
the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives.

3. Receipt by the Full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement - including the 
Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-
year Review Report and an Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the 
previous year.

4. Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring treasury management 
policies and practices and for the execution and administration of treasury management decisions.

5. Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management strategy and policies to a 
specific named body.  For this Council the delegated body is Audit and Governance Committee: 

This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management, and covers the following:

 An economic update for the first part of the 2017/18 financial year;
 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy;
 The Council’s capital expenditure (prudential indicators);
 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2017/18;
 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2017/18;
 A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2017/18;
 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2017/18.

Key Changes to the Treasury and Capital Strategies 
There have been no key changes to the Treasury and Capital Strategies.

Page 125



3 Economics and interest rates 
3.1 Economics update provided by Link Asset Services (previously Capita 
Asset Service)
UK:  After the UK economy surprised on the upside with strong growth in 2016, growth in 2017 has been 
disappointingly weak; quarter 1 came in at only +0.3% (+1.7% y/y) and quarter 2 was +0.3% (+1.5% y/y) 
which meant that growth in the first half of 2017 was the slowest for the first half of any year since 2012.  .  
The main reason for this has been the sharp increase in inflation, caused by the devaluation of sterling after 
the referendum, feeding increases in the cost of imports into the economy.  This has caused, in turn, a 
reduction in consumer disposable income and spending power and so the services sector of the economy, 
accounting for around 75% of GDP, has seen weak growth as consumers cut back on their expenditure. 
However, more recently there have been encouraging statistics from the manufacturing sector which is 
seeing strong growth, particularly as a result of increased demand for exports. It has helped that growth in 
the EU, our main trading partner, has improved significantly over the last year.  However, this sector only 
accounts for around 11% of GDP so expansion in this sector will have a much more muted effect on the 
average total GDP growth figure for the UK economy as a whole.

The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meeting of 14 September 2017 surprised markets and forecasters 
by suddenly switching to a much more aggressive tone in terms of its words around warning that Bank Rate 
will need to rise. The Bank of England Inflation Reports during 2017 have clearly flagged up that they 
expected CPI inflation to peak at just under 3% in 2017, before falling back to near to its target rate of 2% in 
two years’ time. Inflation actually came in at 2.9% in August, (this data was released on 12 September), and 
so the Bank revised its forecast for the peak to over 3% at the 14 September meeting MPC.  This marginal 
revision can hardly justify why the MPC became so aggressive with its wording; rather, the focus was on an 
emerging view that with unemployment falling to only 4.3%, the lowest level since 1975, and improvements 
in productivity being so weak, that the amount of spare capacity in the economy was significantly 
diminishing towards a point at which they now needed to take action.  In addition, the MPC took a more 
tolerant view of low wage inflation as this now looks like a common factor in nearly all western economies 
as a result of increasing globalisation.  This effectively means that the UK labour faces competition from 
overseas labour e.g. in outsourcing work to third world countries, and this therefore depresses the 
negotiating power of UK labour. However, the Bank was also concerned that the withdrawal of the UK from 
the EU would effectively lead to a decrease in such globalisation pressures in the UK, and so would be 
inflationary over the next few years.

It therefore looks very likely that the MPC will increase Bank Rate to 0.5% in November or, if not, in 
February 2018.  The big question after that will be whether this will be a one off increase or the start of a 
slow, but regular, increase in Bank Rate. As at the start of October, short sterling rates are indicating that 
financial markets do not expect a second increase until May 2018 with a third increase in November 2019.  
However, some forecasters are flagging up that they expect growth to improve significantly in 2017 and into 
2018, as the fall in inflation will bring to an end the negative impact on consumer spending power while a 
strong export performance will compensate for weak services sector growth.  If this scenario were to 
materialise, then the MPC would have added reason to embark on a series of slow but gradual increases in 
Bank Rate during 2018. While there is so much uncertainty around the Brexit negotiations, consumer 
confidence, and business confidence to spend on investing, it is far too early to be confident about how the 
next two years will pan out.

EU.  Economic growth in the EU, (the UK’s biggest trading partner), has been lack lustre for several years 
after the financial crisis despite the ECB eventually cutting its main rate to -0.4% and embarking on a 
massive programme of QE.  However, growth picked up in 2016 and now looks to have gathered ongoing 
substantial strength and momentum thanks to this stimulus.  GDP growth was 0.5% in quarter 1 (2.0% y/y) 
and 0.6% in quarter (2.3% y/y).  However, despite providing massive monetary stimulus, the European 
Central Bank is still struggling to get inflation up to its 2% target and in August inflation was 1.5%. It is 
therefore unlikely to start on an upswing in rates until possibly 2019.

USA. Growth in the American economy has been volatile in 2015 and 2016.  2017 is following that path 
again with quarter 1 coming in at only 1.2% but quarter 2 rebounding to 3.1%, resulting in an overall 
annualised figure of 2.1% for the first half year. Unemployment in the US has also fallen to the lowest level 
for many years, reaching 4.4%, while wage inflation pressures, and inflationary pressures in general, have 
been building. The Fed has started on a gradual upswing in rates with three increases since December 

Page 126



2016; and there could be one more rate rise in 2017 which would then lift the central rate to 1.25 – 1.50%. 
There could then be another four more increases in 2018. At its June meeting, the Fed strongly hinted that it 
would soon begin to unwind its $4.5 trillion balance sheet holdings of bonds and mortgage backed 
securities by reducing its reinvestment of maturing holdings.

Chinese economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite repeated rounds of central 
bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. Major progress still needs to be made to eliminate excess 
industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property, and to address the level of non-performing loans in the 
banking and credit systems.

Japan is struggling to stimulate consistent significant growth and to get inflation up to its target of 2%, 
despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little progress on fundamental reform of the 
economy.

3.2 Interest rate forecasts 
The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services (Previously named Capita Asset Services), has 
provided the following forecast:

Capita Asset Services undertook its last review of interest rate forecasts on 9 August after the quarterly 
Bank of England Inflation Report.  There was no change in MPC policy at that meeting.  However, the MPC 
meeting of 14 September revealed a sharp change in sentiment whereby a majority of MPC members said 
they would be voting for an increase in Bank Rate “over the coming months”.  It is therefore possible that 
there will be an increase to 0.5% at the November MPC meeting. If that happens, the question will then be 
as to whether the MPC will stop at just withdrawing the emergency Bank Rate cut of 0.25% in August 2016, 
after the result of the EU withdrawal referendum, or whether they will embark on a series of further 
increases in Bank Rate during 2018.

Page 127



4 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy Update

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2017/18 was approved by this Council on 01 
March 2017.  

 There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the position in the light of 
the updated economic position and budgetary changes already approved.

Page 128



5 The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)
This part of the report is structured to update:

 The Council’s capital expenditure plans;
 How these plans are being financed;
 The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential indicators  and the 

underlying need to borrow; and
 Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity.

5.1  Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure
This table shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure and the changes since the capital 
programme was agreed at the Budget.  

The increase between Original and Revised estimates being slippage brought forward from 2016/17.  

5.2 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme  
The table below draws together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure plans (above), 
highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the capital programme, and the expected 
financing arrangements of this capital expenditure.  

Movement in capital receipts represents increased Council house sales.

5.3 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR), External Debt and the Operational Boundary

The table below shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur borrowing for a capital 
purpose.  It also shows the expected debt position over the period, which is termed the Operational 
Boundary. 

Capital Expenditure by Service

2017/18
Original
Estimate

£m

Position as at 
30-09-2017

£m

2017/18
Revised
Estimate

£m

Total capital expenditure 3.38 0.90 5.29

Capital Expenditure 2017/18
Original
Estimate

£m

2017/18
Revised
Estimate

£m
Total capital expenditure 3.38 5.29
Financed by:
Capital receipts 0.80 2.29
Capital grants 0.29 0.29
Capital reserves 0.12 0.12
Revenue 0.03 0.03

Total financing 2.14 2.56
Borrowing requirement 0 0

Page 129



Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement
The Council is currently in a negative CFR position.  We are almost on target to achieve the original forecast 
Capital Financing Requirement but the change to internal borrowing to fund capital slippage has resulted in 
an increase in the net movement.

Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary for external debt

* On balance sheet finance leases etc.

5.4 Limits to Borrowing Activity

2017/18
Original
Estimate

£m

2017/18
Revised
Estimate

£m
Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing 
Requirement

Opening CFR (23.3) (23.1)
Closing CFR (21.2) (20.5)

Net movement in CFR 2.1 2.6

Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary 
for external debt

7.5 7.5

Borrowing 7.5 7.5
Other long term liabilities* 0.0 0.0
Total debt  (year-end position) 7.5 7.5

Page 130



The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that over the medium term, 
net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only be for a capital purpose*.  Gross external borrowing 
should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional CFR for 2017/18 and next two financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early 
borrowing for future years.  The Council has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of need which will 
be adhered to if this proves prudent.  

* The management of transferred debt should be excluded from net borrowing. 

* Includes on balance sheet finance leases etc.

The Head of Strategic Finance and Property reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the current or 
future years in complying with this prudential indicator.  

A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing.  This is the Authorised Limit which 
represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and needs to be set and revised by Members.  It 
reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not 
sustainable in the longer term.  It is the expected maximum borrowing need with some headroom for 
unexpected movements. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government 
Act 2003. 

* Includes on balance sheet finance leases etc.

6 Investment Portfolio
In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of capital and liquidity, and to 
obtain an appropriate level of return which is consistent with the Council’s risk appetite.  As shown by 
forecasts in section 3.2, it is a very difficult investment market in terms of earning the level of interest rates 
commonly seen in previous decades as rates are very low and in line with the current 0.25% Bank Rate.  
The continuing potential for a re-emergence of a Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, and its impact on banks, 
prompts a low risk and short term strategy.  Given this risk environment and the fact that increases in Bank 
Rate are likely to be gradual and unlikely to return to the levels seen in previous decades, investment 
returns are likely to remain low.

The Council held £48.3m of investments as at 30th September 2017 (£41.8m at 31 March 2017) and the 
investment portfolio yield for the first 6 months of the year is 0.51% against a benchmark 6 months Libid 
uncompounded of 0.32 %.

2017/18
Original
Estimate

£m

2017/18
Revised
Estimate

£m
Borrowing 7.5 7.5
Other long term liabilities* 0.0 0.0
Total debt 7.5 7.5
CFR* (year-end position) (21.2) (20.5)

Authorised limit for external debt
2017/18
Original
Indicator

£m

2017/18
Revised
Indicator

£m
Borrowing 11.5 11.5
Other long term liabilities* 0.2 0.2
Total 11.7 11.7

Page 131



The Council also holds £20m, as long term investments, in two property funds which have produced an 
average net yield of 3.63% 

The Head of Strategic Finance and Property confirms that the approved limits within the Annual Investment 
Strategy were not breached during the first 6 months of 2017/18

The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2017/18 is £1,084k, performance for the year to date is on 
target to achieve budget, however with the recent increase in base rate it is hoped an improvement on short 
term rates could help investment return exceed budget.  

Investment Counterparty criteria

The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS is meeting the requirement of 
the treasury management function.  

7 Borrowing
The Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR) for 2017/18 is (£20.5m).  The CFR denotes the Council’s 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes.  If the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the 
PWLB or the market (external borrowing) or from internal balances on a temporary basis (internal 
borrowing).  The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally driven by market conditions.  The 
Council has a negative CFR position and external borrowings of £7.5m. 

It is anticipated that further borrowing will not be undertaken during this financial year.
The graph and table below show the movement in PWLB certainty rates for the first six months of the year 
to date:    

PWLB certainty rates 1 April 2017 to 30 September 2017

Page 132



8 Debt Rescheduling
Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic climate given the 
consequent structure of interest rates, and following the increase in the margin added to gilt yields which 
has impacted PWLB new borrowing rates since October 2010.  No debt rescheduling has therefore been 
undertaken to date in the current financial year.  

9 Other
1. Revised CIPFA Codes

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, (CIPFA), is currently conducting an exercise to 
consult local authorities on revising the Treasury Management Code and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes, 
and the Prudential Code. CIPFA is aiming to issue the revised codes during November.  

A particular focus of this exercise is how to deal with local authority investments which are not treasury type 
investments e.g. by investing in purchasing property in order to generate income for the authority at a much 
higher level than can be attained by treasury investments.  One recommendation is that local authorities 
should produce a new report to members to give a high level summary of the overall capital strategy and to 
enable members to see how the cash resources of the authority have been apportioned between treasury 
and non-treasury investments. Officers are monitoring developments and will report to members when the 
new codes have been agreed and issued and on the likely impact on this authority.

2. MIFID II

The EU has now set a deadline of 3 January 2018 for the introduction of regulations under MIFID II.  These 
regulations will govern the relationship that financial institutions conducting lending and borrowing 
transactions will have with local authorities from that date.  This will have little effect on this authority apart 
from having to fill in forms sent by each institution dealing with this authority and for each type of investment 
instrument we use apart from for cash deposits with banks and building societies.

Page 133



APPENDIX 1: Borrowing

Page 134



APPENDIX 2: Investments

Investment performance year to 30 September 2017   

Benchmark Benchmark Return (LIBID 
Uncompounded) Council Performance

7 day 0.11% 0.17%

1 month 0.13% 0.21%

3 month 0.18% 0.23%

6 month 0.32% 0.59%

12 month 0.53% 0.80%

APPENDIX 2: Investment Portfolio

Investments held as at 30 September 2016 compared to our 
counterparty list:

(Insert the Capita Asset Services investment report for 30 September 2016)

APPENDIX 2: Investment Portfolio

Investments held as at 30 September 2016 compared to our 
counterparty list:

Investments held as at 30 September 2016 compared to our counterparty list:

(Insert the Capita Asset Services investment report for 30 September 2016)

Page 135



APPENDIX 3: Approved countries for investments

Based on lowest available rating as at 30.9.17

AAA                     
 Australia
 Canada
 Denmark
 Germany
 Luxembourg
 Netherlands 
 Norway
 Singapore
 Sweden
 Switzerland

AA+
 Finland
 Hong Kong
 U.S.A.

AA
 Abu Dhabi (UAE)
 France
 U.K.

AA-
 Belgium 
 Qatar

Page 136



 

 

Part of Link Group 

Updated 
Interest Rate 
Forecast 
7th November 2017 

 

ERP C

Page 137



 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate Forecast • 2 

Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meeting 2 November 2017 

Our previous interest rate forecasts, updated on 9 August, contained this paragraph: - 

Our forecasts assume that there is no cancellation of the emergency cut in Bank Rate in August 
2016 from 0.50% to 0.25% and a stop to the Quantitative Easing (QE) programme in the shorter-
term.  There is a potential risk, and there has probably been some increase in this risk, that the MPC 
could muster a majority to simply reverse both and then pause for a further period before reaching 
a time when there is a progression to a sustained trend of gentle increases in Bank Rate. Our 
forecasts for both Bank Rate and PWLB rates would then need revision if both were to occur. 

Last week we saw two major developments: - 

1. After the MPC painted themselves into a corner with their words following their previous meeting 
on 14 September, it was a virtual certainty that Bank Rate would go up by 0.25% this time around. 
The MPC duly delivered on those words by a vote of 7-2 to remove the post EU referendum 
emergency monetary stimulus implemented in August 2016 by reversing the cut in Bank Rate at 
that time from 0.5% to 0.25%, (with no change in QE this time). In view of the robust rate of 
growth in the second half of 2016 which confounded the Bank’s August 2016 forecasts for a 
sharp slowdown, many commentators subsequently held the view that that emergency action 
was unnecessary. On the face of it, to now increase Bank Rate when economic growth in 2017 
in quarters 1 and 2 was so disappointingly weak, (0.2% and 0.3% respectively), can appear to 
be perverse. 

2.  The MPC also gave forward guidance that they expected to increase Bank Rate only twice more 
in the next three years to reach 1.0% by 2020.  This is, therefore, not quite the ‘one and done’ 
scenario but is, nevertheless, a very relaxed rate of increase prediction in Bank Rate in line with 
previous statements that Bank Rate would only go up very gradually and to a limited extent. 

The markets viewed this result as being more dovish than they had expected and sterling duly 
responded by falling 0.8% against the dollar and euro on the day. As this was the first increase in 
Bank Rate for a decade, the MPC was right to avoid alarming consumers and financial markets, and 
to be very reassuring about the pace of future increases.   

The quarterly Inflation Report itself, was notably downbeat about economic growth based on a view 
that the trend rate of growth for the economy has now fallen from 2.2% to only 1.5%, (whereas in 
the decade before the financial crash it grew at 2.9% p.a.).  One of the main focuses for this was a 
view that productivity growth would remain very weak at about only 1% p.a.  This does not augur 
well for increases in wage rates. This, in turn, is likely to feed through into weak domestically 
generated, (i.e. excluding the one off post referendum imported inflation through the fall in the value 
of sterling), price pressures underpinning CPI inflation.  Overall, the Inflation Report was little 
changed from the August report and again forecast that inflation would be barely above the 2% target 
at the three year time horizon; it is also expected to peak very soon at 3.2%, (September was 3.0%), 
before falling thereafter as the devaluation effect gradually falls out of the 12 month statistics.  As for 
forecasts for GDP growth, these also barely changed with growth falling from 1.7% to 1.6% for 2017 
and being unchanged for 2018 (1.6%) and 2019 (1.8%).  The MPC was also quite concerned about 
the situation over Brexit as there has been little significant agreement so far in terms of moving 
towards giving UK firms some confidence of what sort of trade terms the UK is likely to have with the 
EU from 2019.  They felt that this uncertainty was holding back investment.  The MPC’s forecasts 
are predicated on an assumption that households and companies base their decisions on a smooth 
adjustment to a new trading relationship with the EU.  

It has to be said that overall, this is really a quite pessimistic outlook for the UK economy. For some 
commentators, raising Bank Rate with such a weak outlook, did not sit easily together. However, the 
MPC’s main justification for taking action now to raise Bank Rate was that because unemployment 
was at the lowest rate for 42 years at only 4.3%, there was little spare capacity left in the economy, 
especially when increases in productivity were expected to be so weak and taking account of Brexit 
caused expected falls in net immigration. They also noted that consumer confidence has remained 
resilient and the global economy was growing strongly which would help UK exports. In addition, 
financial conditions were highly accommodative through the current level of monetary policy.  

Page 138



 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate Forecast • 3 

Accordingly, despite this weak outlook for GDP growth, they needed to take action now to ward off 
the potential for inflationary pressures to start building up.   

Link Asset Services forecasts 

The MPC made some obvious comments around the fact that the UK is going through a period of 
heightened uncertainty due, particularly, to the unknowns around how the Brexit negotiations will 
proceed and the likely effect on households and companies. They will adjust their responses 
according to how these turn out and in the light of how the economy progresses over the next two to 
three years.  We would agree with these qualifications.  Obviously, if the negotiations are very difficult 
and end up being disappointing, this could put in jeopardy even two Bank Rate increases over the 
next three years.  

We can only forecast given the current situation and have to flag up that there is a wide spread of 
potential outcomes during this forecast period. There is, therefore, a likelihood of heightened volatility 
as events actually unfold.  We would, however, refer clients back to our previous newsflash on 18 
September which explained how the strong causal link in western economies between falling 
unemployment and rising inflation, appears to be broken. This has led some commentators to raise 
the question as to whether we are now moving into a new paradigm of low unemployment at the 
same time as low inflation, where central bank policy targets of focusing primarily on inflation are 
beginning to be called into fundamental question. The example of Japan, which has struggled for 
some two decades to get inflation up to 2% despite massive repeated rounds of QE, is just one 
example. What will actually happen to wage inflation, therefore, remains a key issue.  If wage inflation 
continues to remain very subdued over the next two to three years, this will act as a significant 
headwind to the MPC justifying further increases in Bank Rate due to inflationary threats building up.  
However, it has in the past ‘looked through’ e.g. one off increases in inflation which it saw as a 
temporary occurrence; the MPC could, therefore, be flexible in implementing its mandate of focusing 
primarily on inflation. Alternatively, they could justify increases in Bank Rate as being primarily due 
to the need to simply remove monetary policy stimulus as this has caused massive distortions in the 
economy with asset prices e.g. share prices and house prices have been the main beneficiaries 
while savers have been the major losers through low interest rates. 

Our own forecasts are cautious and in line with this subdued path for increases in Bank Rate; we do 
not currently see inflation posing a significant threat over the next three years. We have 0.25% 
increases in November 2018 to 0.75%, 1.0% in November 2019 and 1.25% in August 2020.  This is 
much in line with market expectations. Our central assumption is that the UK will make progress with 
concluding a satisfactory outcome over the Brexit negotiations with the EU by March 2019, although 
the UK finance sector is likely to be an area of particular concern and difficulty. 

LINK ASSET SERVICES’ FORWARD VIEW  

Economic forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences weighing on the UK. Our 
Bank Rate forecasts, (and also MPC decisions), will be liable to further amendment depending on 
how economic data and developments in financial markets transpire over the next year. Forecasts 
for average earnings beyond the three year time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic and 
political developments. Volatility in bond yields is likely to endure as investor fears and confidence 
ebb and flow between favouring relatively more “risky” assets i.e. equities, or the “safe haven” of 
government bonds.  

The overall longer run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise, albeit gently.  A world economic 
recovery will likely see investors switching from the safe haven of bonds to equities.   

We have pointed out consistently that the Fed. Rate is likely to go up more quickly and more strongly 
than Bank Rate in the UK.  While there is normally a high degree of correlation between the two 
yields, we would expect to see a growing decoupling of yields between the two i.e. we would expect 
US yields to go up faster than UK yields.  We will need to monitor this area closely and any resulting 
effect on PWLB rates. 

• The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is probably to the downside, 
particularly with the current level of uncertainty over the final terms of Brexit.  

Page 139



 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate Forecast • 4 

• The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates are probably to the 
upside and are dependent on how strong GDP growth turns out, how quickly inflation pressures 
rise and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move forward positively.  

•  Our forecasts are predicated on an assumption that there is no break-up of the Eurozone or EU, 
(apart from the departure of the UK), within our forecasting time period, despite the major 
challenges that are looming up, and that there are no major ructions in international relations, 
especially between the US and China / North Korea, which have a major impact on international 
trade and world GDP growth. 

We would, as always, remind clients of the view that we have expressed in our previous interest rate 
revision newsflashes of just how unpredictable PWLB rates and bond yields are at present.  Our 
revised forecasts are based on the Certainty Rate (minus 20 bps) which has been accessible to most 
authorities since 1st November 2012.   

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include:  

• Bank of England monetary policy takes action too quickly over the next three years to raise Bank 
Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently 
anticipate.  

• Geopolitical risks, especially North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle East, which could 
lead to increasing safe haven flows.  

• A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, possibly Italy, due to its high level of 
government debt, low rate of economic growth and vulnerable banking system. 

• Weak capitalisation of some European banks. 

• The result of the October 2017 Austrian general election is likely to result in a strongly anti-
immigrant coalition government.  In addition, the new Czech prime minister is expected to be 
Andrej Babis who is strongly against EU migrant quotas and refugee policies. Both developments 
could provide major impetus to other, particularly former Communist bloc countries, to coalesce 
to create a major block to progress on EU integration and centralisation of EU policy.  This, in 
turn, could spill over into impacting the Euro, EU financial policy and financial markets. 

• Rising protectionism under President Trump 

• A sharp Chinese downturn and its impact on emerging market countries 

The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates, especially for 
longer term PWLB rates include: - 

• The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate and, therefore, 
allows inflation pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, which then 
necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently expect.  

• UK inflation returning to sustained significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation 
premium inherent to gilt yields.  

• The Fed causing a sudden shock in financial markets through misjudging the pace and strength 
of increases in its Fed. Funds Rate and in the pace and strength of reversal of QE, which then 
leads to a fundamental reassessment by investors of the relative risks of holding bonds, as 
opposed to equities.  This could lead to a major flight from bonds to equities and a sharp increase 
in bond yields in the US, which could then spill over into impacting bond yields around the world. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 140



 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate Forecast • 5 

  NOW Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 

BANK RATE 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 

3 month LIBID 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.90 0.90 1.00 1.20 1.20 1.20 

6 month LIBID 0.45 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.60 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.30 1.30 1.40 

12 month LIBID 0.65 0.70 0.80 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.60 

                                

5 yr PWLB 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.30 2.30 

10 yr PWLB 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 

25 yr PWLB 2.70 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.50 3.60 3.60 

50 yr PWLB 2.40 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.40 

 

BANK RATE now  previously  

Q4 2017 0.50% 0.25% 

Q1 2018 0.50% 0.25% 

Q1 2019 0.75% 0.25% 

Q1 2020 1.00% 0.75% 

Q1 2021 1.25%  N/A    

Our target borrowing rates and the current PWLB (certainty) borrowing rates are set out below. 

PWLB debt Current borrowing 
rate as at 7.11.17 

Target borrowing 
rate now (Q4 2017) 

Target borrowing rate 
previous (Q4 2017) 

5 year 1.51% 1.50% 1.50% 

10 year 2.07% 2.10% 2.20% 

25 year 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 

50 year 2.39% 2.50% 2.70% 

Borrowing advice: although yields have risen from their low points, yields are still around historic 
lows and borrowing should be considered if appropriate to your strategy. We still see value in the 
40yr to 50yr range at present but that view would be negated if Bank Rate does not climb to at 
least 2.5% over the coming years.  Accordingly, clients will need to review and assess their risk 
appetite in terms of any underlying borrowing requirement they may have, and also project forward 
their position in respect of cash backed resources. 

Any new borrowing should also take into account the continuing cost of carry, the difference 
between investment earnings and borrowing rates, especially as our forecasts indicate that Bank 
Rate may rise to only 1.25% by March 2021. 

Our suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for investments up to about three months’ 
duration in each financial year for the next seven years are as follows: - 

 

 

 

 

Page 141



 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate Forecast • 6 

Average earnings in each year Now Previously 

2017/18 0.40% 0.25% 

2018/19 0.60% 0.25% 

2019/20 0.90% 0.50% 

2020/21 1.25% 0.75% 

2021/22 1.50% 1.00% 

2022/23 1.75% 1.50% 

2023/24 2.00% 1.75% 

Later years 2.75% 2.75% 

As there are so many variables at this time, caution must be exercised in respect of all interest rate 
forecasts.  The general expectation for an eventual trend of gently rising gilt yields and PWLB rates 
is expected to remain unchanged.  Negative, (or positive), developments could significantly impact 
safe-haven flows of investor money into UK, US and German bonds and produce shorter term 
movements away from our central forecasts.   

Our interest rate forecast for Bank Rate is in steps of 25 bps whereas PWLB forecasts have been 
rounded to the nearest 10 bps and are central forecasts within bands of + / - 25 bps.  

Naturally, we continue to monitor events and will update our forecasts as and when appropriate. 

We will be updating our TMSS template reports to include these updated interest rate forecasts 
and commentary. 

Interest Rate Strategy Group 
0207 204 7624  

www.linkassetservices.com 

 

 

 

Whilst Link Asset Services makes every effort to ensure that all the information it provides is accurate and complete, it does not 
guarantee the correctness or the due receipt of such information and will not be held responsible for any errors therein or omissions 
arising there from.  All information supplied by Link Asset Services should only be used as a factor to assist in the making of a business 
decision and should not be used as a sole basis for any decision.  The Client should not regard the advice or information as a substitute 
for the exercise by the Client of its own judgement. 

Link Asset Services is a trading name of Link Treasury Services Limited (registered in England and Wales No. 2652033). Link Treasury 
Services Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority only for conducting advisory and arranging activities in 
the UK as part of its Treasury Management Service, FCA register number 150403. Registered office: 6th Floor, 65 Gresham Street, 
London, EC2V 7NQ. For further information, visit www.linkassetservices.com/legal-regulatory-status. 

 

Page 142



EAST HERTS COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE – 28 NOVEMBER 2017

QUARTERLY CORPORATE HEALTHCHECK – QUARTER 2 
SEPTEMBER 2017       

REPORT BY THE EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND 
SUPPORT SERVICES

WARD (S) AFFECTED: All

Purpose/Summary of Report:

 To provide a report on finance and performance monitoring for East 
Herts Council for 2017/18 as at 30th September 2017.

 The net revenue budget for 2017/18 is £9.335m as set out in table 1, 
this is funded by Council Tax. The forecast expenditure at 30th 
September 2017 predicts a year end overspend of £251k. This 
equates to 2.7% of that budget.

 The revised capital budget for 2017/18 is £5.287m. The forecast 
position shows a variance of £1.573m underspend. 

 There are 38 Performance Indicators reported corporately in total at 
Q2. Within the 28 indicators that have a target set against them, four 
have failed to meet their targets by varying degrees. Two results are a 
month in arrears due to sourcing from an external body. 

 Of the 11 Performance Indicators that are trend only data;- 
a) Five have improved compared to the previous reporting period
b) Five are in a worse position than the previous reporting period
c) One is a new indicator with no previous data to compare to.

 There are 44 corporate actions that East Herts Council committed to 
completing as set out within the Corporate Strategic Plan.  16 of those 
actions were completed within the 2017 calendar year.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR EXECUTIVE: That

(A) the projected revenue budget forecast overspend of 

Page 143

Agenda Item 10



£251k in 2017/18 be noted (paragraph 2.1);

(B) the capital budget forecast underspend of £1.573m be 
noted (paragraph 6.1);

(C) the reported performance and actions for the period July 
2017 to September 2017 be noted (paragraph 9); and

(D) the comments of Performance, Audit and Governance 
Scrutiny Committee be received (paragraph 1.5).

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 This is the finance and performance monitoring report for East Herts 
Council.

1.2 On 1st March 2017 Council approved a balanced budget for the 
2017/18 financial year. This report sets out the financial position for 
the year to date and provides forecasts for the outturn position.

1.3 The Councils revenue budget is made up of 5 areas; these are shown 
in table 1 below. The report that follows provides details of the 
forecast outturn position against these areas.

Table 1: 2017/18 revenue budget

  

Original 
Budget 
2017/18

Forecast 
outturn Variance

  £'000 £'000 £'000
     

Total Net Cost of Services  13,945  14,225  280 

Corporate Budgets Total   2,230  2,080 (150) 

Net Use of Reserves  (647) (647)  - 

Funding  (6,192) (6,071)  121 

Net Revenue Spend 9,335 9,647 251

Funded by Council Tax  (9,335) (9,335)  - 

Overspend   -  -  251 

Page 144



1.4 Council approved the performance measures that would be 
monitored. This report sets out the year to date performance against 
those targets.

1.5 The Performance, Audit and Governance Scrutiny Committee will 
consider this report on 21 November 2017 and any comments will be 
reported verbally to the Executive.

1.6 This report contains the following sections and Essential Reference 
Papers:

REPORT SECTIONS
2 Net Cost of Services
3 Corporate budgets
4 Reserves
5 Funding
6 Capital budgets
7 Medium Term Financial Plan
8 Debtors
9 Performance analysis

10 Corporate Actions
11 Implications/Consultations

  
ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPERS

A Implications/Consultations
B Revenue budget
C Capital Monitor
D Debtors, aged debt profile
E Performance monitoring
F Corporate Action Update

2 NET COST OF SERVICES

2.1 The Councils net cost of services budget for 2017/18 is £13.945m
An over spend of £280k is forecast in 2017/18. Table 2 below shows 
this current forecast outturn position broken down by service area. 

Page 145



Table 2: Revenue forecast outturn

   

Original 
Budget 
2017/18

Forecast 
outturn Variance

   £'000 £'000 £'000
      

Chief Executive & Directors  490 498  8 

Communications, Strategy 
& Policy  1,000 995 (5) 

HR & Organisational 
Development  505 503 (2) 

Strategic Finance & 
Property  1,402 1,633  231 

Housing & Health  2,470 2,392 (78) 

Democratic and Legal  1,206 1,335  129 

Planning & Building Control  855 904  49 

Operations  4,312 4,295  (17) 

Shared Revenues & 
Benefits Service  1,694 1,701  7 

Revenues & benefits 
retained costs (371) (422) (51) 

Housing Benefit Subsidy  (866) (866)  - 

Shared Business & 
Technology Services  1,273 1,283  10 

Capital Salaries  (26) (26)  - 

N
et

 C
os

t o
f S

er
vi

ce
s

Total Net Cost of Services    13,945    14,225 280 

2.2 There are a number of budgets where there is a risk of overspend or 
underachievement of income. Officers continue to work to reduce 
those funding gaps throughout the year to ensure that the final outturn 
position remains in budget. Initiatives currently underway include a 
review of all vacant posts and the necessity to fill them prior to 31st 
March 2018. Heads of Service have also agreed to a review of all 
service specific spend ensuring that all purchases are challenged and 

Page 146



considered essential in delivering current services. This work will also 
form part of the work currently being undertaken to set the 2018-19 
Medium Term Financial Plan.

 Details of the larger variances are shown below:

2.3 Strategic Finance and Property

2.3.1 Not unexpectedly, a current predicted overspend £231k in Strategic 
Finance and Property relates to the depressed rental income of 
Charringtons House and the fixed costs from units that are currently 
vacant.  Officers are currently exploring alternative shorter term 
accommodation options to attract potential tenants.

2.4 Housing and Health

2.4.1 There is a forecast underspend of £78k across Housing and Health. 
This is the result of a £91k underspend arising from vacancies to 
posts created in the new structure being filled later than anticipated 
net of agency costs incurred, offset to some extent by income from 
taxi, licensed premises and gambling establishment licences being 
predicted to be 4.7% lower at year end than assumed in the annual 
budget, that is, just under £13k below budget.
 

2.5 Democratic and Legal

2.5.1 As reported previously, following revisions in work practices in order 
to comply with the statutory requirements of the Electoral Register 
and the workload and costs required to ensure compliance, current 
projections estimate a forecast overspend of £65k in Democratic 
Services. These costs will be built into the base budget for 18/19.

2.5.2 There are increased salary costs of £47k in Democratic and Legal 
Services due to additional staffing costs. These costs are one off and 
will not recur in 18/19.

2.6 Planning 

2.6.1 The planning service area has recently undergone a restructure 
process, seeking to ensure that it is able to deliver the significant 
amount of development which will come forward following the 
adoption of the District Plan.  Whilst recruitment is taking place to new 
posts in the service, interim staffing is being utilised to deal with some 
current workloads which is leading to the current predicted overspend 
of £25k.  This is part of the overall £49k overspend shown in table 2

Page 147



2.7 Operations

2.7.1 As reported previously, the resale price for dry recyclables, coupled 
with additional gate fees has had a significant impact on the income 
projections for 2017/18. Contaminated loads have also led to a 
reduced income levels. Officers are seeking to mitigate the impact of 
these issues by distributing leaflets to households and using pickers 
to sort the recyclables.

2.7.2 The income projected on season tickets at Bishops Stortford car parks 
is forecast to be £51k less than budgeted. This relates to the number 
of tenants currently in Charringtons House where parking has been 
temporarily suspended due to the creation of the new temporary car 
park.    

2.7.3 There is an increase of £30k in the cleansing contract due to the 
requirement of additional resources to respond to fly tipping incidents.  
Officers are working to identify offenders and recoup costs.

2.7.4 Additional income of £74k is predicted relating to an increase in trade 
refuse business. 

2.7.5 Hertford theatre is forecasting additional income of £23k which relates 
to an increase in ticket sales.

2.8 Shared Business and Technology Services

2.8.1 An overspend of £10k is reported against the BATS shared service. 
This relates to increased costs in respect of cyber security and 
additional software licences. 

3 CORPORATE BUDGETS

3.1 Corporate budgets are costs and income received by the Council that 
are not service specific, these include income from the Council’s 
investments, pension deficit contributions and New Homes Bonus 
grants to Town and Parish Councils.

3.2 Table 3 below shows the forecast outturn position against the 
corporate budgets. 

Page 148



Table 3: Corporate budgets 2017/18 forecast outturn

4 RESERVES

4.1 The Council holds earmarked reserves to fund unpredictable financial 
pressures and to smooth the effect of known spending over time. 
Graph 1 and 2 below reflect the forecast outturn position as at 30th 
September 2017.

4.2 Funding from reserves will offset expenditure shown in section 2 of 
this report whilst a contribution to reserves will be shown as income in 
the revenue forecast outturn.

  

Original 
Budget 
2017/18

Forecast 
outturn Variance

  £'000 £'000 £'000
     

NHB Grants to Town & Parish 
Council  890 890 0

NHB Priority Spend  890 890 0

Contingency Budget  150 0 (150)

Interest Payments  662 662 0

Interest & Investment Income  (1,084) (1,084) 0

RCCO  26 26 0

Pension Fund Deficit contribution  696 696 0

Corporate Budget Total  2,230 2,080 (150)

Page 149



Graph 1: 2017/18 forecast contributions from reserves

0 100 200 300 400 500

Transformation reserve

Local Plan reserve

New Homes Bonus - Priority Spend Reserve

MTFP transition funding reserve

House condition survey

Collection fund reserve

Traffic Reg Order consolidation 

General Reserve

Provision for Election Reserve

Defra Flood Support for Local Businesses Grant 

Commercial Property Fund

2017/18 forecast outturn £'000 2017/18 Budget £'000

2017/18 contributions from reserves

4.3 As at 30th September 2017 it is forecast that there will be a total 
contribution from reserves of £1.756m in 2017/18 this is £252k higher 
than approved as part of the 2017/18 budget setting process. The 
significant variances are reported in the following paragraphs.

4.4 The transformation reserve was created to fund transitional staffing 
costs and service improvements. The total use of reserve is £84k 
above the 2017/18 budget, these items were agreed after the 
2017/18 budget was approved at full Council. This includes:

 £75k funding for costs relating to Leisure Development project, 
approved in 2016/17 not included in the original 2017/18 
budget.

 £10k to fund the procurement review costs
 £10k to fund additional staff costs in Community Wellbeing 

section
 £22k to fund the agency costs for the HR systems temporary 

role
 £19k to fund the employee rewards and benefits scheme ‘My 

Rewards’ provided by HR
 (£51k) reduction in the use of reserve to fund planning staff 

cost due to a higher estimate during the budget process.

Page 150



4.5 The New Homes Bonus – Priority spend reserve was established 
from unspent New Homes Bonus monies and is utilised to fund items 
agreed by Leadership Team and Executive. The use of this reserve is 
£29k below budget, these items were approved after the 2017/18 
budget was approved at full Council. The main items are: 

 (£103k) reduction in the use of reserve to fund East Herts 
contribution to Public Health projects.

 (£10k) reduction in the use of reserve to fund the Wenta ‘My 
Incubator’ project as it does not provide good value for money.  
Officers are reviewing other providers.

 £25k for the implementation of the new financial system
 £14k to fund East Herts Digital Transformation projects.
 £49k to fund the development of the Business Improvement 

District project.

4.6 The Commercial Property Fund reserve is used to support the 
development of investment opportunities in commercial property. The 
costs funded from the reserve in 2017/18 are:

 Development of a housing company
 Cost associated with Old River Lane development including a 

project manager.

£200k of revenue expenditure for the above items will be funded from 
this reserve in 2017/18. These items where approved after the 
2017/18 budget was approved at full Council in March 2017.

4.7    £240k will be used from the Housing Benefits equalisation reserve to 
offset the forecast variance in Housing Benefits subsidy received in 
2017/18.

Page 151



Graph 2: 2017/18 forecast contributions to reserves

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1,000

Housing condition Survey

Provision for future whole council elections

New Homes Bonus Priority Spend

Traffic Reg Order consolidation 

MTFP transition funding reserve

NPG

DCLG Homelessness grant

2017/18 forecast outturn £'000 2017/18 Budget £'000

2017/18 contributions to reserves

4.8 The forecast outturn total contribution to reserves has decreased by 
£10k to £1.057m from the 2017/18 budgeted position. This is due to 
the budgeted Neighbourhood Planning Grant being utilised in 
2017/18 and not transferred to reserves.

5 FUNDING

5.1 These income budgets are general and non-service specific income 
sources. The table below shows the value and source of these 
funding streams as at 30th September 2017.

Page 152



Table 4: 2017/18 funding

Original 
Budget 
2017/18

Forecast 
Funding  
2017/18

Variance

Council Tax    (9,335)    (9,335)               
- 

NDR & S31    (2,570)    (2,495)          75 

Deficit on collection fund         408          454            46 

RSG       (351)       (351)               
- 

New Homes Bonus    (3,559)    (3,559)               
- 

Transition Grant       (120)       (120)               
- 

Total Funding  (15,527)  (15,406)          121 

5.2 The variance against the original budget shown above, in relation to 
Non Domestic Rates, is due to timing differences between the setting 
of the Council’s budget and the statutory return to central government 
which forms the basis of the Councils income for 2017/18. The 
original budget is set before Christmas while the NNDR1 (statutory 
return) is submitted at the end of January. This year’s budget setting 
was impacted by the business rates revaluation and the subsequent 
provisions and adjustments required in respect of business rate 
appeals. 

5.3 Section 31 grants are those given direct from central government. 
The movement in the grants in the table above are to offset the 
impact on local government of reliefs that government has granted to 
business rate payers.

6 CAPITAL PROGRAMME

6.1 The total 2017/18 capital budget is £5.287m this includes a carry-
forward of £1.899m underspend from 2016/17. As at 30th September 
2017 there is a £1.573m underspend. Details of the movements 
against budget that make up this underspend can be found in the 

Page 153



following paragraphs.

6.2 The 2017/18 capital forecast expenditure is summarised in Table 5 
below. Essential Reference Paper C sets out the detailed forecast 
on each scheme.

Table 5: Capital forecast outturn

 
2017/18 
Original 
Budget          

 
2017/18 
Revised 
Budget    

 
2017/18 

Total  
to Date            

 2017/18 
Forecast 
Outturn   

 
Variance 
between 
Forecast 
Outturn 

& 
Revised 
Budget                   

 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
Strategic Finance & 
Property

         
315 

         
622 

         
340          702            80 

Shared Business & 
Technology Services

         
540 

      
1,198 

         
350       1,022       (176) 

Operations          
617 

         
784 

           
80          561       (223) 

Housing & Health       
1,819 

      
2,073 

         
311       1,138       (935) 

Planning & Building 
Control

           
97 

         
570 

         
180          263       (307) 

Communications, Strategy 
& Policy 0 40 0 28 (12)

Total 3,388 5,287 1,261 3,714    (1,573) 

6.3 An £80k overspend is predicted against the capital schemes that sit 
under the Head of Strategic Finance and Property. This includes;

 An estimated £600k for demolition of  1 The Causeway building. 
Work commenced on 3rd April 2017 following planning 
permission. This will be funded from the Capital Receipts 
Reserve. 

 Underspend of £330k against the rolling programme for planned 
maintenance of operational buildings

 Underspend of £156k against the refurbishment for 
Charringtons House capital scheme. Planned works will be 
funded from revenue budgets however, should the work prove 
to be more extensive then additional funding maybe drawn from 
this budget.

 Underspend of £25k for refurbishment works to be carried out at 
Grange Paddocks pool.  This is due to reprogramming of 

Page 154



maintenance works by the leisure management company.  
Scheme to slip into 2018/19

 Underspend of £10k due to refurbishing pool pumps instead of 
replacing at Fanshawe swimming pool

6.4 An underspend of £935k is reported against the capital schemes 
under Housing and Health. This main area of underspend in this area 
is;

 Capital resources held for future social housing schemes of 
£821k remaining unallocated. New affordable housing is 
typically funded by developers through section 106 
agreements. The council’s resources arising from s106 
commuted sums are then a secondary funding source which 
the council has yet to draw upon in full.  It is recommended that 
these funds are placed in a reserve while priorities for their use 
are identified.   

6.5 An underspend of £223k is reported against the capital schemes 
under Operations. These include;

 The capital budget for Castle Weir Micro Hydro Scheme 
remains forecast to be largely unspent (£189k).  A business 
case review is currently underway to assess if the flood 
modelling analysis work, required for this scheme, can be 
undertaken in house, through investment in software and staff 
training. This business case review will be completed this year. 
Once this has been completed the results would need to be 
submitted to the Environment Agency for approval therefore 
scheme will not be fully completed this financial year. 

 Energy grants are forecast to be underspent by £58k.  A report 
on new home energy measures will go to Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee for consideration in December and if measures are 
approved this budget may be spent in this financial year

6.6 An underspend of £307k is reported against the capital schemes 
under the Planning service. There is a delay in the procurement 
phase for this project to make improvements to The Wash, 
Maidenhead Street & Bull Plain in Hertford.  This funding will be 
carried forward into 2018/19.

6.7 A full review of the programme will be undertaken during Quarter 3 to 
ensure that projects within the programme are delivering the expected 
outcomes from when they were agreed. This process will help to form 

Page 155



the programme for 2018/19 onwards. An update on this process will 
be included in the Quarter Three Health check report. 

7. Medium Term Financial Plan update on progress

7.1 Officers are currently undertaking the initial work for the production of 
the 2018/19 Medium Term Financial Plan.  As the main funding 
contributions from Central Government disappear in 2018/19 and the 
uncertainties around Business Rates Retention cast doubts around 
Local Government funding on a year by year basis, the theme of 
financial sustainability becomes of greater importance. Work on a 
Financial Sustainability Policy and the key initiatives to support it will 
ensure that East Herts has a firm basis on which to develop ideas and 
initiatives to address future years funding gaps.

7.2 The timetable for the Medium Term Plan is shown below and sets out 
the engagement of all stakeholders within the organisation and the 
importance of a transparent, inclusive process.

Budget 2018/19 Timetable

w/c 13 November 
2017

Budget Holder Challenge meetings with Finance

w/c 20 November 
2017

Member briefings initially Executive and followed by all

30 November 2017 Final budget submissions & savings provisionally agreed
7th December 2017 Informal PAG – all members to be invited 

December 2017 MTFP 2018/19- 2021/22 & budget report produced
Deadline for 2018/19 Budget Report to LT on 18 December 2017 to include:
 Capital Programme
 Fees and Charges 2018/19 
 Service Budgets - Forecast Outturn for 2017/18, Revenue Budget 2018/19

13 December 2017

 Consolidated Budget Report and 2018/19 – 2021/22 Medium Term Financial Plan
18 December 2017 LT meeting for 2018/19 Budget report

3 January 2018 Deadline for 2018/19 Budget Report to Performance, Audit & Governance on 16th 
January 2018:

16 January 2018 Performance, Audit & Governance meeting for 2018/19 Budget report
24 January 2018 Deadline for 2018/19 Budget Reports to Executive on 6th February 2018:
6 February 2018 Executive meeting to agree 2018/19 Budget report

15 February 2018 Deadline for Council Tax Resolution to Council.
15 February 2018 Deadline for 2018/19 Budget report to Council

1 March 2018 Council to consider and approve the 2018/19 Budget.
1 March 2018 Council to approve the 2018/19 Council Tax.

Page 156



8. DEBTORS

8.1 Total Outstanding debt as at 30th September 2017 is £1.45m. This is 
a 15% decrease from the previous quarter.

8.2 The outstanding debt over 120 days old totals £714k. Of this debt, 
and as reported previously, over 90% relates to disputed invoices 
where negotiations are ongoing to collect the debt owed on a complex 
lease arrangement for a property ground lease in Bishop’s Stortford. 
The remainder of the debts over 120 days are invoices relating to 
environmental health enforcement, where a charge is held against 
property to pay the debt once the property is sold, or housing debts 
where repayments are being made with a payment plan over several 
months.

8.3 Essential Reference Paper D analyses the profile of aged debtors.

9. PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

Performance against targets

9.1 Summaries of performance can be found below however please refer 
to Essential Reference Paper E for the full performance indicator 
analysis.  Our latest results can be found on the online browser which 
has been rebranded from Covalent to Pentana Performance. 
Members have been issued with a password to access these results, 
which can be found in the MIB.

9.2 Q2 analysis shows 38 performance indicators. These indicators 
demonstrate the performance against our three corporate priorities, 
and supporting all three priorities.  

9.3 Three performance indicators will cease to be reported after Q2, for 
reasons detailed within the corporate priorities  

9.4 Corporate Priority 1: Improve the Health and Wellbeing of our 
Communities (9 performance indicators) summary

 MEHPI 5.13b -  % of Good satisfaction (GovMetric) - telephone

Page 157



Traditionally we have very few customers who provide feedback via 
this channel. The automated telephone answers customers hear 
when they dial the Main Switchboard (01279 655261) was amended 
to include better advertising of this survey at the end of the call.  The 
current volume and score includes a number of test calls to ensure 
each customer variation worked properly.  As a result, this month’s 
figures should not be considered valuable, but hopefully this script 
change will encourage greater feedback going forward.

There are also some amendments to how the following two indicators 
will be reported going forward:

 QEHPI 140 -  Number of over 50s participating in 'Forever 
Active' programme

After review, it was decided that the figure reported would provide 
more value if it was cumulative over the year rather than setting a 
target for each quarter.  As a result, across the year, we are on 
schedule to hit our annual target. 

 QEHPI 150 -  Number of prevented homeless applications

As above, the indicator adds more value as a cumulative figure 
across the year so targets have been amended to reflect this.

The one performance indicator remaining is a trend indicator (EHPI 
151 - Number of homeless households living in temporary 
accommodation at the end of the quarter) which is showing a 
negative movement from the last quarter.  Whilst the relevant team 
will be able to assist with providing accommodation, there are many 
external factors that may lead to the occurrence in the first place.  
This indicator is monitored closely but has been relatively consistent 
since monitoring began 

9.5 Corporate priority 2: Enhance the quality of people’s lives (13 
performance indicators summary

 EHPI 2.2 – Waste: missed collections per 100,000 collections 
of household

Missed collections marginally missed the target of 30 again despite 
the dramatic improvement in August. This is under constant review 
and monitoring with our contractors.

Page 158



There were also some amendments to collection methods:

 QEHPI 149c – % of Affordable homes delivered on section 106 
developments in Towns

The target associated with this indicator was removed going forward 
to make it trend only indicator.  This was because a 40% target was 
set across the year, so unless every housing scheme was 40% 
affordable, the indicator would fail by default.  The 40% target is also 
not set by Housing and Health, it is governed by Planning Policy so 
cannot be changed once agreed.  The indicator will now read ‘QEHPI 
149c% of Affordable homes delivered on section 106 
developments in TOWNS against an annual 40% cumulative 
Planning Policy target’.  Currently, this sits at 32%

Within the three remaining trend only indicators, one was a new 
indicator with no previous data, one was in a better position than the 
previous reporting period and the remaining, MEHPI 191 Residual 
household waste per household, is a cumulative indicator across 
the year. 

Year on year, waste per household has marginally increased but this 
was against 2016/17 levels which were the best observed since the 
indicator was reported.  The kg difference year on year has 
decreased since the last reporting period (August) so this is an 
improving picture

9.6 Corporate priority 3: Enable a flourishing local economy (4 
performance indicators) summary
                                

 QEHPI 32 - % of planned premises licencing enforcement 
visits due that were undertaken

This indicator has been discontinued as the methodology for visiting 
changed in April from a routine schedule to a risk based / complaints 
based approach. Planned premises enforcement visits will no longer 
take place and providing a figure for this gave very little value or 
insight to the council. The council will continue to monitor other 
licencing features and manage the performance of this within the 
service.

The two trend only indicators both showed downward trends on the 
previous quarter.  They provide an insight into the state of our local 
economy of which East Herts has some influence over, however 

Page 159



there are again many external factors influencing these changes.  

Both of these trend only indicators (QEHPI 11a - Number of active 
Businesses with their registered office in East Herts & QEHPI 
11b Number of active Businesses with their registered office % 
and trading address in East Herts) were provided by FAME, a 
business database that was funded for three years by HCC. This 
agreement ended in August, with the final results provided on the 
15th September. Purchasing this system ourselves was not viable so 
East Herts will look at alternative measures of how our local economy 
is progressing, such as measuring vacancy rates.

9.7 Corporate priority: Supporting all priorities (12 Performance 
Indicators) summary

 MEHPI 8 – % of invoices paid on time

The target was marginally not been met this month (by 1.27%) and 
this is due largely to outstanding invoices from Community Safety 
and Health.  

 EHPI 5.1 – % of complaints resolved in 14 days or less

As per previous quarter, 68% of complaints were resolved within 14 
days (10 working days) meaning the target was narrowly missed by 
2%.  This indicator is being closely monitored following four failed 
targets across the last five quarters.

 % of FOI cases closed in month that were closed within 20 
working days or less

The number of FOI cases closed within 20 working days failed 
marginally during September, achieving 85.8% against a 90% target.  
This was largely down to some long standing FOI cases that were 
closed in September but opened in previous months.  Each Head of 
Service now receives weekly emails outlining outstanding FOI cases 
hence there is greater awareness and accountability

Data for one of the target indicators (EHPI 12C -Total number of 
sickness absence days per FTE staff in post) has been 
unavailable for a number of months due to the installation of a new 
HR system.  The long term aim is that figures will be able to be 
extracted easily from this system; however, the installation of this 

Page 160



phase of the software has not occurred as yet.  All figures will be 
back dated when figures become available.

The remaining four being trend only indicators. The trend indicators 
are all showing positive trends.

10.    CORPORATE ACTIONS UPDATE

 Please see Essential Reference Paper F for full details of 
corporate actions. 

10.1 There are 44 corporate actions that East Herts Council committed to 
completing as set out within the Corporate Strategic Plan.   16 of 
those actions were completed within the 2017 calendar year. Of the 
16 completed, seven were completed in advance of their due dates. 

A further 16 of these actions are due to be completed before the end 
of the financial year.   The remaining 12 actions are due to complete 
on or after April 1st 2018

10.3 Only two actions were overdue within the original time scales set:

10.4 Formerly Known as KA.40 “Implement the Council 
Environmental Crime Strategy and associated Public Space 
Protection Orders (PSOPs)” 

The Environmental Enforcement Pilot was completed in October 
2017. Litter enforcement function carried out within the Operations 
service only.

10.5 Formerly known as KA.30 “Provision of efficient, easy to use 
telephony facilities to access services and for staff to have the 
tools required to support efficient working”. 

Project is overdue due to resource issues (staff departure).  Phase 1 
is on track for weekend of 21st Oct. Phase 2 is due to start end of 
October. 

11. IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS

Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated with 

Page 161



this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper A.

Background papers:
None

Contact Member:
Councillor Geoff Williamson – Executive Member for Finance and Support 
Services 
geoffrey.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk

Report authors:
Isabel Brittain – Head of Strategic Finance and Property
Ext: 2050
isabel.brittain@eastherts.gov.uk 
Ben Wood – Head of Communications, Strategy and Policy
Ext: 1699
benjamin.wood@eastherts.gov.uk

Contact Officers:
For financial budget monitoring:
Nasir Miah – Finance Business Advisor
Ext: 2054 
nasir.miah@eastherts.gov.uk
For performance monitoring:
Noel Wallis – Insight & Improvement Analyst
Ext: 2146
noel.wallis@eastherts.gov.uk

Page 162

mailto:geoffrey.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:isabel.brittain@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:nasir.miah@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:noel.wallis@eastherts.gov.uk


 
  

ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’ 

 

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS 

 
Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives 
(delete as 
appropriate): 

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities  
 
Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives  
 
Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy  

 

Consultation: Financial and non-financial discussions have taken place 
with the Leadership Team and Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Support Services. 
 

Legal: There are no legal implications. 
  

Financial: Financial implications are included in the body of the 
report. 

Human 
Resource: 

There are no Human Resources implications. 
 

Risk 
Management: 

By not having effective performance management and 
reporting the Council is at risk of not being clear whether 
its priorities and objectives are being met and service 
delivery issues being resolved efficiently and effectively. 
Effective performance management supports 
transparency and improves local accountability. 
 

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts: 
 

There no Health and Wellbeing issues raised as part of 
this report. 

 
 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



2017/18 Revenue Forecast - Month ending September 2017

Original 

Budget 

2017/18

Budget to 

date

Actual to 

date

Variance to 

date

Forecast 

outturn
Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Chief Executive & Directors              490              243                39            (204)              498                   8 

Communications, Strategy & Policy           1,000              548              251            (297)              995                (5) 

HR & Organisational Development              505              252              102            (150)              503                (2) 

Strategic Finance & Property           1,402              712              552            (160)           1,633              231 

Housing & Health           2,470           1,374                23         (1,351)           2,392              (78) 

Democratic and Legal           1,206              602              129            (473)           1,335              129 

Planning & Building Control              855              586                   1            (585)              904                49 

Operations           4,312           2,746              362         (2,384)           4,295              (17) 

Shared Revenues & Benefits Service           1,694           1,616              485         (1,131)           1,701                   7 

Revenues & benefits retained costs            (371)                59              (32)              (91)            (422)              (51) 

Housing Benefit Susbidy            (866)         17,378         16,103         (1,275)            (866)                   - 

Shared Business & Technology 

Services
          1,273              637              795              158           1,283                10 

Capital Salaries              (26)              (26)                   -                   -              (26)                   - 

Total Net Cost of Services         13,945         26,727         18,810         (7,943)         14,225              280 

 NHB Grants to Town & Parish 

Councils
             890                   -                   -                   -              890                   - 

New Homes Bonus Priority Spend              890                   -                   -                   -              890                   - 

Contingency Budget              150                   -                   -                   -                   -            (150) 

Interest Payments              662                   -                   -                   -              662                   - 

Interest & Investment income         (1,084)                   -                   -                   -         (1,084)                   - 

RCCO                26                   -                   -                   -                26                   - 

Pension Fund Deficit contribution              696                   -                   -                   -              696                   - 

Corporate Budgets Total:           2,230                   -                   -                   -           2,080            (150) 

Contributions to Earmarked reserves              177                   -                   -              177                   - 

Contributions from Earmarked 

reserves
           (824)                   -                   -            (824)                   - 

Net Use of Reserves:            (647)                   -                   -                   -            (647)                   - 

        15,528         26,727         18,810         (7,943)         15,658              130 

RSG            (351)                   -                   -            (351)                   - 

NDR         (2,048)                   -                   -         (1,592)              456 

Section 31            (522)                   -                   -            (903)            (381) 

(Surplus)/Deficit on Collection fuind              408                   -                   -              454                46 

Other General Grants            (120)                   -                   -            (120)                   - 

New Homes Bonus         (3,559)                   -                   -         (3,559)                   - 

        (6,192)                   -                   -                   -         (6,071)              121 

          9,335         26,727         18,810         (7,943)           9,587              251 Total:

N
e

t 
C

o
s

t 
o

f 
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 B

u
d

g
e

ts
U

s
e

 o
f 

R
e

s
e

rv
e

s

Net Cost of Services Total:

F
u

n
d

in
g

Non Departmental Budgets Total:

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Essential Reference Paper C

Original 

Completion 

Date

Expected 

Completion 

Date

2017/18 

Original 

Budget         

2016/17 

Slippage              

2017/18  

Amend-

ments  

2017/18 

Revised 

Budget   

2017/18 

Total spend 

+ 

commitmen

t to Date           

2017/18 

Forecast 

Outturn  

Variance 

between 

Forecast Outturn 

& Revised 

Budget                  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

3,388 1,899 0 5,287 1,261 3,714 (1,573)

RP - ROLLING PROGRAMME

Head of Strategic Finance & Property
Hartham Swimming Pool - Refurbishment of Pool Filters to ensure 

the efficiency of the pools filtration plant operation & to maintain 

the pools water quality

Dec-16 Dec-17 RED 0 25 25 0 25 0 GREEN Works to be done Xmas closure 2017.  

Fanshawe Swimming Pool - Replace Pool Circulating Pumps Dec-13 2017/18 RED 20 20 0 10 (10) RED Pumps to be refurbished rather than replaced, therefore, 

saving will be achieved.

Fabric improvements to Swimming Pools Not known Jun-17 20 20 21 21 1 GREEN Works completed, awaiting final invoices

Grange Paddocks Pool - to treat laminated timber beams to 

ensure they are properly protected from high humidity & chemicals 

used in the treatment of the pool water

Dec-17 Dec-17 GREEN 25 25 0 0 (25) RED Works were planned for Xmas closure 2017, however, scheme 

to slip due to SLM re-programming associated plant 

maintenance works. 

OPERATIONAL BUILDINGS

Rolling programme for planned preventative capital maintenance 

of operational buildings

RP RP 240 100 2 342 0 12 (330) RED Budget in place to allow appropriate schemes to go forward 

upon provision of appropriate business case.  Asset 

Management Group to be re-instated, with delegated authority 

to agree new bid proposals.

Hertford Theatre - Flood Alleviation Works to Sump Pumps - To 

modify the existing sump pump installation to reduce the likelihood 

of any future flooding of the Theatre

Aug-16 2017/18 RED 0 16 (16) 0 0 0 0 GREEN 1
st
 phase of works completed, 2

nd
 phase may not now be 

required.  Budget transferred to rolling programme & any 

future works to be funded from rolling programme budget.

Replacement of Chairs & Desks RP RP 10 10 3 10 0 GREEN

Charringtons House 2nd Floor Suite Refurbishment 0 0 GREEN

Maximise return from Council assets by generating rental income 

& business rates income from Charringtons House for the Council 

once the suite is refurbished

Apr-16 2017/18 RED 0 156 156 0 0 (156) GREEN There is a programme of works being undertaken to remodel the 

building but these will be funded from other sources and at this 

stage we are unlikely to need the remainder of this budget.  Should 

the work prove to be more extensive than currently anticipated 

then we may need to draw on some of it at a later date.

Demolition 1 The Causeway, B/S Jul-17 Oct-17 RED 315 600 600 Funded from Commercial Property Fund. Car Park works to 

commence 23.10.17

CCTV at Wallfields GREEN 0 14 14 0 14 0 GREEN Additional cameras needed for security measures, drawn 

down from rolling programme. Quotes received 

North Drive, Ware - reconstruct road & drainage Mar-10 Mar-18 RED 0 10 10 1 10 0 GREEN Developer close to finishing drainage works for new 

development. Second planning application in for development 

of further land off North Drive so money held until this 

determined

Total Strategic Finance & Property 315 307 0 622 340 702 80

2017/18 CAPITAL MONITORING SEPTEMBER 2017

2017/18 Approved Schemes
Project 

RAG Status
COMMENTS

TOTAL

Outturn 

RAG Status

KEY: Project RAG status: Green = on schedule; Amber = 1-3 months delay; Red = over 3 months delay KEY: Outturn RAG status: Green = up to 10% variance; Amber = 10-50% variance; Red = over 50% variance

P
age 167



Essential Reference Paper C

Original 

Completion 

Date

Expected 

Completion 

Date

2017/18 

Original 

Budget         

2016/17 

Slippage              

2017/18  

Amend-

ments  

2017/18 

Revised 

Budget   

2017/18 

Total spend 

+ 

commitmen

t to Date           

2017/18 

Forecast 

Outturn  

Variance 

between 

Forecast Outturn 

& Revised 

Budget                  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2017/18 Approved Schemes
Project 

RAG Status
COMMENTS

Outturn 

RAG Status

0

Replacement Infrastructure RP RP 35 40 375 450 71 271 (179) AMBER SHARED SCHEME w/Stevenage BC

Implementation of new data centre hardware to improve 

performance and resilience in preparation for an increased 

reliance on technology. Additional funding to enable 

capitalisation of salaries, allowing recruitment of agency staff 

to support Business As Usual. Will need to slip £180k as this 

will be needed to refresh the hardware associated with the 

desktop envieonment. Before making this spend, a review 

needs to be taken place on how to deliver this service to 

ensure it's fit for purpose going forward - particularly thinking 

about a more mobile workforce and needs associated with the 

new building. Further £200k to be spent this year on UPS 

devices, new backup hardware & new server storage 

hardware
New HR & Payroll System Jul-17 0 22 41 63 15 63 0 GREEN SHARED SCHEME w/Stevenage BC

Core HR and Payroll went live in Apr-17. Additional modules 

and reporting services are now being implemented with 3rd 

party support.
New Finance System Jan-18 125 110 235 196 235 0 GREEN Implementation now underway, with target completion of Jan-

18

New Asset Management System Sep-16 Mar-18 RED 0 14 14 10 14 0 GREEN System is the next in line for implementation following the 

upgrade of Uniform to v10. Ongoing implementation due for 

completion in 2017/18.

Client Equipment RP RP 0 20 20 0 20 0 GREEN Budget used to service new and replacement equipment 

needs identified within year. 

Audio & Visual Equipment Council Chamber Wallfields 0 5 5 10 9 10 0 GREEN Alternative solution identified

Audio & Visual Equipment Hertford Theatre 0 0 0 0 0 GREEN Scheme was scheduled for completion in 2016/17, small 

overspend this year

Exchange 2013 0 39 15 54 26 54 0 GREEN SHARED SCHEME w/Stevenage BC

Migration to an updated email platform that is shared with 

SBC. Additional funding to enable capitalisation of salaries, 

allowing recruitment of agency staff to support Business As 
ICON: Migration to be Hosted 0 11 11 2 11 0 GREEN Drawn down from rolling programme

Telephony Enhancements Sep-17 Sep-17 0 75 75 6 75 0 GREEN SHARED SCHEME w/Stevenage BC

Project to relocate and upgrade the Mitel phone system. 

Includes moving to a new SIP provider. Additional funding to 

enable capitalisation of salaries, allowing recruitment of 

agency staff to support Business As Usual.

Cyber Security Mar-18 Mar-18 0 95 95 0 95 0 GREEN SHARED SCHEME w/Stevenage BC

A number of our existing security solutions need to be revisited 

to ensure our Cyber Risks are being effectively mitigated. 

Additional funding to enable capitalisation of salaries, allowing 

recruitment of agency staff to support Business As Usual.

Revenues and Benefits Mobile Working 12 12 15 15 3 AMBER Implementation of mobile working solution included in the 

Capita contract.

Land Charges Textual Data 20 20 0 20 0 GREEN Improve data quality to enable efficiencies through search 

automation.

Drawn down from RP

Rolling programme to be utilised on ICT projects subject to ITSG 

review 

RP RP 380 417 (658) 139 0 139 0 GREEN Remaining £139k funding to be used to support deliver of 

Digital East Herts programme

540 658 0 1,198 350 1,022 (176)Total Shared Business & Technology Services

Head of Shared Business & Technology Services

KEY: Project RAG status: Green = on schedule; Amber = 1-3 months delay; Red = over 3 months delay KEY: Outturn RAG status: Green = up to 10% variance; Amber = 10-50% variance; Red = over 50% variance

P
age 168



Essential Reference Paper C

Original 

Completion 

Date

Expected 

Completion 

Date

2017/18 

Original 

Budget         

2016/17 

Slippage              

2017/18  

Amend-

ments  

2017/18 

Revised 

Budget   

2017/18 

Total spend 

+ 

commitmen

t to Date           

2017/18 

Forecast 

Outturn  

Variance 

between 

Forecast Outturn 

& Revised 

Budget                  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2017/18 Approved Schemes
Project 

RAG Status
COMMENTS

Outturn 

RAG Status

Car Park Management System - To implement a cost effective car 

park management system for the Council to manage its car parks 

for the next 10 years

Sep-16 Apr-17 RED 0

34

34 37 52 18 RED 5% retention still likely to be paid, however, due to poor 

contractor performance in a number of areas, this decision has 

yet to be made. Legitimate recharge of 50% of relevant capital 

and revenue costs in Jackson Square MSCP to the landlord 

will eliminate the current overspend.
Waytemore Castle, Bishops Stortford - Open space improvements 

and historical conservation work 

Sep-20 169 169 169 0 GREEN We are on target with this project and are currently completing 

the procurement process for the main contracts which we 

should be awarding this month.  The new community 

engagement officer is in post and the stakeholder meetings 

are ongoing.  HLF satisfied with progress report, all major 

contracts are now tendered.  Consultation with the public 

proceeds through October and started with BSTC Members.

Refurbishment of Hertford Theatre Café/Bar

The layout, design and equipment provision is in need of upgrade 

in order to meet the needs of our customers and maximise the 

potential for revenue generation

Sep-16 Aug-17 RED 18 18 24 24 6 AMBER Completed during summer closure

Hertford Theatre replacement of 6 lighting hoists 0 0 GREEN Old year invoice

Bell Street, Sawbridgeworth - Modernise the public convenience 

facilities, in preparation for transferring the operation to 

Sawbridgeworth Town Council under an agency agreement

Sep-15 2017/18 RED 67 67 0 67 0 GREEN Various meetings held with Sawbridgeworth Town Council & 

HOS to discuss future proposals. Project may go ahead during 

2017/18.

Hartham Pavilion Refurbishment - Replace public toilets, 

redevelop existing café area, create functional changing area for 

footballers & incorporate meeting/training room. (Note 2)

Dec-15 Feb-17 RED 0 0 0 0 GREEN Old year invoice still o/s

Play Area Grange Paddocks, B/S - Install new play area, to include 

new activity equipment & surfacing. New footpath & installation of 

new seating. (Note 6)

Mar-17 Mar-17 0 0 0 0 GREEN Completed,  5% retention fee to be paid. 

Hertford & Beyond 30 30 19 30 0 GREEN Hertford and Beyond - creation of walking routes eminating 

from Hertford Town centre providing health and well being 

opportunities.  Will include waymarked routes supported by 

interpretation boards, maps and leaflets and footpath 

improvements in EHC parks.  Follows on from the success of 

Southern Country Park and Beyond. CMS are applying for 

external funding to support the project. 
Play Equipment - Rowleys Road, Hertford 20 20 0 20 0 GREEN Refurbishment of equipment in response to previous play 

audit.

Woodland restoration at Presdales Recreation Ground, Ware - 

Installation of a circular walk, car park improvements & woodland 

restoration. (Note 3)

Mar-18 85 85 0 85 0 GREEN This is in the programme to be completed by end of financial 

year 17/18

Hartham Common, Hertford - Potential projects include 

development of water play area, improvements to car parking & 

pedestrian access (Note 8)

25 25 0 25 0 GREEN This project is to be delayed & reviewed in 2017/18 pending 

decisions on plans for the leisure centre. The play area 

revamp is still an important improvement but may benefit from 

being considered as part of a larger project. A draft brief has 

been created & is ready to modify in line with any new 

objectives. 

Pishiobury Park, Sawbridgeworth - Wetland Habitat Project - 

improvements to boardwalk/paths permitting safe access to the 

wetland area of the park

Mar-13 Oct-17 RED 12 12 0 12 0 GREEN Agreement with fishing club has now been found. Bat, 

ecological and tree surveys completed.  Project design is 

compete and EA approval has been applied for. Stakeholders 

are on board and works are planned through October to 

January.

Energy Efficiency & Carbon Reduction Measures - Installation of 

solar panels at Wallfields, Hertford

Mar-12 2017/18 RED 45 45 0 45 0 GREEN Project awaiting programming within property work plan but it 

is currently aniticipated that the project can be completed this 

financial year.

Head of Operations

KEY: Project RAG status: Green = on schedule; Amber = 1-3 months delay; Red = over 3 months delay KEY: Outturn RAG status: Green = up to 10% variance; Amber = 10-50% variance; Red = over 50% variance

P
age 169



Essential Reference Paper C

Original 

Completion 

Date

Expected 

Completion 

Date

2017/18 

Original 

Budget         

2016/17 

Slippage              

2017/18  

Amend-

ments  

2017/18 

Revised 

Budget   

2017/18 

Total spend 

+ 

commitmen

t to Date           

2017/18 

Forecast 

Outturn  

Variance 

between 

Forecast Outturn 

& Revised 

Budget                  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2017/18 Approved Schemes
Project 

RAG Status
COMMENTS

Outturn 

RAG Status

Castle Weir Micro Hydro Scheme - To provide a small Hydro-

electricity turbine in the river Lee at Hertford Weir.  This is an 

invest to save project and will generate electricity providing power 

for Hertford Theatre and for sale to the Grid.  The scheme is 

subject to a rigorous approval process by the Environment Agency 

for flood risk and protection of biodiversity.

Mar-12 2018/19 RED 201 201 0 12 (189) RED Health and Housing are taking opportunity to undertake a 

wider business case review to determine if it is possible for this 

and future flood modelling analysis work to be undertaken in-

house which may also achieve revenue generating 

opportunities if  it proves possible to offer a wider external 

service. A range of modelling software is being examined.  

Hydro project will form a significant part of the initial in-house 

modelling and once software/ staff training undertaken, hydro 

modelling can be completed. After modelling complete, it will 

be submitted to Env Agency for draft approval. Officers are 

hopeful that scheme delivery will move forward this year, 

official consents permitting, although scheme will not  be 

completed this financial year. Periodic meetings with local 

ward members to update them on progress continue to be 

held.
Energy Grants RP RP 20 58 78 0 20 (58) RED We have a Member Task and Finish Group taking place which 

will consider home energy measures with a report to Overview 

Scrutiny on 12 December where it is the intention to take a 

report on new grant proposals - these will be for considerably 

more expensive measures which would then utilise the budget. 

However, clearly once approved it only gives us 3 months to 

spend so will be tight for this year , but very much dependent 

on what members agree.

0

617 167 0 784 80 561 (223)Total Head of Operations

KEY: Project RAG status: Green = on schedule; Amber = 1-3 months delay; Red = over 3 months delay KEY: Outturn RAG status: Green = up to 10% variance; Amber = 10-50% variance; Red = over 50% variance

P
age 170



Essential Reference Paper C

Original 

Completion 

Date

Expected 

Completion 

Date

2017/18 

Original 

Budget         

2016/17 

Slippage              

2017/18  

Amend-

ments  

2017/18 

Revised 

Budget   

2017/18 

Total spend 

+ 

commitmen

t to Date           

2017/18 

Forecast 

Outturn  

Variance 

between 

Forecast Outturn 

& Revised 

Budget                  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2017/18 Approved Schemes
Project 

RAG Status
COMMENTS

Outturn 

RAG Status

(0)

Community Capital grants - to provide the right tools for people to 

get involved with projects that improve facilities such as green 

spaces or community buildings – inspiring ownership and pride.  

RP RP 125 125 13 56 (69) RED 3 outstanding grant commitments remaining (1 from 15/16 and 

2 from 16/17); these will be claimed by end of Dec 2017.   

Note: spending this budget is always dependant on successful 

applicants being able to complete their project within the 1 

year time frame.    15 applications for capital funding were 

received by 2 Oct and the fund was oversubscribed.    Next 

round closes 22 Dec.   

Future Social Housing Schemes 821 821 0 0 (821) RED No current commitments.  First priority is to spend S106 sums 

which have been collected for affordable housing.

Gladstone Road, Ware (Network Homes) 39 39 0 39 0 GREEN Grant to be paid to Network Homes - fully funded from S106 

commuted sum. To build 10 affordable housing units. Scheme 

should be completed by early 2018. 50% paid when work 

commenced on site & 50% on completion.  

Private Sector Improvement Grants

Disabled Facilities RP RP 530 215 745 246 745 0 GREEN Work underway on new HIA with planned "go live" in October 

2017.  The referal rate is projected to increase as a result of 

the new HIA for this year and subsequent years.

In addition alternative projects are being looked at for 

spending increase in BCF allocation.

All funding is to be transfered to the new HIA and East Herts 

will monitor spend.

Disabled Facilities - Discretionary RP RP 60 60 0 15 (45) RED We are profiling an increase in the number of DFGs because 

of the new HIA, however likely spend this year is projected to 

be lower than subsequent years. 

This money will remain with East Herts after the HIA is up and 

running.

Decent Home Grants RP RP 120 120 3 120 0 GREEN Assistance policy is being reviewed, to increase the scope of 

works that the money can be spent on.  It is too early to profile 

this budget, once the new policy is agreed, we will have a 

better understanding of likely spend.  

Capital Salaries RP RP 26 26 0 26 0 GREEN

River & Watercourse Structures - Improve, maintain & renew 

structures along rivers and watercourses to alleviate possible 

flooding throughout the district.

RP RP 48 39 87 49 87 0 GREEN Programme of works underway.

Land Management Programme - Land Management Asset 

Register & Associated Works

RP RP 50 50 0 50 0 GREEN Programme of works underway.

0 0

1,819 254 0 2,073 311 1,138 (935)

Head of Housing & Health

Total Housing & Health

KEY: Project RAG status: Green = on schedule; Amber = 1-3 months delay; Red = over 3 months delay KEY: Outturn RAG status: Green = up to 10% variance; Amber = 10-50% variance; Red = over 50% variance

P
age 171



Essential Reference Paper C

Original 

Completion 

Date

Expected 

Completion 

Date

2017/18 

Original 

Budget         

2016/17 

Slippage              

2017/18  

Amend-

ments  

2017/18 

Revised 

Budget   

2017/18 

Total spend 

+ 

commitmen

t to Date           

2017/18 

Forecast 

Outturn  

Variance 

between 

Forecast Outturn 

& Revised 

Budget                  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2017/18 Approved Schemes
Project 

RAG Status
COMMENTS

Outturn 

RAG Status

0

Head of Planning 0

Historic Building Grants - Enable grants to be offered to the 

owners of historic buildings to encourage their maintenance and 

upkeep.

RP RP 55 (3) 52 27 52 0 GREEN Claimants have 6 months from grant offer date to complete 

works. Maximum payment now £2,000. However, if a grant is 

approved for a property on the Buildings at Risk Register, 

maximum payment will be £10,000.  

Improvements to The Wash, Maidenhead Street & Bull Plain, 

Hertford

476 476 153 169 (307) RED The procurement phase for this project is not scheduled to be 

complete until end March ’18 so the remaining £306k in the 

budget, that has not currently been committed, will not be 

spent until 18/19. 

Market Improvement Scheme 2017/18 42 42 0 42 0 GREEN Options appraisal for markets went to Community Scrutiny 

March 2017 - preferred option was to  work with town councils 

to transfer the management of markets service subject to 

formal Members approval. Now to be included as part of wider 

HUDS (Herts Urban Design Scheme)

Total Planning 97 473 0 570 180 263 (307)

Device Responsive Template - Revised website templates 

including new navigation, enhanced accessibility and device 

responsiveness

Sep-16 Sep-17 RED 12 12 0 0 (12) RED It is unlikely we will spend the £11k capital for website 

templates. Reality is that we are looking at smaller pieces of 

work to support the on-going development of the w/site which 

would total £10k but likely to be composed of smaller 

transactions of <£5k. 

Environmental Enhancements to East Herts town centres Not known RED 28 28 0 28 0 GREEN This scheme was expected to complete last year but there 

have been delays in the delivery of the Tudor Square project 

by Ware Town Council. Further delays encountered, including 

delays relating to challenges from Herts Highways on the 

proposals, which the Town Council are addressing. No 

delivery date as of yet.

0 40 0 40 0 28 (12)
Total Communications, Strategy & Policy

Head of Communications, Strategy & 

Policy

KEY: Project RAG status: Green = on schedule; Amber = 1-3 months delay; Red = over 3 months delay KEY: Outturn RAG status: Green = up to 10% variance; Amber = 10-50% variance; Red = over 50% variance

P
age 172



Year Debtor Raised BAL O/S BAL O/S BAL O/S BAL O/S BAL O/S BAL O/S BAL O/S BAL O/S

Qtr2 15/16 Qtr3 15/16 Qtr4 15/16 Qtr1 16/17 Qtr2 16/17 Qtr3 16/17 Qtr1 17/18 Qtr2 17/18

2004/05 195.00         180               165.00              150.00                   135.00                      120.00                    90.00                 75.00                    

2008/09 1,780.00      1,720            1,660.00          1,600.00                1,540.00                   1,480.00                 1,360.00           1,300.00               

2009/10 1,456.39      1,384            558.00              456.00                   380.00                      310.00                    210.00               130.00                  

2010/11 2,699.00      2,618            2,005.00          1,744.00                1,180.00                   1,039.00                 777.00               676.00                  

2011/12 17,691.49    9,341            7,987.22          7,678.22                7,354.22                   7,045.22                 6,077.08           5,987.08               

2012/13 125,097.16  119,606       118,505.14      117,801.14           117,648.60              117,506.60            117,275.74       117,128.74          

2013/14 153,976.34  153,655       151,124.40      149,949.22           147,232.10              147,107.30            146,707.70       146,432.90          

2014/15 136,943.43  130,216       124,627.53      122,485.71           120,780.18              120,681.18            120,643.38       119,665.70          

2015/16 ########## 1,217,492    1,019,900.02  228,551.72           163,696.49              162,721.31            160,109.40       159,877.19          

2016/17 -                -                -                    582,929.44           905,951.17              694,238.07            163,258.28       143,621.59          

2017/18 1,028,111.05   763,531.88          

TOTAL 1,978,592    1,636,213    1,426,532        1,213,345              1,465,898                 1,252,249               1,744,620         1,458,426             

#REF! #REF! #REF! #REF! #REF! 1,394,806.77

583,784.79

Essential Reference Paper D

The following graph shows the Council's aged debt by year that the debt was raised. This position is shown for the most recent period and the 

preceding 7 periods. The debt outstanding as at 30th September 2017 is £1.45m

The following graph shows the age of the £1.45m of debts outstanding as at 30th September 2017

<30 days 30-60 days 60-90 days 90-120 days >120 days

Debtors 565,627 88,707 13,408 67,755 714,368

 -

 100,000

 200,000

 300,000

 400,000

 500,000

 600,000

 700,000

 800,000

£
 

Aged debtors as at 30th September 2017 

 -

 200,000.00

 400,000.00

 600,000.00

 800,000.00

 1,000,000.00

 1,200,000.00

 1,400,000.00

 1,600,000.00

 1,800,000.00

 2,000,000.00

Qtr2 15/16 Qtr3 15/16 Qtr4 15/16 Qtr1 16/17 Qtr2 16/17 Qtr3 16/17 Qtr1 17/18 Qtr2 17/18

Analysis of aged  debt  by year 

2017/18

2016/17

2015/16

2014/15

2013/14

2012/13

2011/12

2010/11

2009/10

2008/09

2004/05

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

MEHPI 132 % of 

full applications 

for Disabled 

Facilities Grant 

approved within 7 

weeks.

100% 95%

2017/2018 Qtr 2 - Target exceeded. 100% of 

housing grant applications processed within 

target times. This represents 20 approved in 

target times since April 2017.

QEHPI 140 

Number of over 

50s participating 

in 'Forever Active' 

programme.

716 648
Cumulative 

Figure

Provisional results indicate 187 new 

people have signed up during this quarter; 

however as per previous quarters notes, this 

is reported in calendar year and figures are 

collected from Sports England half yearly so 

our initial figure is an estimated figure at this 

stage.  On course to exceed our annual target 

comfortably

 QEHPI 141 East 

Herts residents & 

East Herts Council 

employees 

registered with 

Team Herts 

Volunteering 

scheme

78 50
Cumulative 

Figure

78 individuals signed up, including those 

signed up for the volunteering newsletter

Service: Health & Housing

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

Directorate Improve the health & wellbeing of our communities

P
age 175



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

QEHPI 151 

Number of 

homeless 

households living 

in temporary 

accommodation at 

the end of the 

quarter.

trend 

only
19 none set

At the end of September 2017 the council 

had 19 households in temporary 

accommodation . The council owned 

temporary accommodation hostel had 11 out 

of 12 flats occupied. One household was in 

B&B as they were unsuitable for the hostel. 

Five households were in temporary supported 

accommodation and two were in longer term 

private leased self contained accommodation. 

This remains a low number in temporary 

accommodation despite an increase in this 

quarter 

QEHPI 150 

Number of 

prevented 

homeless 

applications

119 100
Cumulative 

Figure

In the second quarter the council prevented 

54 households becoming homeless. This was 

by a variety of housing options: by the 

provision of housing advice to relieve 

homelessness or securing alternative 

accommodation through an offer of 

accommodation following an application to 

the council's housing register, or following a 

referral to supported accommodation or 

actively assisting applicants secure 

accommodation through the private sector 

with the council's rent deposit offer.  

Service: Revs & Bens

P
age 176



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

MEHPI 181 Time 

taken to process 

Housing Benefit 

new claims and 

change events.

10.84 

days

12.00 

days
Current Figures are well within targets

MEHPI 5.13a % 

Good Satisfaction 

(GovMetric) - Face 

to Face.

83% 80%

169 of 204 gave a 'good' score during Q2, 

giving a score of 83%. A further 5% gave a 

neutral score with only 12% providing a 

negative score

Service: Communications, Strategy & Policy

P
age 177



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

MEHPI 5.13b % 

Good Satisfaction 

(GovMetric) - 

Telephone.

67% 90% N/A

The telephone script was altered which 

resulted in more customers being made 

aware of the Survey at the end of the call. As 

part of this change, there was a great deal of 

testing and this included testing the scenarios 

for Good, average and Poor scores. 

Therefore, this months scores cannot be 

relied upon. From next month, scores will be 

accurate and reflect our customers.

MEHPI 5.13c % 

Good Satisfaction 

(GovMetric) - 

Website.

45% 35%

38 of 54 gave a 'good' score during Q2, 

giving a score of 45%. A further 5% gave a 

neutral score with 50% providing a negative 

score.

Service: Health & Housing

Directorate Enhance the quality of people's lives

P
age 178



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

HEHPI 148 

Number of 

applicants on the 

housing register 

broken down by 

demand for 

property sizes.

trend 

only
2,048 N/A new indicator

There are currently 2,048 households on the 

Housing Register. This is broken down by 

property size needed as follows: 1 bed need - 

1,074; 2 bed need - 649; 3 bed need - 266; 

4+ bed need - 59. The total household figure 

is up very slightly from the 2,026 households 

on 1 April 2017.

QEHPI 149c% of 

Affordable homes 

delivered on 

section 106 

developments in 

Towns against an 

annual 40% 

cumulative 

Planning Policy 

target

trend 

only
32% N/A

So far this year, two sites have been 

delivered with the 40% target, with the third 

being delivered at 27%.  This scheme was 

agreed at below 40% as it was designated an 

enabling site for Hertford Regional College 

redevelopment of their Ware campus.  The 

cumulative % of affordable homes achieved is 

therefore 32% at this stage

QEHPI 149d % of 

Affordable homes 

delivered on 

section 106 

developments in 

Villages

0% 0%

No village affordable homes were handed 

over or due to be handed over in this quarter 

or the previous quarter.  This was expected 

and was reflected in the targets.  This target 

may be considered in the same way as 149c 

going forward and will depend on if key 

schemes are built within the next two 

quarters.

P
age 179



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

QEHPI 155 

Number of 

affordable homes 

delivered (gross)

51 47
cumulative 

Figure

A total of  51 new affordable homes were 

delivered in the first and second quarters of 

2017/18.   There were 41 affordable rented 

homes, nominated to applicants on the 

council's housing register,  and 10 shared 

ownership homes.    The primary source of 

new affordable homes for 2017/18 is through 

Section 106 agreements between the council, 

developers and housing associations.    The 

schemes with affordable homes are 

monitored, with our partner housing 

associations, by the council's housing team. 

QEHPI 64 Number 

of private sector 

vacant dwellings 

that are returned 

into occupation or 

demolished 

(Cumulative 

figure)

9 7
cumulative 

Figure

Nine private sector properties have been 

returned to use since April 2017, of which 

three had been vacant for over five years, 

following an intervention from the council. 

The post of Empty Homes Officer is currently 

vacant and will be advertised shortly.  All 

these 9 were achieved during Q2 after 0 in 

Q1

Service: Planning & Building Control

P
age 180



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

MEHPI 157a % 

Processing of 

planning 

applications dealt 

with in timely 

manner - Major 

applications 

(Majors under 13 

weeks).

60.00% 60.00% N/A

There were 3 out of 5 applications dealt with 

within a timely manner.  There were no major 

applications in August to compare with

MEHPI 157b % 

Processing of 

planning 

applications dealt 

with in timely 

manner- Minor 

applications 

(Minors under 8 

weeks).

80.00% 80.00%

Figures fell on the previous month but had 

shown an improvement  from June and July.  

35 out of 44 applications

P
age 181



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

MEHPI 157c % 

Processing of 

planning 

applications dealt 

with in timely 

manner- Other 

applications 

(Others under 8 

weeks).

91.00% 90.00% 118 out of 130

MEHPI 205 % of 

site visits 

undertaken in 

relation to urgent 

cases within 2 

workings days of 

‘start date’.

N/A N/A 100% N/A
There have been no site visits in relation to 

urgent cases within the last 2 months

Service: Operations

P
age 182



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

MEHPI 191 

Residual 

household waste 

per household.

trend 

only
194 kg none set

Cumulative 

Figure

Kgs per property are greater than the same 

period last year by 6.44kgs (from April to 

September). This is remaining consistently 

higher each month as anticipated. Estimated 

annual figure of 451.76kgs which remains 

under the target of 475kgs.

MEHPI 192 % of 

household waste 

sent for reuse, 

recycling and 

composting.

trend 

only
52.60% none set

For September comingled recycling and paper 

tonnages are down on compared to 

September 2016. Composting however is 

up from 1283 tonnes in September 2016 to 

1387 in September 2017.  Residual waste is up 

from 1962 tonnes in September 2016 to 

2071.75 tonnes in September 2017.

P
age 183



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

MEHPI 2.2 Waste: 

missed collections 

per 100,000 

collections of 

household.

31.15% 30

Missed collections marginally missed target in 

September despite the improvement in 

August. This is still an improvement on 

previous months however. Refuse has the 

highest number of missed collections, the dry 

recycling next and garden waste the lowest.

QEHPI 2.4 Fly-

tips: Time taken 

for removal.

1.87 days 2.00 days

Q2 performance is within target and an 

improvement on the previous quarter (268 fly 

tips removed in Q2 2017/18 

compared to 298 in 2016/17)

Service: Communications, Strategy & Policy

Directorate Enable a flourishing local economy

P
age 184



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

QEHPI 11a 

Number of active 

Businesses with 

their registered 

office in East 

Herts

trend 

only 
12,802 none set

There has been a further decline in the 

number of active businesses with a registered 

office in East Herts and is a combination of 

lots of factors. 

These figures were provided by FAME, a 

business database, funded for 3 years by 

HCC. This agreement ended at the end of 

August with the last results provided on the 

15th September. Purchasing this system 

ourselves is not viable so EH will look at 

alternative measures of how our local 

economy is progressing  going forward.

QEHPI 11b 

Number of active 

Businesses with 

their registered 

office % and 

trading address in 

East Herts

trend 

only 
6,039 none set

There has been a further decline in the 

number of business registered in East Herts 

and trading since the last quarter.  This 

indicator follows the same process as above 

and hence will cease for Q3

Service: Health & Housing

P
age 185



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

QEHPI 184 % of 

food premises in 

the area which are 

broadly compliant 

with food hygiene 

law

95.00% 85.00%

2017/2018 Qtr 2 - Target exceeded. 95% of 

registered food businesses in East Herts are 

broadly compliant with food law; this 

represents 919 businesses.

QEHPI 32 % of 

planned premises 

licencing 

enforcement visits 

due that were 

undertaken

N/A N/A 80% N/A N/A

As per notes given in Qtr1, this PI has been 

discontinued as the methodology for visiting 

changed in April from routine schedule to a 

risk based / complaints based approach. 

Thus, planned premises enforcement visits 

were no longer a feature and in any case, 

providing a figure for this gave very little 

value or insight into the Council. The Council 

continues to monitor other licencing features 

and manage performance of this within 

Service.

Service: Revs & Bens

Directorate Supporting All Priorities

P
age 186



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

MEHPI 10.2 

Council tax 

collection, % of 

current year 

liability collected.

56.40% 56.00%
Cumulative 

Figure

Target was 0.1% better than this period last 

year and was within target.

MEHPI 10.4 NNDR 

(Business rates) 

collection, % of 

current year 

liability collected.

56.40% 56.00%
Cumulative 

Figure

Figures within target and much better year on 

year position (55.8%).  

Service: Human Resources

P
age 187



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

LATEST FIGURE 

MARCH - MEHPI 

12c Total number 

of sickness 

absence days per 

FTE staff in post

N/A N/A 0.54 days N/A

To date, the ability for our new HR system to 

extract bespoke reports including sickness 

has been unavailable. As soon as this 

information is available, the results will be 

entered for all missing periods

 MEHPI 5.15 % of 

FOI cases closed 

in month that 

were closed within 

20 working days 

or less

85.80% 90.00%

36 cases of the 42 were closed within the 20 

Working day target.  Of those remaining 6, 5 

are cases that have been long outstanding 

and were raised in a previous month.  There 

has been a renewed emphasis on chasing 

cases nearing targets however there was a 

resourcing issues over the past 6 weeks that 

have made this target challenging.

Service: Democratic & Legal Services

Service: Strategic Finance & Property

P
age 188



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

MEHPI 8 % of 

invoices paid on 

time.

97.23% 98.50%

The target has not been met this month.  This 

is due largely to 16 outstanding invoices from 

Community Safety and Health.  Many of the 

invoices were 2,3 or more months old.  Some 

of which were for individuals providing a 

service to the community for health and 

wellbeing.

QEHPI 5.1 % of 

complaints 

resolved in 14 

days (10 working 

days) or less.

68.00% 70.00%

As per the previous quarter, there were again 

25 complaints closed off in Q2 and there were 

17 that were closed off within 10 working 

days, meaning we marginally missed our 

70% target

QEHPI 5.12a 

Number of Twitter 

followers

trend 

only
8,171 none set

Twitter followers have increased by 263 this 

quarter, as we would expect with twitter 

being used as a primary channel for social 

media communication/engagement

Service: Communications, Strategy & Policy

P
age 189



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

QEHPI 5.12b 

Number of 

Facebook 

followers 

(Facebook likes).

trend 

only
702 none set

Facebook likes are steadily increasing as we 

increase the council's use of this channel

QEHPI 5.12C 

Number of 

subscribers to the 

Gov Delivery news 

bulletins

trend 

only
9,762 none set

Numbers of subscribers are increasing 

steadily and weekly news bulletins are being 

sent to all subscribers.

QEHPI 5.12D 

Press favourability 

score

trend 

only
30 none set

press favourability scores were lower than in 

the previous quarter but reflect less stories 

relating to East Herts Council going to press

P
age 190



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

QEHPI 5.2a % of 

complaints about 

the Council and its 

services that are 

upheld: 1st stage

18.00% 30.00%
4 of 22 complaints were upheld during this 

quarter, comfortably within our target.

QEHPI 5.2b % of 

complaints about 

the Council and its 

services that are 

upheld: 2nd stage 

- appeal

0.00% 25.00%
0 of three stage two complaints were upheld 

during Q2

PI Status

Trend Only

Value is higher than previous period but this is negative movement

Movement since last period

Value is higher than previous period & this is positive movement

Performance is 6% or more off target

Performance is 3% or more off target

Performance is on target or exceeding target

No target to set performance against

Latest data unavailable - last data shown

P
age 191



PI code and 

Name
Status

Latest 

Value

Current 

Target

Movement 

since last 

update

Performance Data Trend Chart Notes & History Latest Note

Essential Reference Paper E - Performance Analysis

n/a

Value is the same as previous period

N/A -Cumulative so will always be above previous period

Value is lower than previous period & this is negative movement

Value is lower than previous period but this is positive movement

P
age 192



Corporate Actions Update 

 

Action 
Code 

Action Title 
Dates 
Completed 
Date 

Status 
Status 
Icon 

Progress Bar Notes & History Latest Note 

CSP 
2016/17 

Formerly known as KA 31. 
Provision of efficient, effective face 
to face services ensuring customers 
can access the services they need 
as quickly as possible when visiting 
our offices. 

22-Jun-17 Completed 

 

 

Minor changes to the reception areas (e.g. Private 
booths). Now achieved. 

CSP 
2016/17 

Formerly known as KA 68. Work 
with key partners such as the 
County Council on sustainable 
transport solutions for East Herts, 
including community transport and 
green travel planning. 

  In Progress 

 

 Secondee with HCC starting with East Herts 6th 
November. will be progressing green travel initiatives 
following on from T&F Group 

CSP 
2016/17 

Formerly known as KA 107. Review 
and deploy new communication 
technologies and methods. 

  In Progress 

 

 New channels such as Instagram launched, new tools 
around gov delivery also implemented. Review of 
effectiveness to be undertaken by April 2018 

CSP 

Formerly known asKA.23 - Support 
ward councillors in rural areas to 
facilitate installation of super-fast 
broadband and continue marking 
options available to maintain 
interest. 

23-May-17 Completed 

 

 

This action shows as complete but will be revised. 
It has been challenging to support the rollout of 
rural broadband in any meaningful way as the 
programme is led by Connecting Counties. East 
Herts will continue to signpost residents to other 
options available (e.g. Community fibre) however 
the biggest challenge will be working with 
developers on new sites to ensure adequate 
broadband infrastructure is provided on all new 
homes. The revised action going forward will be 
looking at how this can be achieved through the 
District Plan 
  

CSP 

Formerly known as KA.30 - 
Provision of efficient, easy to use 
telephony facilities to access 
services and for staff to have the 
tools required to support efficient 
working. 

  Overdue 

 

 IT working on resolving call routing issues with new 
provider. All testing and transfer of SIP complete 
however 

P
age 193



Corporate Actions Update 

Action 
Code 

Action Title 
Dates 
Completed 
Date 

Status 
Status 
Icon 

Progress Bar Notes & History Latest Note 

CSP 
Formerly known as KA.57 - 
Strengthen networks with local 
businesses. 

  In Progress 

 

 

Business Engagement Manager actively engaging with 
Chamber of Commerce, FSB and individual businesses. 

CSP 
Formerly known as KA.59 - Liaise 
with LEP Growth Hub to ensure 
East Herts businesses benefit. 

03-Nov-17 Completed 

 

 Conversations with Growth Hub have taken place to 
ensure that Launchpad actively refers businesses to 
further support 

CSP 

Formerly known as KA.61 - Support 
Visit Herts with delivery of a 
destination management 
programme. 

03-Nov-17 Completed 

 

 

SLA funding of £5k agreed for a further 2 years (until 
end 2019) to promote East Herts as a destination. 
Latest data indicates East Herts generates the most 
revenue from tourism of all districts in the county 

CSP 
Projects 

Formerly known as. KA. 62. 
Business Improvement District 
(Bishop's Stortford) 

  In Progress 

 

 

Ballot likely to take place in April/ May (date TBC). 
Feasibility stage is complete and initial meetings of the 
steering group have taken place however engagement 
with businesses needs to be strengthened. CMS have 
revised their project plan and brought in a new 
manager. East Herts have employed Tom Hardy one day 
per week to oversee this process. 2nd meeting of the 
steering group taking place 3rd November 

CSP 
Projects 

Formerly known as KA. 25. Launch 
New Website 

12-May-17 Completed 

 

 

Website Launched as Planned without any issues 

CSP 
Projects 

Formerly known as KA. 58. Review 
of business start-up provision 

12-Sep-17 Completed 

 

 Action completed. Launchpad facility opened 12 
September in Bishop's Stortford to support start up and 
pre-start business growth. 

CSP 
Projects 

Formerly known as KA. 60. Rural 
Development Programme 

  In Progress 

 

 

16 projects have been awarded monies through the 
programme represented almost 90% of the available 
funding. 6 of these are from East Herts. around 150,000 
euros remain to be allocated and 7 projects are in the 
pipeline 

P
age 194



Corporate Actions Update 

Action 
Code 

Action Title 
Dates 
Completed 
Date 

Status 
Status 
Icon 

Progress Bar Notes & History Latest Note 

D 

Formerly known as KA.28 - . 
Develop a new Target Operating 
Model (TOM) for the Council that 
will deliver an improved digital offer 
for our customers. Undertake 
process reviews to ensure that our 
digital offer is efficient, effective 
and responsive 

31-Oct-17 Completed 

 

 

Target operating model launched and communicated 
with significant staff engagement. Digital East Herts 
agenda has been developed to move improve the 
current digital offering and move the organisation 
towards the TOM. 

HH 

Formerly known as KA.49 - Support 
and maximise the provision of 
additional affordable housing in 
association with developers and 
registered providers 

  In Progress 

 

 

HIA went live on Monday 2 October 2017. Service action 
monitored through PI for number of affordable homes 
delivered against target. Total of 51 affordable homes 
delivered in first and second quarters against a target of 
116 for 17/18. 

HH 
Formerly known as KA. 1. Shared 
service Home Improvement Agency 
(HIA) 

28-Sep-17 Completed 

 

 

Review on track to completion by the end of December 

HH 
Projects 

Formerly known as KA.32 - Review 
of licensing policies and procedures 

  In Progress 

 

 

Report drafted. Progressed with a full review of our 

policies, processes and procedures. He has produced 
suggestions for efficiencies and has been revising our 
web content. 

HH 
Projects 

Formerly known as KA. 14. Review 
of temporary accommodation 

  In Progress 

 

 

Housing Company business plan and funding approved 
at full Council on 18 October 2017 

HH 
Projects 

Formerly known as KA 48. Housing 
Company 

  In Progress 

 

 

The Executive approved the incorporation of a wholly 
owned property investment company, to be called 
Millstream Property Investments Ltd, at its meeting on 5 
September 2017. The 30 year business will be 
considered by full Council on 18 October along with a 
recommendation to transfer the council's existing 
residential properties and make available equity 
investment and loans. It is anticipated that the company 
will be registered with Companies House shortly 
thereafter 

P
age 195



Corporate Actions Update 

Action 
Code 

Action Title 
Dates 
Completed 
Date 

Status 
Status 
Icon 

Progress Bar Notes & History Latest Note 

O 

Formerly known as KA.10 - Invest 
in our parks and open spaces to 
encourage health and fitness 
including improvements to Grange 
Paddocks, Hartham Common and 
Presdales Recreation Ground. 

  In Progress 

 

 

Works to develop the management plan for the 
woodland are under way and the footpath route has 
been agreed. Investigation to inform how best to 
improve parking at this site to encourage better access 
is under way. Hartham Common walking routes are 
mapped and the proposed network designed. The new 
short all-weather, fully accessible circular route has 
been installed. Match funding has been applied for. 

O 
Formerly known as KA.22 - Co-
ordination and promotion of the 
arts and cultural offer in East Herts. 

  Assigned 

 

 

Audit in progress. Currently compiling the building 
provision to help identify the various sector groups. 

O 

Formerly known as KA.65 - 
Delivery of a cost effective on-

street and off-street enforcement 
function that fulfils the objectives 
of the Traffic Management Act 2004 

  In Progress 

 

 

Report confirming enforcement priorities to go before 
Executive on 16 October. Preparation of Specification 

takes place over winter. Method statements being 
developed and agency agreements with partner councils 
in an advanced stage of preparation. 

O 

Formerly known as KA.66 - 
Optimisation of on-street parking 
for all user groups within existing 
Resident Permit Zones. 

  In Progress 

 

 

The Revised completion date was changed as the 
volume of objections we are receiving to our proposals 
means a report will need to go to Committee and that 
onl 28 November. If the scheme goes ahead it is likely 
to be in the Spring/ Summer of 2018 as the winter 
weather make works difficult.  

O 
Formerly known as KA.67 - Support 
a Task and Finish Group to review 
options for sustainable transport in 

07-Mar-17 Completed 

 

 

Executive approved recommendations and work has now 
begun on progressing the individual actions 

P
age 196



Corporate Actions Update 

Action 
Code 

Action Title 
Dates 
Completed 
Date 

Status 
Status 
Icon 

Progress Bar Notes & History Latest Note 

the district. 

O 

Formerly Known as KA.8 - Produce 
a leisure strategy to determine 
future direction and planning for 
the council’s two Leisure Centres 
and three joint use swimming 
pools. 

06-Jul-17 Completed 

 

 

leisure strategy produced, going to full council on 18 
July 

O 

Formerly Known as KA.40 - 
Implement the Council 
Environmental Crime Strategy and 
associated Public Space Protection 
Orders (PSOPs). 

  Overdue 

 

 Environmental Enforcement Pilot completed October 
2017. Litter enforcement function carried out within the 
Operations service only. 

O 

Formerly known as KA. 19. Work 
with local community groups to 
develop community energy 
schemes in East Herts. 

  In Progress 

 

 

Final outcome of East Herts joint bid with other 
business/academic partners in the Hertfordshire, New 
Anglia and Cambridgeshire LEP areas for ERDF funding 
to support "Eastern New Energy" - a project aimed at 
taking forward Community Energy initiatives locally is 
still awaited (expected year-end) . Feedback is positive 
and scheme has progressed successfully through initial 
rounds. East Herts also taking Hertfordshire lead on 
another project also working with the Tri-LEP area on a 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy Department 
funded scheme to develop a local energy plan, 
encompassing renewables, carbon reduction 
development and grid constraint identification (project 
end March 2018). 

O 
Projects 

Formerly known as KA 41. Shared 
waste and street cleansing service 

  In Progress 

 

 

Standstill period ends 31st Oct. 

P
age 197



Corporate Actions Update 

Action 
Code 

Action Title 
Dates 
Completed 
Date 

Status 
Status 
Icon 

Progress Bar Notes & History Latest Note 

O 
Projects 

Formerly known as KA.11Castle 
Park BS - Heritage Lottery Fund 
(HLF) Stage 1 bid 1 

  In Progress 

 

 

Consultation with users under way, early indications 
show strong support for project. Archaeologists and 
historical experts engaged and assessing structures and 
ground. Some GeoPhys surveys completed. Some 
environmental surveys competed. Architects proceeding 
to draft building outline application drawings for end 
October. Play consultant engaged with consultation work 
to inform their design. Consultant has suggested that it 
would be beneficial to influence design of BSTC BMX 
project to ensure consistency and best value; this is 
being explored by project manager. 

O 
Projects 

Formerly known as KA.13- Hertford 
Theatre expansion 

  In Progress 

 

 Bidders (Hertford Theatre Development plans project) 
submissions to be in by 30 October. Bidder submissions 
presentations to take place on 2 & 3 November. 

ORL 
Projects 

Individual branch of KA. 46. 
Overarching Progress 

  In Progress 

 

 

Contract with contractors for the temporary car park at 
No 1 The Causeway in place. 
 
Viability assessment of the ORL options well underway. 
 

Planning application for the Multi-Storey Car Park in 
preparation. 
 
Negotiations with Rhodes and the BS Town Council in 
progress. 
 
Preferred land use and associated decisions going to 
Executive on 28 November and Council on 13 
December. 

P
age 198



Corporate Actions Update 

Action 
Code 

Action Title 
Dates 
Completed 
Date 

Status 
Status 
Icon 

Progress Bar Notes & History Latest Note 

PBC 
2016/17 

Formerly known as KA. 44. 
Appropriate control in relation to 
unauthorised development in the 
district. 

  In Progress 

 

 

Performance remains in accordance with PIs.  
 
Vacancies within the team have been filled, and the 
team is now fully staffed. 

PBC 

Formerly known asKA.45 - Ensure 
that an appropriate policy 
framework is in place to enable 
residential and commercial 
development and to support key 
infrastructure decisions. 

  In Progress 

 

 

District Plan Hearing Sessions currently underway. Part 
1 completed; Part 2 commenced on 7 November. A Main 
Modifications consultation is anticipated to commence 
end of 2017/early 2018. 

PBC 

Formerly known as KA.46 - 
Requirement to manage and 
proactively respond to key 
development proposals to enable 
acceptable development to be 
delivered. 

  In Progress 

 

 

Action being managed in association with the delivery of 
the District Plan. BS Goods yard site subject to master 
planning following refusal of earlier application. 
Masterplan endorsed by Executive: 31 Oct 2017. Other 
sites at various stages in the pre-application/ master 
planning processes. 

PBC 
Projects 

Formerly known as KA 63. Bishops 
Stortford Town Centre 

16-May-17 Completed 

 

 A completed report has been provided by the 
consultants A+M and is to be reported for endorsement 
to the next Exec on 16 May 

PBC 
Projects 

Formerly known asKA.64. 
Implementation of Hertford Urban 
Design Study 

  In Progress 

 

 

Longer scheme design and formulation stages for 
Maidenhead Street project will result in implementation 
being pushed into the 2018/19 financial year. Will be 
delayed in relation to the current delivery target with 
construction work to commence in April 2018. 

RB 
2016/17 

Formerly known as KA. 18. Work 
with partners to assist customers 
through the transition into 
universal credit. 

11-Aug-16 Completed 

 

 April -June 2016 universal credit roll out continues 
slowly. Working closely with DWP & CAB to support 
customers through transition 

RB 

Formerly known as KA.154 - 
Provision of timely and accurate 
information to relevant parties in 
relation to the Business Rates 
values and appeals. 

  In Progress 

 

 

Appeals date and other supporting information being 
provided 

P
age 199



Corporate Actions Update 

Action 
Code 

Action Title 
Dates 
Completed 
Date 

Status 
Status 
Icon 

Progress Bar Notes & History Latest Note 

RB 

Formerly known as KA.155 - 
Respond to customers desire to 
access services 24/7 using e 
technology. 

  In Progress 

 

 

Actions are on target - products are being rolled out and 
take up encouraged 

SBT 

Formerly known as KA.102 - 
Deliver the milestones for 2017/18 
set out in the four year ICT 
Strategy. 

  Unassigned 

 

 

The current strategy was largely front loaded, with the 
majority of deliverables being achieved within the first 
two years. Approximately 70% of the deliverables have 
been achieved. The strategy is now under review with 
development of a new strategy being undertaken during 
2018/19 

SFP 
2016/17 

Formerly known as KA. 79. Monitor 
the council’s investment in the 
Capital programme to ensure that 
resources are delivering the assets 
required to deliver services/benefit 
to local taxpayers. 

17-Jul-17 Completed 

 

 

Monitored throughout 2016/17 - Compliant. 

SFP 
2016/17 

Formerly known as KA. 95. 
Property asset holdings are 
constantly reviewed to ensure that 
assets are fit for purpose and 
utilised to their full potential. 

  In Progress 

 

 

Assets and Estates continue to review property; 
currently migrating data onto IDOX, AMG reinstated, 
Herts Property Forum attended, ePIMS has been 
completed. Lease events are diarised and monitored for 
value. 

SFP 
Formerly known as KA.88 - Review 
of Shared Audit Service. 

25-Sep-17 Completed 

 

 

This action was completed 

SFP 

Formerly known as KA. 78. 
Maximise yield through a spread of 
financial instruments, maturity 
dates and counterparties whilst 
considering the risk of each 
investment in accordance with the 

Investment Strategy. 

25-Sep-17 Completed 

 

 

This action was completed 

SFP 
Formerly known as KA. 87. Review 
of Shared Anti-Fraud Service. 

25-Sep-17 Completed 

 

 

This action was completed 

 

P
age 200



EAST HERTS COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE - 28 NOVEMBER 2017 

REPORT BY THE EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND 
SUPPORT SERVICES     

RISK MANAGEMENT MONITORING REPORT (JULY TO
SEPTEMBER 2017)       

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL

Purpose/Summary of Report

 This report relates to action taken to mitigate and control strategic 
risks in the period July to September 2017.

RECOMMENDATION(S) FOR EXECUTIVE:  That:

(A) the comments of Performance, Audit and Governance 
Scrutiny Committee be received; and

(B) the risk management controls implemented be approved.

1.0 Background 

1.1 The Strategic Risk Register was last considered by the Executive 
on 16 October 2017 (Period April to June 2017).  The content of 
the register has been updated with controls implemented between 
July and September 2017 recorded.  Please see Essential 
Reference Paper ‘B’.

2.0 Report

2.1 Controls implemented during the period July to September 2017 
have been recorded. Scores have also been reviewed but remain 
unchanged. Please refer to Essential Reference Paper ‘B’ for 
more information. 

2.2 No new strategic risks have been identified and none have been 
deleted.

Page 201

Agenda Item 11



2.3 The Strategic Risk Register will be considered by Performance, 
Audit and Governance Scrutiny Committee on 21 November 2017 
and the Executive will be advised verbally of any comments 
received. 

2.4 All strategic risks can be viewed at 
www.covalentcpm.com/eastherts (The system has been 
rebranded and is now called Pentana Performance although the 
web link remains in the original name of Covalent).

3.0 Implications/Consultations

3.1 Information on any corporate issues and consultation associated 
with this report can be found within Essential Reference Paper 
‘A’.  

Background Papers
None

Contact Member: Cllr Geoffrey Williamson
Executive Member for Finance and Support 
Services
geoffrey.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk 

Contact Officer: Isabel Brittain
Head of Strategic Finance and Property 
isabel.brittain@eastherts.gov.uk  

Report Author: Graham Mully
Risk Assurance Officer
Ext 2166
graham.mully@eastherts.gov.uk 

Page 202

http://www.covalentcpm.com/eastherts
mailto:geoffrey.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:isabel.brittain@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:graham.mully@eastherts.gov.uk


ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives:

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities 

Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives 

Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy 

Consultation: There are no specific consultation implications arising 
directly from this report. 

Legal: There are no specific legal implications arising directly 
from this report.

Financial: There are no specific financial implications arising 
directly from this report.

Human 
Resource:

There are no specific human resource implications 
arising directly from this report.

Risk 
Management:

There are no additional risk management implications to 
those already contained in this report. However, it should 
be noted that if East Herts did not have a risk 
management monitoring process, the Authority would be 
seen to be not managing risks appropriately, which would 
have a significant negative impact on recommendations 
made by the External Auditors through the Annual Audit 
Letter.

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts:

There are no specific health and wellbeing implications 
arising directly from this report.

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



Strategic Risk Register 2017/18 – Quarter 2 Essential Reference Paper ‘B’ 
 

C
o

d
e

 1
7
 S

R
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Title 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Description 

 
 
 
 
 
Inherent 
risk 
matrix In

h
e

re
n

t 
im

p
a

c
t 

In
h

e
re

n
t 

li
k
e
li

h
o

o
d

  
 
 
 
Controls introduced in 2017/18 
quarter two, plus those planned 
in future 

 
 
 
 
 
Residual 
risk 
matrix R

e
s
id

u
a

l 
im

p
a

c
t 

R
e
s
id

u
a

l 
li
k
e
li
h

o
o

d
  

 
 
 
 
 
Managed by 

1a Risk of significant 
deviation from plan in 
terms of funding. This is 
predominately a risk of a 
significant reduction but 
a significant increase 
could also cause risks to 
materialise. 

There is uncertainty around future funding, 
both from Government and other areas 
such as income from commodities markets 
for recycled materials.  The 100% Business 
Rate Retention scheme has uncertainty 
around it although there are limited 
opportunities to be part of a pilot 
programme. The potential impact of leaving 
the EU and on trade relations will cause 
ambiguity with regard to the future financial 
position. 

 

3 3 July to September 2017:  
The Healthcheck reporting process 
remains in place. Funding situation 
is being carefully monitored. Any 
variances are manged with the use 
of mitigating actions and alternative 
funding solutions. 
 

 

3 3 Isabel 
Brittain 

1b Business rate income 
significantly reduced from 
planned anticipated level 
(and current levels). 

Appetite and ability as a Council to 
influence economic development. 
Neighbouring authorities reducing rates. 
Revaluation and appeals. (Maximum 
liability circa £10m if all appeals were 
granted). Inability to influence economic 
regeneration. Economic vitality. 

 

4 4 July to September 2017:  
East Herts has been part of an 
application for a 100% Business 
Rates Retention Pooling Pilot. If we 
are accepted for 2018/19 this will 
help to stabilise the position in the 
short term. 

 

4 3 Isabel 
Brittain 

2 Risk of not having 
capacity / capability and 
flexibility to continue to 
deliver service levels 
over time. 

There are challenges to ensure the Council 
is fit for the future, in terms of workforce 
skills, capacity and flexibility. 

 

3 3 July to September 2017:  
Turnover is above target and 
Heads of Service continue to recruit 
to vacancies in their new structures.  
Turnover and recruitment is being 
monitored closely by the HR 
service. 
Significant increase in workload for 
Health and Housing team arising 
from the Homelessness Act that 
comes in to force in April 2018.  

 

3 2 Emma 
Freeman 

3 Risk that supplier / 
contractor or key third 
sector partner fails or 
fails to deliver. 

A number of key services are delivered 
through major contracts, both directly and in 
consortia. This is both through private 
sector supply chains and in conjunction with 
the voluntary and third sector. 

 

3 2 July to September 2017:  
No concerns reported with any 
major contracts or shared service. 
Waste tender evaluation report to 
be presented to Executive on 16 
October 2017. 

 

3 1 All Heads of 
Service 

P
age 205



 
4 Risk that investment and 

effort in alternative 
service delivery models 
does not deliver benefits 
and returns. 

Moving more towards other delivery models 
in future with public sector partners. This is 
part of the wider context of the changing 
role of Local Government moving forward. 
Potential for lack of consistent political buy-
in by all partners resulting in considerable 
effort without benefit. There is also a 
challenging skill set for managers due to 
the complexity. 

 

3 2 July to September 2017:  
Work to model financial benefits of 
a wholly owned Property 
Investment Company have been 
scrutinised by Savills and PWC. 
This has led to amendments to the 
business plan. The revised version 
of the Business Plan is to be put to 
full Council for approval on 18 
October 2017. 

 

2 2 All relevant 
Heads of 
Service 

5a Information 
management: Misuse or 
loss of key information 
leading to breach.  The 
potential disclosure of 
personal data 
inappropriately. 

The Council handles a large amount of 
information and data which if not managed 
properly could be compromised. This could 
be perhaps through carelessness or 
hacking and security of the information 
could be compromised. Failure to comply 
with information governance principles. 
Action may be taken by the ICO. Individuals 
may suffer if their personal data, particularly 
sensitive personal data is disclosed. 

 

3 2 July to September 2017:  
No reportable data breaches. Staff 
training programme continues.  
 
Forthcoming legislation under the 
General Data Protection Act 
regulations will be considered in 
preparation and Corporate groups 
set up. 

 

3 1 Alison Stuart 

5b Information 
management: Cyber risk. 
Inconsistent application 
of information 
management standards 
and security controls 
could increase the 
likelihood of data or data 
systems being 
compromised. 

Viral attack affecting hardware or software 
information systems. Theft, loss or improper 
disclosure / use of confidential information.  
Service disruption or loss. Reputational 
damage. Regulatory fines or compensation 
claims. 

 

4 2 July to September 2017:  
Cyber security plan produced to 
highlight most significant security 
risks and proposals for mitigating 
actions. Shared service security 
group to devise and monitor 
policies and action plans, and 
review information security and any 
data breaches. (See 5a).  
E-mail bulletins issued to staff 
regarding security threats.  

 

4 1 Clare 
Watson 

  

P
age 206



6 Impact of Housing and 
Planning Act. 

The key potential impacts are: 
• Introduction of Starter Homes as a form of 
affordable housing, with nationally 
prescribed percentages to be delivered 
through the planning process, is likely to 
reduce the supply of new affordable rented 
homes thus reducing housing options for 
those on no / low incomes. This could place 
increased pressure on existing housing 
stock and potentially increase homeless 
approaches to the Council, leading to 
higher workloads 
• The opening up of the planning 
application assessment process to third 
parties could see workloads/income drop 
for the Council and its influence in decision 
making reduced. Potential for significant 
impact on staff resources, income and the 
ability to support direct and back office 
services. 
• Provisions for the Government to 
determine district plans where local 
authorities have not done so within certain 
time limits could erode the Council’s 
reputation and ability to shape local 
development. 
• Further provisions for flexibilities with 
regard to fee levels and self setting of fees 
if the Council continues to operate 
established performance levels. 

 

3 3 July to September 2017:  
Officers will continue to monitor any 
proposals that are introduced 
through secondary legislation 
following the main Act, and provide 
advice with regard to actions and 
policy approaches to be taken as a 
result. 
 
With regard to possible government 
intervention in the preparation of 
the District Plan, this is now 
considered a low risk given the 
stage reached. 
 
Planning competition and potential 
fee setting flexibilities and self-
setting remain a possibility, 
although no recent government 
advice has been given with regard 
to their introduction or timing. 

 

3 2 Jonathan 
Geall and 
Kevin 
Steptoe 

7 Production of a District 
Plan meeting community 
and regulatory needs. 

Risk of not being able to agree plan in 
timeframe meaning: Increased costs, Lack 
of effective development management, 
Cannot bid for funding for infrastructure, 
lost opportunity, open to challenge in 
meantime, legal / reputational / political 
issues. Impact on New Homes Bonus. 

 

3 2 July to September 2017:  
Preparation stage has moved 
ahead with the submission of the 
Plan to the inspectorate and early 
engagement, through initial 
questions from the Examiner.  
Timescale is now largely beyond 
the Council’s control, but 
appropriate resources continue to 
be directed toward the work to 
ensure that timescale demands are 
met. 

 

3 2 Kevin 
Steptoe 

P
age 207



8 Significant development 
proposals at strategic 
sites (Welwyn Garden 
City, Bishop's Stortford) - 
need to ensure good 
quality developments 
securing all necessary 
infrastructure. 

Ambitions not achieved. Ability of building 
industry to deliver, including contribution for 
infrastructure. Poor environment. Loss of 
development opportunity. Reputational risk.  

4 3 July to September 2017:  
The Council has formally endorsed 
the master planning approach to 
development proposals through 
District Plan Panel (21 September) 
and forthcoming Executive 
decision. 
 
Engagement has commenced with 
a number of land and site 
promoters on this basis. 

 

4 1 Kevin 
Steptoe 

9 Failure to deliver Digital 
East Herts and improved 
customer access and 
engagement. 

Risk that services are not provided across 
multiple channels to improve the customer 
experience and realise efficiency gains.  
 
Step change to digital basis for service 
delivery will not be made within the window 
of invest opportunity in the next two years. 

 

3 2 July to September 2017:  
Individual projects being monitored 
via Digital East Herts steering 
group and exception reporting in 
place on a monthly basis to 
Leadership Team to identify any 
resourcing issues or issues arising 
that could impact on overall 
programme delivery.  Projects 
currently on track and some new 
online services already introduced 
showing increased customer 
uptake rates. 

 

2 2 Adele Taylor 

10 Compliance with the 
Childrens Act 2004. 

Whilst the Council’s self-assessment 
obtained ratings of at least ‘adequate’ there 
is a commitment to improve and thereby 
ensure the safety of children.  

4 2 July to September 2017:  
The council has worked with the 
Police to plan to promote 
awareness of Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) issues among 
those operating in the Night Time 
Economy. An Awareness Raising 
Session was held on 20 July. Self-
assessment of CSE activities 
completed in July as part of the 
county-wide audit. Relevant staff to 
be trained on the Modus software in 
as part of the Housing Service’s 
participation in the Hertfordshire 
MARAC (the Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference) which is 
concerned with tackling domestic 
abuse (itself sometimes linked to 
CSE). 

 

4 1 Jonathan 
Geall 

P
age 208



11 Safeguarding adults. Maintain and develop interagency 
relationships, Council policy and training. 

 

3 2 July to September 2017:  
SIAS audit report re: safeguarding 
arrangements issued in May 2017. 
'Substantial assurance that there 
are effective controls in operation'. 
The council’s Safeguarding Policy 
was updated (to be formally signed 
off by HR Committee in July). This 
includes a new, simplified approach 
for staff to report concerns. 
Safeguarding awareness raised 
provided to Leadership Team on 12 
June 2017 and was covered 
through Staff Briefing in July 2017. 
Increase in homelessness 
prevention work arising from the 
Homelessness Reduction Act. 

 

3 1 Jonathan 
Geall 

12 Encouragement of 
economic vitality cross 
the District. 

Risks that opportunities to maximise inward 
investment, employment and economic 
growth are not maximised in the district.  
 
Also ensure regular dialogue with business 
and organisations representative of 
business. Interventions to be proposed 
where appropriate e.g. business 
improvement district opportunities. 

 

4 2 July to September 2017:  
Launchpad pilot up and running. 
Working with Charrington’s House 
agents (LSH) to support a business 
pathway approach (ensuring 
business start ups in the 
Launchpad can access other office 
facilities). New economic 
development officer due to start 
November/ December (jointly with 
North Herts Council) to support 
inward investment and economic 
development agenda.  

 

4 1 Ben Wood 

13 Unable to resource or 
prioritise emergency 
planning response and 
other mitigation 
measures. 

Frequency of events likely to increase. 
Emergency planning response could be 
compromised. Impact on east/west travel in 
District and on infrastructure, especially 
transportation. Lack of resource for 
mitigation activity e.g. land drainage 
function. Impact on Council properties, 
particularly sites on flood plains. 

 

3 3 July to September 2017:  
Rotacloud now in use. Review of 
Emergency Plan being carried out; 
revised version due to member 
approval in early 2018. Discussion 
about this at Performance, Audit 
and Governance Committee on 26 
September 2017. Members’ views 
will be incorporated into the review. 
Desk top exercise being held on 11 
October 2017.  Outcome will inform 
the Emergency Plan update. 

 

2 3 Jonathan 
Geall 

  

P
age 209



14 Devolution - fail to 
engage, and influence 
partners to engage, 
leading to missed 
opportunities. 

Hertfordshire not seen as a 'player' 
nationally and regionally. Unable to be 
proactive and engage early on in this 
agenda. Missed opportunities to maximise 
benefit.   

 

2 3 July to September 2017:  
Five point action plan (Areas 
include: World class skills, Strategic 
Planning and Transport, Fully 
collaborative Health & Social Care, 
Safe and Cohesive Communities, 
and Maximising public sector 
assets) in place.  Work progressing 
in most areas, overseen by a small 
steering group of leaders, and 
managed through the Chief 
Executive’s Coordinating Group for 
Hertfordshire. 

 

2 3 Liz Watts 

15 Referendum vote to 
leave EU. 

Further budget reductions likely. Potential 
impact on the economy, particularly 
employment and the housing market. Loss 
of EU funding for local schemes. Legislative 
changes. 

 

3 3 July to September 2017:  
No further update pending Brexit 
negotiations. There are still unspent 
EU structural funds and we are 
looking at accessing these. 

 

3 2 Ben Wood 

16 Development of Old 
River Lane, Bishop’s 
Stortford. 

The acquisition of the Old River Lane site 
presents opportunities to revitalise and 
shape the town centre, but there are risks 
around undertaking large-scale 
development, including land use choices, 
viability, impact on other areas and 
functions of the town centre, etc. 

 

4 3 July to September 2017:  
On 11 July Old River Lane Board 
chose preferred option for site, 
following high level viability 
assessment by property consultant.  
Detailed work now ongoing in order 
to prepare for formal land use 
decision by full council in January.  
Discussions ongoing with partners 
such as Hertfordshire County 
Council, Rhodes and Bishop’s 
Stortford Town Council, to define 
which partners wish to be involved 
in which parts of the development, 
in particular addressing funding and 
governance issues. 

 

2 3 Liz Watts 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 210



EAST HERTS COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE – 28 NOVEMBER 2017 

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT 
SERVICES    

OLD RIVER LANE LAND USE 

WARD(S) AFFECTED:  ALL BISHOP’S STORTFORD

Purpose/Summary of Report

 To provide a detailed update on the progress of the Old River Lane 
site in Bishop’s Stortford, and to provide additional indicative 
costing required to proceed with the next stage of the development.

RECOMMENDATIONS:  That the Executive:

(A) recommends to Full Council that the land at Old River Lane 
and adjoining Northgate End should be used to develop a 
mixed town centre scheme, as set out in option 1a, to 
include: 

 a significant new Arts/Cultural Centre that includes a 
500 seat theatre, 3-4 cinema screens, shared reception 
space, potentially the Bishop’s Stortford library, a one-
stop-shop for Council services, hot-desking work space, 
cafe/bar

 housing
 retail and
 parking provision for the whole site;

(B) recommends to Full Council that funding of £225,000 be 
allocated to the next stage of scheme feasibility,  in line 
with the requirements as set out in Exempt Essential 
Reference Paper ‘E’ (funding to be allocated from the NHB 
Priority Spend Reserve);

(C) supports the continued discussions with Bishop’s Stortford 
Town Council and the Rhodes Birthplace Trust  to create a 
delivery model for the Arts/Cultural centre which transfers 

Page 211

Agenda Item 12



the existing Rhodes Arts Centre business to the new 
building;

(D) notes the work programme set out in section 5 of this 
report, including the likely timeframes for submission of a 
planning application for a new multi-storey car park, and 
soft market testing for a development partner for the rest of 
the development; and

(E) recommends to Council that it endorses delegation to 
Heads of Service for any general matters arising within 
their individual remits in order to progress the next stage of 
this project, including submission of a planning application 
for a new multi-storey car park.

1.0 Background 

1.1 The Bishop’s Stortford Town Centre Planning Framework was 
commissioned by the Council in January 2016 in order to provide a 
long term, coherent vision for the development of the town centre, 
taking into account the key site of Old River Lane amongst other 
strategic sites.  The framework was completed in March 2017 and 
subsequently adopted by the Council at its meeting in July 2017.

1.2 A report was submitted to Council in February 2017 setting out the 
initial indicative budget requirements for the project.

1.3 Since then, work has been led by the Old River Lane Delivery 
Board, established in March 2017, and comprising the following 
members:

Cllr Linda Haysey
Cllr Gary Jones
Cllr Eric Buckmaster
Cllr Keith Warnell
Cllr Geoffrey Williamson

1.4 The final stage of the planning framework involved an extensive 
consultation process at the end of 2016.  Old River Lane site was 
an essential part of the consultation and specific feedback was 
provided on Culture and Leisure, Retail, Public Spaces and 
Parking.  A summary of the feedback relevant to Old River Lane is 
set out below:

Page 212



       65% of responses rated the ideas for improving the culture 
and leisure offer as excellent or good.

       Some felt the location of the Rhodes Arts Centre was too far 
out of town and that there was insufficient parking. It was 
suggested that a new purpose built facility near the 
restaurants in the centre of town would support activity and 
vitality.

       56% of consultees rated the ideas for improving the retail 
offer as excellent or good.

       62% of consultees rated the ideas for new or improved public 
spaces as excellent or good.

       A number of respondents were excited by the potential of the 
Old River Lane site to encourage people to use Castle Park 
more.

       A number of respondents suggested that there needed to be 
better parking for local workers in the town centre.

1.5 Following the completion of the town centre planning framework 
Allies & Morrison were commissioned to undertake a more detailed  
options appraisal on the Old River Lane site, including the 
Northgate End car park area (a plan can be found in Essential 
Reference Paper ‘G’), to inform a decision on preferred land use 
for the site. At the same time, property consultants – Montagu 
Evans – were commissioned to undertake a high level viability 
assessment of the options proposed by Allies & Morrison. 
Additional studies were / are being undertaken to inform the 
options study and future decisions including:

       Arts Centre Outline Business Case – completed in August 
2017 

       A Parking demand / supply review study for the BS Town 
Centre – completed in July 2017.

       A Transport Strategy for the town centre (sits with Shaping 
Stortford board) – still underway; due to be complete in 
February 2018.

1.6 The core site is presently characterised by low intensity uses: 
namely a large surface car park. Other uses include Waitrose and 
its associated car park, office accommodation within Charringtons 
House, including the provision of a customer contact centre for the 
Council, and three residential units which are currently let. No 1 
The Causeway has been demolished and construction works to 
build a temporary surface car park are underway.

Page 213



1.7 The core site extends to around 1.7 hectares (4.3 acres).  To the 
north of the site on the other side of the A1250 lies Northgate End 
car park (0.4 hectares), also owned by East Herts Council.  This 
would form part of the development opportunity.  An area of open 
ground immediately to the north of Northgate End car park and 
owned by HCC may also form part of the Council’s development 
proposals.  East Herts Council has engaged with the County 
Council to explore options for the possible use of this land.  The 
development opportunity might also extend into land to the east of 
Northgate car park, presently owned by BS Town Council.  
Surrounding uses to the core ORL site include the Waitrose food-
store, the United Reform Church building and Coopers of Stortford. 
Overall the broader site (core site and land to the north of the site) 
is a package of land which creates the potential for a significant 
development opportunity which, depending on the uses proposed 
could substantially rejuvenate the wider town centre. 

1.8 The following report details the progress undertaken so far on the 
masterplan for the site and recommends a preferred land use in 
order to proceed with further work on the scheme. 

2.0    The Vision for ORL

2.1    The Options Study sets out a vision for Old River Lane which is 
defined by a series of principles for development on the site.

 These are summarised below: 

 Deliver a cultural and learning centre creating activity 
throughout the day and evening, providing an anchor within 
the area. The new mix of uses will drive footfall into Old River 
Lane, creating a welcoming destination for residents and 
visitors to Bishop's Stortford. A mix of uses could include a 
theatre or cinema, Council civic facilities such as a one-stop-
shop and library, a cafe and workspaces.

 The scheme should deliver a small number of high quality 
retailers in a pedestrianised environment, a new destination 
which creates spaces for restaurants, bars and cafes with 
outdoor seating, generating activity and vibrancy within the 
area.

Page 214



 New and enhanced green spaces as well as new tree 
planting and landscaping should be created within the 
development. 

 The development will improve the connectivity to Castle 
Gardens, opening up attractive routes to this high quality 
green space on the edge of the town centre.

 A key aspiration is to rebalance the proportion of the site that 
is for people rather than cars, confining vehicles to the outer 
edges of the scheme.

 High quality and accessible car parking should be delivered 
to serve the new development, existing uses and the wider 
town centre.

 Any development should be in keeping with the town's 
existing scale and massing, reflecting the varied roofscape, 
building type and features of the town.

          The Concept Masterplan

2.2      The concept Masterplan for the site establishes the principle of a 
strong north-south spine which acts as the focus for a mix of 
leisure, civic and commercial uses. This effectively extends the 
existing town centre, linking in to key existing points including 
Waitrose, Jackson Square, Coopers and the wider hinterland of 
North Street.  An illustrative plan is set out overleaf.

2.3      As set out in 1.4 above, Allies and Morrison was commissioned to 
undertake an options appraisal for the site. Three options were 
presented.  It should be noted that these options were for 
modelling purposes only, in order to assist in arriving at a land use 
decision.  They are not definitive and the final option is likely to 
vary in some parts, depending on negotiations with partners, 
acquisition of tenants, and other factors, not least of which is a 
viable funding package.

 
 Option 1a – Full Arts offer 

A large Arts Centre that includes a new theatre (relocating 
the Rhodes Arts Centre business), niche cinema operator, 
shared reception space, potentially the library, one-stop-shop 
for Council services, hot-desking work space, cafe/bar, plus 
housing, retail and parking

Page 215



 Option 1b – Full Arts offer
A new arts venue on Old River Lane as well as the existing 
Rhodes Arts Centre (in situ). The new arts venue to offer a 
complementary offer to the current Rhodes programme 
focusing on a music programme, niche cinema operator, 
shared reception space, library, one-stop-shop for council 
services, hot-desking work space, café/bar

 Option 2 – Smaller Arts offer
A niche cinema operator, shared reception space, library, 
one-stop-shop for council services, hot-desking work space, 
cafe/bar, plus housing, retail and parking.

 Option 3 – No Arts offer
This would be a residential scheme as there would be less 
scope / traction for retail/leisure use on the site without an 
associated arts offer.

  

Page 216



2.4      While it is acknowledged that a scheme with purely residential 
accommodation would generate a higher capital receipt, this 
would offer little in terms of supporting the future functioning of the 
town centre, and particularly diversifying the range of present 
uses.  This option was therefore excluded early on in the 
deliberations of the Old River Lane board.

2.5 Of the remaining options (1a, 1b and 2), the Old River Lane Board 
agreed the following at their meeting on 8 August 2017:

“The decision from the options presentation by Fourth 
Street at the last meeting was to move forward with 
option 1a.  This was on the basis that the provision of 
a high quality, multi-purpose arts centre in Bishop’s 
Stortford, rather than a specialist music venue 
alongside the Rhodes, would create a better outcome 
for the residents of Bishop’s Stortford and would 
reduce the possibility that the two venues compete for 
audiences.  A single purpose built venue could be 
designed in order to deliver a wide, high-quality 
programme capturing those artistic areas which are 
already well provided for in the Rhodes, whilst filling 
the gaps for those areas which do not currently work 
well and the larger shows which Rhodes cannot 
currently programme due to financial constraints 
related to the size of the auditorium.  A single venue 
would require less subsidy from the public sector 
overall compared to creating a new venue alongside 
the Rhodes, and would therefore provide better value 
for money to the tax payer.”

2.6 A mixed development including an arts centre would create a very 
significant attraction in the centre and, subject to high quality 
design, provide a very strong addition to the town centre mix.  
This is particularly relevant given that town centres are facing 
significant challenges as purely retail destinations. A well held 
view is that a much greater emphasis needs to be placed on 
leisure and community oriented activities and excellent place-
making if towns are to remain strong, vibrant and healthy 
destinations which residents want to use and people want to visit. 

Page 217



           ORL in partnership with HCC, BSTC and RBT

2.7      Bishop’s Stortford Town Council and the Rhodes Birthplace Trust 
(RBT) have been engaged in the options appraisal process and 
there is broad support for Option 1a, subject to a solution being 
found for the Rhodes museum.  A series of working meetings 
have been held between the three parties to deliver a Heads of 
Terms which sets out the broad parameters guiding the delivery of 
this option.  The draft Heads of Terms is set out at exempt 
Essential Reference Paper ‘C’.  This document will be 
considered by the Rhodes Birthplace Trust at a trust meeting on 
28 November and by the Bishop’s Stortford Town Council at a 
Finance Sub-Committee meeting on 4 December. The Heads of 
Terms is exempt, but can broadly be summarised as a significant 
joint venture between the three parties, with both councils 
contributing financially (capital and revenue) and the Rhodes 
Birthplace Trust relocating all of its arts centre business (including 
the majority of community use and hires) to the new arts centre.  
This would provide an excellent opportunity to build upon the 
success of the Rhodes Arts Complex to meet the growing 
population of the town. 

2.8      It should be noted that the existing, very successful, Rhodes Arts 
Centre business will continue as it is now, and that any rumours 
that have arisen about its imminent closure should be dispelled.  

2.9 There have been positive talks so far with HCC about the 
potential relocation options for the library in the Arts Centre 
proposed in Option 1a.

2.10 Discussions with other stakeholders, including Waitrose, the 
United Reform Church, Coopers of Stortford have been ongoing 
since the initial Town Centre Planning Framework was drawn up.       

3.0 Benefits of ORL development

Section 3 of this report has been written by the Council’s 
advisors, Fourth Street, which specialises in placemaking 
and destination development. 

3.1     The vacancy rate in the town centre is below the national average 
and the typical line of high street chains is punctuated by a few 
good quality independent operators, suggesting that there is 
enough affluence in the town and its environs to support a healthy 

Page 218



retail offer in the town centre.  The existing Arts Centre has built 
up a loyal audience and is well-attended by residents, schools 
and community groups.  Set against these attractive features of 
the town are a number of key challenges, many of which are 
typical of towns that are within easy commuting distance of 
London:

 Facilities in the town have not kept pace with the significant 
planned growth of housing

 The town centre is ringed by wide, busy and – in places – 
seemingly impenetrable roads

 Although there is sufficient affluence in and around the town 
to support a substantial town centre retail offer, the town 
centre lacks the character and ambience of smaller towns 
and villages in the surrounding Hertfordshire countryside, 
which are likely to attract more affluent buyers and renters

 While there is ample public realm in and around the town 
centre, there is no real focal point for people to congregate – 
i.e. the place ‘where the city celebrates’

 There is a perception amongst shopkeepers and other 
stakeholders that the town centre has an underdeveloped 
evening economy in particular.

3.2 Because of its location and its strong road and rail connections, 
Bishop’s Stortford will invariably be popular as a place to live for 
people who require short, frequent and reliable connections into 
London.  In that respect it is and, as it grows, will increasingly be 
in competition with that whole category of town in London’s 
commuter belt that benefits from the “push” factors that incentivise 
young professionals, in particular, to look outside of London for 
places to rent or purchase their first homes.  

3.3 The key challenge that towns such as Bishop’s Stortford then face 
is the possibility of becoming transient “dormitory” towns for 
people who then move on when their financial circumstances 
improve.  This has a number of damaging consequences, 
including the possibility that towns lapse into a vicious cycle of 
underinvestment, due to a lack of local spending – on one hand – 
and insufficient pressure from local stakeholders to improve 
conditions and amenities within the town.  We see this pattern 
repeated across a whole range of commuter towns throughout 
London’s hinterland.

3.4 It follows that the key placemaking challenge for Bishop’s 
Stortford – and the signal it needs to send to the market – is the 

Page 219



fact that this is a vibrant and distinctive town with a clear sense of 
its own identity and not a staid, sterile town defined by its 
‘convenience’ or connectivity.

3.5 Hertfordshire LEP’s Strategic Economic Plan places an 
overwhelming focus on concentrations or clusters of businesses 
in the life science and pharmaceutical industries, as well as 
advanced engineering and film, media and creative industries.  
These are all high value added ‘knowledge’ industries that rely on 
easy access to the best talent.  Attracting and retaining that talent 
– and ensuring that it remains in Hertfordshire, even as their 
career paths advance and their economic circumstances improve 
– is central to achieving this important pillar of the strategy.  This 
puts an added premium on the sense of place and quality of life 
that is engendered through arts, culture, heritage, leisure and 
sport.

3.6 From that perspective, objectives for Bishop’s Stortford could be 
the following, several of which are well served by a well-designed, 
residential-led mixed use development that is anchored by a 
multi-use arts centre:

 To attract those residents that are more likely to stay in 
Bishop’s Stortford longer

 To add character and a unique sense of place to the town 
centre such that it fulfils its full potential and does not look 
and feel like a non-descript, suburban commuter hub

 To encourage residents to become active and “invested” 
stakeholders in their local community

 To encourage new arrivals to “graduate” to other parts of the 
town, as their economic circumstances improve or their 
personal / family circumstances change

 To encourage residents to spend more of their leisure time 
and money in the town, as opposed to London, Cambridge or 
surrounding villages (and, by extension, to attract more 
leisure spending into the town from its hinterland)

An integrated mixed use development of scale that not only 
relocates the Arts Centre to an improved town centre location, but 
also introduces high quality public realm, a critical mass of new 
town centre residents and new drivers of evening trade could 
make a material impact in place making terms.
 

3.7 A key priority within East Herts Council’s Corporate Plan is to 
“enable a flourishing economy” with the intended outcome of 

Page 220



“vibrant town centres”.  A number of the specific actions 
underneath this area relate to Old River Lane.  The priorities are 
currently being refreshed by Members to reflect progress made 
through the ORL project and the measures below will be captured 
in the new plan.  A copy of the current version can be found here: 
https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/article/34767/Vision--Corporate-
Priorities

3.8   Quantifiable economic impact

This section summarises a preliminary Economic Impact 
Assessment for the Old River Lane project in Bishop’s Stortford 
Town Centre.  Its main purpose is to provide a reasonable and 
substantiated projection of the employment that is likely to be 
created by the project generally and, in particular, by a relocated 
and expanded Arts Centre.  This work is still high-level and if 
support is gained from the Executive and Council to proceed to 
the next stage, further detailed work will be undertaken.

3.9 The economic effects can be summarised as follows:

 Construction Employment:  Jobs created by the capital 
project itself

 Direct Economic Impact:  On-site employment created by 
the operation of the facility and surrounding commercial 
units

 Indirect Economic Impact:  Off-site employment created as 
a result of the facility’s expenditure on goods and services

3.10 A detailed explanation of how the numbers in the table below are 
derived is set out in exempt Essential Reference Paper ‘D’. 

Page 221

https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/article/34767/Vision--Corporate-Priorities
https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/article/34767/Vision--Corporate-Priorities
https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/article/34767/Vision--Corporate-Priorities


Figure 1: Summary of Construction, Direct and Indirect Employment
TYPE OF IMPACT DESCRIPTION DIRECT INDIRECT TOTAL

Temporary Construction 
Employment

Employment created on a temporary basis during 
the capital project. Some of this is direct and 
some is indirect through the additional jobs 
supported in the local construction industry 
supply chain. HM Treasury guidelines used to 
convert “person years” of employment into FTEs 
and a supply chain multiplier of 0.2 was used to 
estimate the indirect effect.

73.0 13.6 86.7

Direct Employment Jobs created on-site by the new BSAC and other 
A1-A3 businesses within the development. Gross 
estimate is simply the anticipated headcount of 
all business units.  Allowance is made for 
displacement to arrive at a Net Direct impact. 
This would normally be high for the reference 
area and further allowance is made for the fact 
that BSAC is a relocation of operational RAC.

54.8 54.8

Indirect Employment Additional benefits generated through the 
operational spending of BSAC and other A1-A3 
businesses as they purchase goods and services 
from suppliers. These indirect benefits are 
calculated on the basis of supply chain 
multipliers. 

19.1 19.1

TOTAL 127.8 32.7 160.5

4.0 The Viability Assessment

4.1      A high level breakdown of the viability assessment is set out in 
exempt Essential Reference Paper B.   

5.0 Work programme

5.1     The Old River Lane Delivery Board has approved the work 
programme for the development of the site based on four work 
packages:

1. No 1 The Causeway – tasks including: demolition and 
construction of a temporary car park 

2. Multi-Storey Car Park (MSCP) – tasks including: land 
negotiations, design, planning, procurement, construction.

3. Old River Lane – tasks including: masterplanning, viability 
assessment, consultations, design, planning, procurement, 
construction.

4. The Rhodes Arts Centre relocation – tasks including: 
business case, agreement with BSTC and Rhodes Trust, 
concept design.

5.2 There are two drivers for the work programme – funding and 
sequencing.  

Page 222



5.3 Funding

While package one (demolition of 1 The Causeway) is already 
underway, packages two, three and four are contingent on 
funding being in place for the overall scheme.  Therefore, while 
package two (the multi-storey car park) can proceed as far as the 
planning application, no construction would start on site until 
funding for the whole scheme is in place.

A summary of funding opportunities is set out in Exempt 
Essential Reference Paper ‘C’.

5.4 Sequencing

The completion of the tasks envisaged in the first work-package 
triggers the planning application for the MSCP.  Subsequently the 
completion of the MSCP unlocks the core site.  It is therefore 
assumed that construction works on the core site may start only 
once the MSCP is up and running to avoid any distress to local 
residents with regards to parking (notwithstanding the comments 
in 5.3 above about funding).

5.5 The third and the fourth work-packages run in parallel.  The fourth 
work-package is however complementary to the main one – Old 
River Lane. 

5.6 The work programme is monitored and reviewed by a dedicated 
ORL officer group established in March 2017 and leads have 
been appointed to specific work streams deriving from the work 
programme (set out overleaf):

5.7 Approval is requested for an additional £225k in order to advance 
the next stage of the project up to the submission of the planning 
application for the MSCP.  The breakdown of this can be found at 
Exempt Essential Reference Paper E.

5.8 The funding source for this activity is the NHB Priority Spend 
Reserve.

Page 223



6.0 Other Options

6.1 As set out in 2.3 above, a number of options were considered by 
the Old River Lane Delivery Board.  If the chosen option (1a) were 
not pursued for any reason, it would be possible to revisit the 
other options.  There is also a ‘do nothing’ option available to the 
Council.

7.0 List of Essential Reference Papers

ERP A Implications/consultations
Exempt ERP B High Level Viability assessment and 

Indicative Delivery Options
Exempt ERP C Funding opportunities and Heads of Terms 

with BSTC and RBT
Exempt ERP D Economic benefits
Exempt ERP E Funding breakdown (committed and next 

stage of project)
Exempt ERP F Risk Register 
ERP G                      Plan of the site

Page 224



Background Papers
None

Contact Member: Geoffrey Williamson – Executive member for 
Finance and Support Services
geoffrey.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk

Contact Officer: Annie Saliaj – Project Manager
Tel: 01992 531684
anjeza.saliaj@eastherts.gov.uk

Page 225

mailto:geoffrey.williamson@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:anjeza.saliaj@eastherts.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER ‘A’

IMPLICATIONS/CONSULTATIONS

Contribution to 
the Council’s 
Corporate 
Priorities/ 
Objectives:

Priority 1 – Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities 

Priority 2 – Enhance the quality of people’s lives 

Priority 3 – Enable a flourishing local economy 

Consultation: Extensive consultation was carried out, as referred to in 
1.3 of the report.  

Legal: Legal services should be consulted to report on all 
restrictions/covenants on land use and land transfers as 
well as any housing issues to be considered.   

Financial: The financial impact is currently a request of a further 
£225,000 budget to take the project to the next stage of 
development as set out at Exempt Essential Reference 
Paper ‘D’.

Human 
Resource:

Potential human resources implications will be 
considered throughout the process.

Risk 
Management:

The latest risk register for the project was approved by 
the Old River Lane Board on 4th October 2017 and is set 
out at Exempt Essential Reference Paper ‘F’.

Health and 
wellbeing – 
issues and 
impacts:

The Council will comply with its obligations and 
responsibilities under the Equality Act and associated 
legislation.

Page 227



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 229

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 237

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 243

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 247

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 249

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



ESSENTIAL REFERENCE PAPER G

P
age 253



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Request for Area Designation for Neighbourhood Planning: Hunsdon Parish Neighbourhood Plan
	Hunsdon NP AD - ERP A (implications)
	Hunsdon NP AD - ERP B (request)
	Hunsdon NP AD - ERP C (comments)

	6 Request for Area Designation for Neighbourhood Planning: Hunsdon with Eastwick and Gilston Joint Neighbourhood Plan
	East and Gils and Hunsdon NP AD - ERP A (implications)
	East and Gils and Hunsdon NP AD - ERP B (Request)
	East and Gils and Hunsdon NP AD - ERP C (comments)

	7 Westmill Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan
	Westmill CA - ERP A (implications)
	Westmill CA - ERP B (comments)
	Westmill CA - ERP C1 (draft with track changes).compressed
	Westmill CA - ERP C2 (plans).compressed

	8 Financial Sustainability Policy and associated Pilot Projects
	Financial Sustainability - ERP A (implications)
	Financial Sustainability - ERP B (policy draft)
	Financial Sustainability - ERP C (Pilot projects)

	9 Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2017-18
	Treasury Management Mid Year Review - ERP A (implications)
	Treasury Management Mid Year Review - ERP B (review)
	Treasury Management Mid Year Review - ERP C (Interest Rate Forecast)

	10 Corporate Healthcheck 2017/18 Quarter 2
	Corporate Healthcheck - ERP A (Implications)
	Corporate Healthcheck - ERP B (Revenue Budget)
	Corporate Healthcheck - ERP C (Capital Monitor)
	Corporate Healthcheck - ERP D (Debtors)
	Corporate Healthcheck - ERP E (Performance Analysis)
	Corporate Healthcheck - ERP F (Corporate Actions)

	11 Strategic Risk Monitoring Quarter 2
	Risk Management - ERP A (implications)
	Risk Management - ERP B (Register)

	12 Old River Lane, Bishop's Stortford Land Use
	Old River Lane Land Use - ERP A (implications)
	Old River Lane Land Use - ERP B (viability)x
	Old River Lane Land Use - ERP C (fundingopps heads of terms)x
	Old River Lane Land Use - ERP D (economic benefits)x
	Old River Lane Land Use - ERP E (funding)x
	Old River Lane Land Use - ERP F (risk register)x
	Old River Lane Land Use - ERP G (site plan)


